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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERE®RE

To shareholders,

| hereby present to you the report of annual results
of China Merchants Land Limited (“China Merchants
Land” or the "Company”, Stock Code: 00978) and its
subsidiaries (together as the "Group”) as at 31 December
2014 ("the Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2014, the turnover of the Group was
RMB7,440,436,000 (2013: RMB6,927,871,000).
Profit attributable to the owners of the Company was
RMB380,245,000 (2013: RMB458,890,000). Profit
attributable to the shareholders per share was RMB7.75
cents (2013: RMB11.13 cents).

The Board recommended payment of final dividend for
HK$49,052,579 for the year ended 31 December 2014,
representing payment of HK$0.01 per share.

STRATEGIC POSITION

Founded in 1872, a time when China was in its late
Qing Dynasty and was undergoing the Westernisation
Movement, China Merchants Group is the forerunner
of China’s national industry and commerce. With
the mission”Drive the progress of era by success in
commerce” and the goal "Establish a world’s leading
enterprise with international competitiveness”, China
Merchants Group ranked the first in many aspects
of modern PRC economy and is renowned as the
"epitome of the century-long history of China’s national
enterprises”.

Property business is one of the three core businesses
of China Merchants Group. With the backup of strong
state enterprises shareholders, China Merchants Land
had become the only offshore listing platform for the
properties business of China Merchants Group and will be
given great support in the areas such as assets injection,
obtaining land resources, utilizing brands, supply of
human resources, research and application of production
lines and management information system sharing.

o CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2014
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EERE

Adhered to the principle of “continuous refinement
and innovative development”, China Merchants Land
strives to maintain its position in first and second
tier key cities such as Guangzhou, Foshan, Nanjing,
Chongging and Xi'an, takes opportunities to engage in
the development of Qianhai Shekou Free Trade Zone and
Hong Kong market and continues to expand its market
share. Leveraging on the experience and the strength
of resources of China Merchants Group in the overseas
development, China Merchants Land will actively explore
and strive for the opportunities in overseas market. In the
meantime, the Group will be committed to creating new
property models, making an effort in strengthening the
professional developing and operating capabilities as well
as enhancing the cooperation with financial institutions in
a manner of diversification so as to capture special market
opportunities under the “new normality” and facilitate
the innovative development of “light asset model”.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Market review

In 2014, the property market in China was in a U-shaped
carryover position. The strong momentum in the second
half of 2013 did not continue but slowed down in the
market all of a sudden. The industry prospects was in a
dramatic declining trend. Experiencing hardship for over
half a year, the market finally started to stand firm and
had revived gradually since September, thanks to the
relief of government policies ranging from relaxation
of restrictions on property purchasing, relaxation of
restrictions on loan to targeted currency adjustment
policies and overall interest rate cuts. Under the difficult
market environment, developers generally realized
the distinctive changes of the industry and embarked
on seeking transformation proactively. With regard to
various aspects such as model alternation, effectiveness
and efficiency enhancement, an active and meaningful
exploration has commenced along the full value chain of
the real estate sector.

The Group has been directly tackling the difficulties and
striving to overcome the unfavorable circumstances of
late launch of saleable resources. Meanwhile it has also
taken the advantage to intensify sales of inventories,
actively reserve lands and lay a solid business foundation.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERE®RE

Property development

In 2014, the aggregate contracted sales amounted to
RMB9,145.2 million. The aggregate contracted sales
area was 719,687 sq.m., up 25% and 39% respectively
as compared with 2013. 1,940,000 sg.m. was newly
constructed while the completed area was 540,000
sg.m. In the end of 2014, the under-construction area
amounted to 2,620,000 sg.m.. In the meantime, the
Group continuously strengthened the operating control
over the project companies from six aspects, namely the
project progress, quality, safety, customer services, costs
and marketing to ensure the growth in quality.

Land Bank

The Group acquired 8 pieces of land with total
permissable area of 1,433,000 sq.m. for a total land
cost of RMB5,705 million in 2014. 5 pieces of land were
acquired in Nanjing with permissible area of 849,000
sg.m. for a total land cost of RMB3,036 million. A piece of
land was acquired in Guangzhou with permissible area of
101,000 sg.m. for a total land cost of RMB1,460 million.
A piece of land was acquired in Xian with permissible
area of 407,000 sq.m. for a total land cost of RMB855
million. A piece of land was acquired in Chongging with
permissible area of 76,000 sq.m. for a total land cost of
RMB354 million. As at 31 December 2014, the Group had
land bank of approximately 6,998,170 sq.m.

The management believes that the existing land bank is
sufficient to fulfill the needs of the Company’s project
development in the upcoming period.

Capital and finance

At the end of 2014, the net gearing ratio of the Group
was 49%, which is at a healthy level in the property
industry. The bank balances and cash was amounted to
RMB4,184 million and the balance of the interest-bearing
liabilities was amounted to RMB9,583 million. The
average cost of the capital was 5.82% of the annualized
interest rate in 2014.

e CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2014

EihER

—E-NF - AREEREEARK 14527
B AREEBAEERT19,687FHK &
TE-=FHRER25%M39%  FHELERE
1,940,000°F 73K - % T #&540,000F 77 K °
TE-UFKIEEMIE2,620,000F F K © [
B ASESENEEEE B2 %2 ¥
R - BRAS - &6 E A EANGEE IEE A RIAIEE
i mREESEER -

T b {FE e

—T—NF o ALEESSR T B AREE
1,433,000 F 5K » LB EARKS5,70558
JL o LR RIS T - 5T A EE849,000F
FoK - L REARE3036EET  EEMNE
B - STAMETE101,000F 5K - 42
BARKI14608E L HALXESIR T
FTAMEA407,000F 5K - THIAEE A RKESS5
BEL: AEEES I - 5FAEE76,000
FHK - THBREAREIMAET  cBHEZT
—MNFE+ZA=+—HIt  REEHELHRHEE
#AEEA16,998,170F F7 K »

EREEERE D RERURRARAR B
HEZERRREE -

=g E L B
ZENUFRK - AKBRFERELI9%  ERE
METEBREKE  (RITEHREESITEA
R¥41848 8T BEAEBRTETAGARE
9,583F&E L —T—WNFEFHEEKNABFIL
FIE5.82% -



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EERE

The annual sales proceeds of the Group were still
remarkable, with an amount of RMB7,989 million and
a return rate of 87% despite the concentration of most
of the saleable resources in the fourth quarter. The
Group will be benefited from strong cash inflows of the
project portfolio and the strength of abundant financing
for its continuous efforts of refinement and innovative
development.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the PRC economy will continue to
transform from extensive growth with an emphasis on
scale and speed to intensive growth with an emphasis
on quality and efficiency. It will change from a quantity
increment oriented economic structure to a structure with
inventory adjustment plus quality and quantity increment.
The driving force of the economic development will
shift from traditional to a new growth point. There will
be a slowdown in the growth of the sales amount with
a downward profit margin in respect of the property
industry. The urban development approach will be altered
from an orientation of reckless external expansion to
internal inventory optimization and a sufficient use of
existing resources. The transformation and upgrade of the
city become a new normality of the industry development,
with the upgrade of the functions, industries, products
and life styles in the city treated as the pivotal sources of
the new business opportunities for real estate enterprises.

In 2015, the Group will closely keep abreast of the
new development trend of the property industry under
the "new normality” of the PRC economy, grasp the
new opportunities in the industry, capitalise on the
now opportunities of Qianhai Shekou Free Trade Zone
in an appropriate manner and continue its efforts on
refinement and innovative development. This year, it
is expected that construction of an aggregate area of
2,556,000 sg.m. with 22 saleable projects will commence
and aggregate contracted sales target is RMB12,500
million.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERE®RE

As the only offshore listing platform for China Merchants
Group's property business, the Group will fully utilize the
strength of resources as a central state-owned enterprise,
continue to improve the professionalism of real estate,
and proactively make use of the function as an offshore
financing platform in the future in order to boost the
business scale and strength.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to thank our customers,
business partners and staff for their trust and support
during last year and would appreciate your continued
support for the Company’s development in the future.
As the Chairman of the Board, | would also like to
express our sincere gratitude to our shareholders for their
unfailing support and in approving the major changes of
the Company. | believe and have confidence that we will
create better return for the shareholders in the future.

He Jianya
Chairman
13 February 2015
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEBAERE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. He Jianya, aged 49, was appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company and was elected
as the chairman of the Board, the chairman of the
nomination committee of the Board and a member of the
remuneration committee of the Board on 8 August 2013.
On 22 September 2013, Mr. He resigned as a member of
the remuneration committee of the Board. Mr. He was re-
elected as a non-executive Director at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 28 October
2013.

Mr. He has been a director and the general manager of
CMPD since February 2011.

Mr. He was the system manager of Shekou Container
Port Co., Ltd. from May 1990 to March 1994. He worked
as a section chief of the enterprise management office of
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Co., Ltd. from
March 1994 to December 1995 and was subsequently
promoted to vice office manager in January 1996 and
office manager from January 1998 to February 1999.
Mr. He served as a deputy general manager of Shenzhen
China Merchants Real Estate Co., Ltd. from February 1999
to February 2011. From December 2007 to March 2013,
Mr. He served as an independent director of Yunnan
Metropolitan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (EFHH
KEERMHAR AT, a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600239).

Mr. He graduated from Beijing University of Aeronautics
& Astronautics (formerly known as “Beijing Institute of
Aeronautics”) with a bachelor’s degree in electronic
engineering in July 1987 and a master’s degree in
telecommunication and electronic system in March 1990.
He then obtained an MBA from Peking University in July
2007.

Ms. Wu Zhengin, aged 56, was appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company and was elected as a
member of the remuneration committee of the Board on
22 September 2013. Ms. Wu was re-elected as a non-
executive Director at the extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 28 October 2013.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EENREREEAEEE

Ms. Wu has been the chief financial officer of CMPD since
July 2013.

Ms. Wu served as the chief of the finance department of
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Co., Ltd. from
January 1998 to September 2000, and served as the chief
financial officer of CMPD from October 2000 to January
2003. She worked as the general manager in the auditing
department of China Merchants Group Co., Ltd. from
January 2003 to July 2013.

Ms. Wu graduated from Shanghai Ocean Shipping
Institute (currently known as “Shanghai Maritime
University”) with a bachelor’s degree in Economics in July
1982. Ms. Wu is a senior accountant of the PRC.

Ms. Liu Ning, aged 46, joined the Company as a
non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Ms. Liu is a
member of the audit committee of the Board.

Ms. Liu has 15 years’ experience in securities industry and
has been serving as the secretary to the board of directors
of CMPD since February 2008. She was appointed as a
representative for securities affairs of CMPD in October
2001, a director of secretariat to the board of CMPD in
July 2004 and the general manager assistant of CMPD in
September 2014.

Ms. Liu currently serves as an independent director in
Tianjin Zhonghuan Semiconductor Co., Ltd. (KZFIR
FEEMHERAR]) (Stock Code: 002129); Shenzhen
Changfang Light Emitting Diode Lighting Co., Ltd. (&3l
mR7TFERRARMNBRAF) (Stock Code: 300301);
and Shenzhen Sunwin Intelligent Co., Ltd. (FIJITHEAE
SRR AR AT (Stock Code: 300044), all are listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Ms. Liu received a bachelor’s degree in wood processing
from Central South University of Forestry and Technology
in June 1992. She completed a post-graduate course in
Department of Business Administration of Business School
of Nankai University in December 2000 and subsequently
obtained an MBA from Macau University of Science and
Technology in March 2003. Ms. Liu is an economist of the
PRC.

@ CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2014
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. So Shu Fai, aged 63, joined the Company as
an executive Director and chairman of the executive
committee on 11 December 2010 and was elected
chairman of the Company on 31 December 2010. Dr. So
resigned from his position as the chairman of the Board
and his board committee position on 23 June 2012 and
remains an executive Director.

Dr. So is an executive director of SJM Holdings Limited
(listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”)) and is currently the Chairman
of Shenzhen Super Perfect Optics Limited. He is an
independent non-executive director of SHK Hong Kong
Industries Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange), a
director of Estoril-Sol, SGPS, S.A. which is listed on
Euronext Lisbon and the chairman of the board of
directors of MACAUPORT - Sociedade de Administracao
de Portos, S.A.

Dr. So is a member of the 12th National Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
("CPPCC"), a member of the Committee of Foreign Affairs
of the National Committee of CPPCC, the honorary consul
of the Republic of Portugal in the Hong Kong SAR, as
well as a member of the Economic Development Council
and of the Cultural Consultative Council of the Macau
SAR Government. Dr. So is the president of Clube Militar
de Macau, a member of the board of directors of The
University of Hong Kong Foundation for Educational
Development and Research, as well as a member of the
9th National Committee of China Federation of Literary
and Arts Circles.

Dr. So was awarded the Medal of Merit — Culture by
the Macau SAR Government in 2009. He was awarded
the Doctor of Social Sciences honoris causa by the
University of Macau in 2012, the Honorary University
Fellowship by The University of Hong Kong in 2005 and
the Commendador Order of Merit by the President of
Portugal in 2014.

Dr. So is a Chartered Secretary and a Fellow member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. He
graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree from The
University of Hong Kong in 1973, and received a doctoral
degree in Management Studies from IMC/Southern Cross
University in 2001.
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Mr. Xian Yaogiang, aged 41, was appointed as a project
general manager of the Company on 1 November 2013
and was approved by the Board to be appointed as an
executive Director of the Company with effect from 10
March 2014. Mr. Xian is responsible for the management
of the property development projects.

Mr. Xian joined Foshan Merchants Wharf Property
Development Co., Ltd in March 2008 initially as a deputy
general manager and has been working as the general
manager from February 2011 to January 2014. Mr. Xian
has been the general manager assistant of CMPD, which
is a controlling shareholder of the Company, since 13
November 2013 and has also been the general manager
of the south china regional general headquarters (re-
named as the south-west regional headquarter since 17
March 2014) since 16 December 2013. Mr. Xian does not
act as the general manager assistant of CMPD and the
general manager of the south-west regional headquarter
from 30 October 2014.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Xian worked in the
department of construction projects management of
Foshan Construction Bureau (L MiERBELETEESE
1) from April 2005 to March 2008.

Mr. Xian graduated from South China University of
Technology with a bachelor’s degree in industrial and
civil construction engineering in July 1995 and a master’s
degree in structural engineering in April 1998. Mr. Xian
was qualified as a senior engineer in the PRC in December
2004. Mr. Xian graduated from Chang’an University and
received a doctor’s degree in structural engineering in
December 2013.

Mr. Liu Zhuogen, aged 51, joined the Company as an
executive Director on 2 June 2012 and appointed as Deputy
Group General Manager with effect from 29 June 2012. Mr.
Liu has been serving as a director of Champion Apex Limited
("Champion Apex”) and Grand Golden Profit Limited
("GGP") since June 2012 and a director of Harvest Allied
Investments Limited (“Harvest Allied”) since April 2013. Mr.
Liu has been serving as the legal representative of EEEHE
5 (&YI) BRAR] (Guan Hua Gang Trading (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd.) since June 2012. All of the said companies are wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Liu is responsible
for overseeing the daily operation and trading business of
the Group.
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Mr. Liu has been serving as a director of Eureka
Investment Company Limited ("Eureka”) since 3
September 2009. Prior to joining Eureka, he worked as a
deputy general manager at Commercial Property Division
of CMPD (HEthEREHET L), an engineer of the
Wharf (Holdings) Limited, a project manager at Kenworth
Engineering Limited (FBATLBRIRTIZEAG], WE"IRE
TiARAR"), a sales manager at Sanko Technology
Limited (F#1B% T2 /2 7)) and an engineer at Shekou
Industrial Zone of China Merchants Group (}BZ /@t 0T
21[&@). Mr. Liu received a bachelor degree in engineering
from the South China University of Technology (R 2
T KE&), a master degree in engineering from University
of New South Wales, Australia, an MBA under a distance
learning programme jointly offered by Deakin University
and the Association of Professional Engineers, Scientists
and Managers, Australia and a master degree in
accounting under a distance learning programme from
Curtin University of Technology, Australia.

Mr. Yu Zhiliang, aged 36, joined the Company as an
executive Director on 2 June 2012 and appointed as
Group Chief Financial Officer with effect from 29 June
2012. Mr. Yu has been serving as a director of Champion
Apex and GGP since January 2013 and a director of
Harvest Allied since April 2013. Mr. Yu is responsible for
managing accounting, monitoring internal control and
overseeing the financial activities of the Group.

Mr. Yu has been serving as a chief financial officer of
China Merchants Property (Xiamen) Co. Ltd. (3875 HHb
E (EFY) ABR/A7A]) and Fujian Zhong Lian Sheng Estate
Development Ltd. (t& 2+ B e E HER AR A 7)) since
2010. Mr. Yu worked as a director of China Merchants
Properties Development Ltd. (BEBHEXEBRAF]) and
he was a director of Wahsheung Finance Ltd. GEREI75
BFR/AF]). He received a bachelor degree in accounting
from Xiamen University (EF9X&) and obtained an MBA
degree in finance at the Chinese University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Yu is an accountant of the PRC.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert, aged 63, joined the
Company as an independent non-executive Director
on 2 June 2012. Dr. Wong is the chairman of the audit
committee and a member of the remuneration committee
of the Board.

Dr. Wong currently holds the following positions in other
companies:

o independent non-executive director of China VAST
Industrial Urban Development Company Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 6166);

o independent non-executive director of APAC
Resources Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1104);

o independent non-executive director of Solargiga
Energy Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 757); and

. non-executive director of Rare Earths Global
Limited.

In addition, Dr. Wong has been the managing director of
Charise Financial Planning Limited, a private professional
consulting firm in Hong Kong since October 2005 to 2
January 2014. Thereafter, Dr. Wong has been appointed
as Principal Consultant by KND & Co. CPA Limited, Hong
Kong, starting from 2 January 2014.

Dr. Wong was elected or admitted:

. a fellow of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators in September 2002;

o a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries in February 2002;

o a fellow of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong in
January 1999;
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° an ordinary member of The Hong Kong Securities
and Investment Institute in November 2012;

. a fellow member of Association of International
Accountants in September 2005;

. a member of The Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in Ireland in August 2000;

° a member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators
in May 2002; and

o a Certified Tax Adviser of Hong Kong for the year
2013 by the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Dr. Wong received a doctor’s degree in Business
Administration from Bulacan State University, Republic of
the Philippines in December 2010 and a bachelor’s degree
in commerce from a joint program held by Shenzhen
University and Clayton University, Missouri, USA in May
1990. He also received a bachelor’s degree and a master’s
degree in business administration from Nottingham Trent
University, UK in December 2005 and December 2007,
respectively.

Ms. Chen Yanping, aged 56, joined the Company as
an independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2012.
Ms. Chen has been an independent director of CMPD
from October 2007 to November 2011. Ms. Chen is the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member
of the nomination committee of the Board.

Ms. Chen has been a professor of Architecture and Urban
Planning School in Shenzhen University since December
2000. Ms. Chen attended a “China Management Training
Program” in University of California, Los Angeles from
November 2003 to November 2004.

Ms. Chen received a bachelor’s degree and a master’s
degree in architecture and urban planning from Tongji
University in January 1982 and November 1984,
respectively. Ms. Chen was qualified as a senior engineer
in December 1993 and subsequently qualified as a
registered planner of the PRC in October 2000.
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Dr. Shi Xinping, aged 56, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Dr.
Shi has been an independent director of CMPD from July
2001 to October 2007. Dr. Shi is a member of the audit
committee and a member of the nomination committee
of the Board.

Dr. Shi is currently an associate professor of Department
of Finance and Decision Sciences in Hong Kong Baptist
University. He is also an independent non-executive
director of Renewable Energy Trade Board Corporation
(formerly known as “China Technology Development
Group Corporation”), a company listed on Nasdag.

Dr. Shi received a bachelor’s degree from North-western
Polytechnic University in July 1982, an MBA from
Lancaster University, UK in December 1990 and a PhD
degree from Middlesex University, UK in July 1995.

Mr. He Qi, aged 58, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 1 November
2013.

Mr. He currently is an independent non-executive director
of Evergrande Real Estate Group Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3333) since 14
October 2009. Since 3 October 2014, Mr. He has been
serving as the independent non-executive director of
Orient Victory China Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 265). Mr. He has
been serving as the deputy secretary of the China Real
Estate Association since 2006, and the secretary of the
Distribution Services Committee of the China Real Estate
Association. He was an executive of the Development
Centre of the China Real Estate Association from 1995 to
1999.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Deng Jinlei, aged 38, is responsible for the
management of the property development projects.

Mr. Deng joined Marketing Center of Shenzhen China
Merchants Real Estate Co., Ltd. in February 2005 as
marketing planning manager and was subsequently
promoted to senior planning manager and marketing
director before he was redesignated to Guangzhou
Management Area as marketing director in August 2009.
In November 2010, he returned to Marketing Center of
Shenzhen China Merchants Real Estate Co., Ltd. as deputy
general manager. In November 2012, he was redesignated
to Guangzhou Company as deputy general manager
and was subsequently promoted to general manager of
Guangzhou Company in January 2014.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Deng worked in World
Union Property Agency (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (B E RS
B CEYD AR A R) as Planning Department Manager from
January 2002 to December 2004.

Mr. Deng graduated from Central China University of
Science and Engineering and received a bachelor’s degree
of plastic formation technology and equipment in July
1998 and a master’'s degree of western economics from
Huazhong University of Science and Technology in January
2001. Mr. Deng finished real estate entrepreneurs MBA
course in Sun Yat-sen University in December 2011.
Subsequently, he was granted a master’'s degree of
Sociology from Nanjing University in March 2013.

Mr. Huang Qinghao, aged 39, is responsible for the
management of the property development projects.

Mr. Huang joined Construction Management Center
of CMPD in May 2005 as a structural engineer and
was subsequently redesignated to Foshan Company in
February 2008. He initially was a manager of design
and engineering department and promoted to general
manager assistant and deputy general manager. In
January 2014, he was promoted as the general manager
of Foshan Company.
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Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Huang worked in Shenzhen
General Institute of Architectural Design & Research Third
Institute (RYITH LR FHFITARPE =&F) from October
2001 and October 2003 as a structural engineer. After
that, from October 2003 to May 2005, Mr. Huang worked
in Arch Engineers Design Co. Ltd (% T2 AF) as a
structural engineer.

Mr. Huang graduated from Central South University and
was awarded a bachelor’s degree in industrial and civil
construction in June 1997. Mr. Huang was qualified as
an engineer in September 2001 and subsequently was
qualified as a first-class qualified structural engineer in
October 2005. He was awarded a master’s degree in civil
engineering from Shenzhen University in June 2006 and
qualified as an architectural construction senior engineer
in December 2007.

Mr. Jiang Tiefeng, aged 41, was appointed as a project
general manager of the Company on 1 November 2013.
Mr. Jiang is responsible for the management of the
property development projects.

Mr. Jiang joined Merchants Nanjing Real Estate Co., Ltd.
in February 2007 initially as an assistant to the general
manager and was subsequently promoted to a deputy
general manager in September 2008. He has been
working as a general manager since 27 February 2012.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Jiang worked in Shenzhen
China Merchants from November 2001 to October 2004
initially as an engineer and was subsequently promoted
to an assistant to the general manager. Under the
arrangement of Shenzhen China Merchants, Mr. Jiang
was sent to Shenzhen China Merchants Overseas Chinese
Town Investments Co., Ltd. (RYIFAREEBHIEEBRAR)
to work as an assistant to the general manager from
October 2004 to February 2007.

Mr. Jiang graduated from Huazhong University of Science
and Technology with a bachelor’s degree in construction
engineering in July 1995 and graduated from Qinghua
University with a master’s degree in architectural and civil
engineering in January 2004. Mr. Jiang was qualified as a
first-class qualified structural engineer in the PRC in June
2000.
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Mr. Nie Liming, aged 43, is responsible for the
management of the property development projects.

Mr. Nie joined Operations Management Center of CMPD
in August 2012 as deputy general manager and was
subsequently redesignated to a general manager of
Yuannan Company in February 2013. In October 2013,
he was redesignated as a general manager of Chongging
Company.

Prior to joining the Group, from April 2003 to August
2006, Mr. Nie worked in Shenzhen Urban Construction
and Development (Group) Company (&I 3k i 722 3% A 3%
(28)/2 7)) as a general manager’s office-in-charge and
the board of directors’ office-in-charge. After that, from
August 2006 to August 2012, he acted as an officer, the
manager of the Brightness Program, and deputy general
manager of Shenzhen Special Economic Zone Real Estate
& Properties (Group) Co., Ltd. CRINE =R B E (£
B AR AT and the chairman of Shantou Hualin
Properties Company GIISEZEMEE A 7).

Mr. Nie graduated from Nanjing University of Technology
and was awarded a bachelor’s degree in lifting and
transport and construction machinery in June 1994
and a master’'s degree in management from Electronic
Technology University in March 2000.

Mr. Shi Jun (F#9), aged 52, is responsible for the
management of the property development projects.

Mr. Shi joined the Operating Management Center
of CMPD in November 2007 as general manager
assistant and as the deputy general manager of &3
R AR AR from December 2008 to February
2012. From February 2011 to February 2012, Mr. Shi
was redesignated as the deputy general manager of
Yongjinwan project and from February 2012 to September
2013, Mr. Shi was the deputy general manager (General)
of the Zhuhai Company. He was subsequently transferred
to Xi‘an Company as the leader of the preparatory team
in September 2013 and promoted to general manager of
Xi'an Company in May 2014.
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Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Shi worked in Shenzhen
Continental Ocean Through Enterprise Company (&3
ABEFBEZE NG as general manager from December

2004 to November 2007.

Mr. Shi graduated from FZ AR in July 1984 and
received a diploma of industrial and domestic construction
and was granted the bachelor degree in engineering.
He was qualified as a senior engineer in December 2004
and as a first-class qualified construction engineer in
December 2011.

Ms. Chan Wing Yan, aged 35 joined the Company on
18 June 2012 and was appointed Company Secretary
with effect from 29 June 2012 in addition to her role
as Deputy Group Chief Financial Officer and General
Manager-Finance Department of the Company. Ms. Chan
is responsible for overseeing the Company’s secretarial
functions and also assisting Mr. Yu Zhiliang in managing
accounting, monitoring internal control and overseeing
the financing activities of the Company.

Ms. Chan is a professional accountant with ten
years' experience in various accounting, finance and
management positions. These include more than seven
years with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu to the rank of
accountant, senior accountant and manager before taking
up the position of Senior Finance Manager at Hanergy
Thin Film Power Group Limited immediately before joining
the Company.

Ms. Chan graduated from City University of Hong Kong
with a bachelor’s degree in accounting in July 2002. She
is a member of both Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants of the United Kingdom.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CHINA PROPERTY MARKET REVIEW

In 2014, the global economy was still on the track of
recovery. Developed economies performed differently
while the growth of emerging economies slowed down.
Under the background of “three overlapping periods”,
namely the period of slowing down of the economic
growth rate, the period for structural adjustment and
the period for the previous stimulus policy tapering out,
the overall economy in the PRC demonstrated a stable
declining trend. The government implemented a series
of measures to stabilize growth, and strived to strike a
balance among growth stabilization, reform facilitation,
structural adjustment and better livelihood while
preventing exposures to risks under macro-economic
policies.

In 2014, the real estate market showed a U-Shaped
growth. The saleable area of commodity properties in
the PRC amounted to 1,206.49 million sg.m and the
sales volume amounted to RMB7,629.2 billion in 2014,
representing a decline of 7.6% and 6.3% on a year-
on-year basis respectively, which was the first negative
growth recorded since the financial crisis in 2008. The
real estate market in the first half of 2014 entered an
adjusting cycle as a result of the combined effects of
factors such as economic downturn, tight credit control,
continuous economic regulation and insufficient demand
in housing. In the second half of the year, the real estate
market revived gradually, thanks to the gradual relief of
regulating policies ranging from relaxation of restrictions
on property purchasing in a majority of cities to the
loosening of monetary policy. The leading real estate
enterprises still achieved a significant growth. However,
the overall differentiation is obvious. "Differentiation”
mainly reflected the imbalance of current sales. The sales
of each real estate enterprises for the second half of the
year was apparently better than that of the first half of
the year, which reflected various performance of each
cities. The performance of the real estate market in the
first and second tier cities which enjoy strong absorption
of population and stable demand, was obviously better
than that of the third and fourth tier cities, which
suffered oversupply and high pressure on selling the
properties. It also reflected the different sales level for

o Bl 55 3t 2 i 45 [ R

—TMF - RREERNEFHROE - BEL
KRR - R ERRIL R - FERLEIE
R R AR EIAMATSRMBRER R A n =
HEamEsT  PESEEBRARTBME
2o BFHE T —RINBERNEE - ZEBGR
ESRBORESNERER  25F - #4
B BREZESRE -

ZENFEEHEMSIHFUEER - 2F@M
EIHEMEIR120,6498F K - HEEAARE
76,292187C B D R TF7.6%%63% =
TENFERMEHRUEFTAHIBEER - LET
17 EEEH ATEENEESRKELERE
BAVESH T —NF LY FRHMETSEA
FRBE o THF - BEERTECEETRE - %
AEAP|TRFRE - 2IEEZREBCE - FHE
MHBEFO%E - EEETMIEEEERANSET
BRBEMER - BEESEAE - [DE]EE
RIBAHE NS SR THFHERBER
E¥F hEBRENSHMmRRAT— - ADRMEE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWmE D

different properties. Thanks for the strong demand and ~ RAESRIEBEAMBES#E - PNPRNEREL
the supportive policies, the sales rates of medium and EERAFEER - EHQAHEEERMNEFRE
small size units was higher than that of large size units.  B—% o [D1b |&&E - GECHETISHE k1T
This performance is consistent with the characteristics  $48¢ HIRHE T B SHENR -

of the Company’s sales information. Higher requirement

is needed to make market judgment and possess sales

ability for property enterprises due to “differentiation”.

The sales volume and inventory of real estate reached a fEEMEHERTFECEFLSMAFRKIEES
record high. Under the circumstances of weak growth in AT RHIERT - EHETES S A —(ERYF
demand, real estate industry will proceed to a relatively EBHZEERE - MBS HNEMERZEEABN
stable development stage. More and more real estate E@ME - BPAUEAR N EEKEXNEZ AR
developers embarked on an active and meaningful & AWEZEHEELK2EEEMARRBEGEENGE
exploration along the full value chain of the real estate R BHITEMNEL  SHEABACHERFE
sector through various aspects such as effectiveness and B Z#E -

efficiency enhancement and business model alternation,

in order to respond to the changes in the industry and in

pursuit of an appropriate means to survive of its own.

FINANCIAL REVIEW B 7 5] R
For 2014, profit amounted to RMB834,369,000 (2013: —Z — P4 - & F| A A K # 834,369,000 7T
RMB1,414,819,000), representing a decrease of T =4 AR¥1,414,819,0007T ) °

approximately 41% as compared with last year. The R FT¥441% » AR B HE AEEEF B
profit attributable to the owners of the Company was A R# 380,245,000t (— T — =% : AR¥
RMB380,245,000 (2013: RMB458,890,000), representing  458,890,0007T) ' Atk T##117% » HREK
a decrease of approximately 17% as compared with BFAARE7 75(1(ZZF—=%F : AR#11.13
last year. Basic earnings per share was RMB7.75 cents  {ll) * Rt T#A30% « AEEMNE RSB A
(2013: RMB11.13 cents), representing a decrease ARK#9,145,200,000L(=ZZF—=4F : AR¥
of 30% as compared with the corresponding year.  7,339,800,0007T) * B IEK25% - ARHE
The Group’'s aggregate contracted sales amounted #MEiEA719,687FHK(=ZZF—=4F : 516,755
to RMB9,145,200,000 (2013: RMB7,339,800,000), F#K) + AER39% - FHEEBHAEGFS
representing an increase of 25% over that of last year. KAR#12,7070(ZF—=F : B FHFKAR
Aggregate contracted sales area was 719,687 sq.m.  ¥14,2047t) * R 1% ©

(2013: 516,755 sq.m.), increased by 39% over last year.

The average selling price was approximately RMB12,707

per sq.m. (2013: RMB14,204 per sq.m.), representing a

decrease of 11% compared with last year.

Equity attributable to owners of the Company was R-Z—MNF+-A=+—H ' AQa#EHEA
RMB4,591,896,000 as at 31 December 2014 (31 [E(5#EZF A ARE4,591,896,0000(—F—=4F
December 2013: RMB5,217,290,000), decrease 12% as +—-HA=+—H : AR#¥5,217,290,0007T) * £
compared with that as at the end of last year. EFFEMLE TE12% ©

@ CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2014



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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TURNOVER

For 2014, the Group recorded turnover of
RMB7,440,436,000 (2013: RMB6,927,871,000),
representing an increase of approximately 7% as
compared with last year. The increase is mainly due to
the increase in the number of completed and delivered
properties in 2014. For 2014, projects in Foshan,
Guangzhou, Chongqging and Nanjing accounted for 68%,
14%, 14% and 4%, respectively, of the total revenue of
the Group.

GROSS PROFIT

Gross profit amounted to RMB2,072,912,000 (2013:
RMB2,802,659,000), representing a decrease of
approximately 26% as compared with last year. The
gross profit margin was 28% (2013: 40%), representing
a decrease of approximately 30% over last year. The
decrease was primarily due to the structure of recognised
items in the year had changed. For 2013, Guangzhou
Jinshan Valley and Foshan Evian Water Bank, which were
relatively high profit-margin projects due to low land
cost, recognised revenue accounted for 52% of the total
recognised revenue in that year and such percentage was
only 21% in 2014.

FINANCE COSTS

In December 2013, the Company issued a five-year term
credit enhanced bonds in an aggregate principal amount
of USD500,000,000 bearing coupon rate of 4.021% per
annum which interest of approximately RMB98,829,000
(2013: RMB6,865,000) was recognised in the finance
costs for the year ended 31 December 2014 and lead to
a significant increase in the finance costs compared with
2013.

2]
—E-NFE AEENEEEAEARE
7440436000 T ( T —=Z4F : AR

6,927,871,0007T) * RIELIEMNEI 7% + TEHR
—E-NEBRTRRINOWEHSEN - —F
—P04 - BRI BN ERENEAPTEAEE R
W AEIEL I B 268% ~ 14% ~ 14% 4% o

EF
EMAARE2,072,912,000T( —FE—=4F: A
R"2,802,659,0007T) * B 4926% ° &
FEE28%(ZZFE—=F : 40%) ' R TBELY
30% FEHRFRNEEBEEABECAE -
ZE-=FRIHRAREREFNRE S EMN
SILARBILKEKFIER - REBWAGZE
EHEEWABENS2% M- —MEZEL
EAE21% °

L& B A

RZE—=F+A ARAETLASEER
500,000,000 7T S H 4 B % 4.021% ) 1 5 5]
ERERES  REE-_T—NF+-_A=+—
BIEFE  #HARK98,829,0007T 2 F B E R
MERAFHERA(ZZ—=F : AR¥6,865,000
TL)  BERMEKARE T — = FAE L KIRE
hne
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2014, although we faced difficulties, the Group made
a concerted effort to overcome the adverse situation of
the late formation saleable properties. We then put great
effort on differentiation, the accumulation of land in
active and the consolidation of business foundation.

Property Development Business

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s portfolio of
property development projects consisted of 23 projects
in Foshan, Guangzhou, Chongging, Nanjing, Jurong
and Xi‘an, with a primary focus on the development
of residential properties, as well as residential and
commercial complex properties, products types including
apartments, villas, offices and retail shops etc.

Below are the breakdown of land bank by cities and a
map showing the geographic locations and the land bank
of the projects of the Group in the PRC. The total land bank
of the Group as at 31 December 2014 was 6,998,170 sg. m..

£ E1

—TomE  AEEEERE - ETELGS
BT E R BRSO RE - IE%%
hElL - BB FEEHERE -

Rt E R XK

ZE-MET_A=+—H SEEMHL - E
M BE BR O9FRARERBEFME
FEIER @ T2ETHBEEVEAREELE
E¥GamF ERPLERELTE - BIE - R
REERHE -

TRFIRIZE T &) 55 2 1 i BR 40 K AN £ (3] 18
BEPEAMBME R TS - R=ZF—N
F+-—A=+—8 AEENLTIWHEELEES
6,998,170 F 77K ©

Land bank by cities as at 31 December 2014
REZB-NE+ZA=Z+—8 > RETE S 2L RS

Chongging EE
49%

B

Foshan 1Ll
21%
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) HEH O )
Property Development Business (continued) EibERR R M (&)

A map showing the geographical location and land bank of the projects of
the Group in the PRC as at 31 December 2014
TEERAEER-Z—NF+-A=+—HEPEZEAEZHBENER T hH#E

Nanjing and Jurong
mrm%%s

Project Saleable GFA in the future (sq.m.)

Xi‘an HE RIRAIE R EEE (FAK)
(i

Zijinshan No.1
Project Saleable GFA in the future (sg.m.) ol 50,454

HH AR EREER (FIK)

Yonghuafu
Evian Quijiang 507 154 EERT 20,785
ARE T ’
: Mr. Mountain’ 51872
Chongging FHIEER '
HE Evian County® 172.092
Project Saleable GFA in the future (sq.m.) fREERe !
EH RIRATEZEETE (FHK)
Changjiahui TR G16 276,351
REE =heg
300,384
Evian River Bay' 499 712 CR
R T b ) : .
i China Merchants Interational E City 74155
Central Avenue® 1.462.150 R EIRER '
N = ! ’
NEKE Total
p—— @t 946,093
uanyingiao 100,530 s
BER ’
Total
PR 3,424,907

Foshan
1

Project Saleable GFA in the future (sq.m.)
HE RRAEREEE (F77K)

Evian Water Bank Guangzhou
B 12612 —

Evian Upper City Proj leabl i
gl | 6,532 roject Saleable GFA in the future (sq.m.)
RE B HH ARRAEREETE (F75K)
Evian Tianhui Jinshan Vall
Y E 28,365 prir 531,077
Evian Xicheng 172,586 Huambo
RERE, 0 BiE 103,434
Park 1872
NE1872 260,163 o 634,511
5
China Merchants
Land Centre? 191,791
BEE AL
Evian Yongjingwan?
REERE e
Evian Huafu*
N 337,486
KEER
Evian Gongguan® 286.045
REDNERS !
Total
it 1,485,505

1 formerly known as Evian River Bank 7 formerly known as G09
RIRBRET R AITEG09

2 formerly known as Jin Da Square & formerly known as G14
RITE &S AITEG14

3 formerly known as Evian Shangyuan
RIMBMARE LE

4 formerly known as Luocun
HITEZEN

5 formerly known as Jiujiang
AIfET

6 formerly known as Central Park
AITER RAE

—z-merg pEREeERAT @)



ELL'LG 69090 6EL'FYE'E  SET'SS SIS'LEY £07'897 865'e 650'9 190'981 8L9'7TL 985'€€T L06'TY'E  LT6'SH0'Y LESEE  |eogns buibbuoy)

- 065001 0v6°00 - - - - - - - - 0£5001 0v6°001 %0000 oelbufueng
169'7€ SOE%E'L UL LE9TE 917’86 587001 - - - - - 0SLT9'L L6ESISL %0010 ANUBNY [e41U8)
wn She's 61p'79€ 617'89€ Spe'g 8E8'epL £79'9 - - - - - 1L'660 8665 %00°00L fleg jany veiny
wv? 16595 SSLYSLL 89009t 6S0'fL 197681 560707 855'7¢ 6509 190'981 819771 985'€€T SISTOE'L  81L'S68'L %0005 nellbuey)
w Buibbuoy)
w 668751 wL'00e 806'18€ 0L9'1LL L00'LL€ £E0'79Y 'L £90'c€ 18€'96€ 82705 8vE'€79 115'v€9 689'L9%') L5HE  1eowgns noyzbueny
A - - - - PEY'E0l 816'571 - - - - - VEY'E0l 816'571 %005 gs oqueny
prd 668751 71'00¢ 806'18¢ 0911 €15'19 S15'9¢e 'L £97'€€ 18€'96€ 287105 87E'€79 LL0'1€S WLWEL  %00001 gme fa]jen veysuf
A e noyzbueny
D zLLE 061295 158'%6S SIGTEL 980'L86 698780°h 107’69 EL0'LL 00V'6ST'L  LLE'SOY'L  bIS'WTS'L  SOS'S8Y'L  ¥6S'BOZ'E £Smg [e303qns ueysoy
A €117 89€'981 159681 €117 068071 8E6'E7L - - - - - Sh0'987 685 LE %00'5 wﬁ; venbuog ven3
160°LL gss'Tee BvE'En? 160'LL v20'z€L pIZ9L - - - - - 98y L€€ £95'6L€ %00°0 Y=gy NjenH Ueig
80€'8! 01901 el 80£31 £75'€0L 005071 - - - - - 576681 15867 %00°0 BE¥EY uenbubuoa uen3
pd 156 - - 15€'S 871161 955'€77 - - - - - 164161 955'€77 %00'1 O aNua) pue]
O HELY SURLDIB BUIYD
;s - - ;S1L 026197 558'20¢ - - - - - £91'097 998'70¢ %0000 UBIEY 281 Yieg
ﬂ 856901 66781 6678t 678'€9 197991 908'LLL 56917 8917l 692191 76961 97907 985'7LL 185'7€p %0005 a2 Buaypix ven3
806001 - - - - - 59¢'87 SEEgy 8L6'71T 81916 818'10¢ 59€87 818'10€ %0005 m«% nyuel] uen3
wn BT - - - - - %59 (8911 LL€'00€ 065'81€ 90'19€ 7659 $90'19€ %000 ) saddn veiny
D 0559 - - - - - 09 €88y 786'185 L17'665 914559 097l 912559 %000 éé JUeq J21ef) Uein]
C M ueyso4
) (ki) (¥i) (ki) (¥4#) (ki) %)
- (wrbs) (wbs) (‘urbs) (wbs) (‘wrbs) (‘urbs)
D YE¥E  GEERy AEEEs 40 YE¥EY HY¥E  HYUSE HEEEH YENT B EE HE waloig
= %1 L BE/88L SEM 283 BE/88L ®3U% MEvy
T 1< V49 8|qesjes violelol  pjos-aid 8|qejual JuswdojaA3p JUBWISIAUI  PAIBAIRP paianiap a|qejual paejdwod  yueqpue]  y49elol  spaloid ayy
N _\ﬂ papeluo) V49 [ej0) piymio /3]qes|es Jspun 10§ pl3y r; jou jng pue pjos [3|qes|es \ZD] uljsasajul
N viOEloL V4 /plos-aid jou  pjos-aid PIYMI0 4D [eloL a|qeInque
Ll & P40 piym0 s Aueduwio) ay
M By i W
Am EwEmc_gw_u aining EwEno_gw_u Jspun uwﬂm_a_Eou
LLl 4hx
G ;___\n. 2J3quWiNuU 3|0yM 1594e3U 3yl 03} dn papunou
A I CEETE 9le eaJe 01 uolle|al ul saunbiy ||y "1uswdo|aAsp aininy 10} pPIay aam (il
= [ ST EEPFEW RIS B o H3Y B E BB RN K)E  quswdojaAap Japun a1am (1) ‘pa1ajdwiod Usaq pey (1) YIYM 10z 18quadag
A EH B0 WHAOBESYH—+=H Tl Em—=TW[4%E2% L€ 1e se spofoid Juswdopasp Auadoid s,dnoin syl s|ielep Mojaq 9|gel ayl
HA (B) S Emy (panunuod) ssauisng yuswdojanaqg Apadoud
= I ()9 B g 3 (Ponunuod) ANFIATY SSANISNE

@ CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2014



189'61L 0EV8I6Y  PE6'SHS'S  TUK'LOS Y0800ET  LLS'6I9T  8v9'9CT ELE1TL WO'LEE'  799'8TT  9L9'S6ST  OLL'866'  18L'LOLOL EOREEEH €301 TAD
- e 819'S67 - 0v0'SET 10107 - - - - - ¥S1'L08 8L'5€S 217 [e301qns e, x
- pil'ece 81956 - 0v0'S€C pOL07T - - - - - ¥51'205 781/5€S %00°001 THEY bueiind veing
b ue,lx
118'S5) SL0'L9L 85€'626 76540 951'9€€ 96'€9¢ vSy'08 8LL'Y £60'% (74319} 698612 £60'9%6 681205’} [e30uqns

LesbyuE  Guonrgbuluey

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

75'sy 86605 (299 775'sy 189'89 189'89 - - - - - 872 80€'L€l %000L A1) 3 jpuoneusaiy|
WIYEEH SIURDI3I BuIY)
- 8€'00€ 160'7S€ - - - - - - - - 8€'00¢ 160'7S€ 9%00°001 719 719
16€'9L7 110'85€ - - - - - - - - 1S€'9L7 110'85€ %00'1S 919 919
66€'1 026'68 768001 66€'71 11576 69'86 - - - - - 60'7LL 885'661 %10°9¢ #ED funo) ueins
99'7L w'eh GEL'ES 979'1l 9L0'S1 £eL'9l - - - - - U8'ls 89v'0L %1097 ByEmY ULBIUNOJ I\
9EV'8L - - €v0'L€l 878'L51 S8'6L1 - - - - - 8107 S8'6L1 %00'LS Y njenyBuox
9289 - - - - - 75105 8LLY £60'96 GZE'151 698'€17 75708 698'€17 %00°1S %-mTE
- BHALY
1< (FLR) (%) ) (%)
_\ﬂ (wrbs) (urbs) (‘wrbs) (wrbs) (‘ubs) (‘wrbs) (wrbs)
N yEEEy 30 BEEE  EEYE BYye YEEEY BE BRI R B paloig
& il /5%¥ g1 BY/S8E EBUY Wegy
9|qeales violelol  plos-aid 3|qesual JUBWAO[AASP JUBWISAAUI  PBIIAIP paienizp 3|qeiual paejdwod  yueqpue]  y49jelol  spaloid ayy
m papeiuo) V49 [e0) piymio /3]qes|es Japun 10§ pj3y r.; jou jnq pue pjos [3|qes|es \ZD] uljsasajul
\_A_n vifeloL VD [plos-aidjou plosaid  wpIyMj0 V4D [er0L J[qEIngupe
|_|. Ym0 Yym 4o s fuedwo) ay|
iz By il uH
EE Juswidojanap ainyng Juswidojanap Japun pare|dwio)
E.._,_._ (B ) Sz B E s (panunuod) ssauisng yusawdojanaq Anadoid
§ (1) 8 |5 L 3 (panuuod) pPNIIATY SSANISNE

—ToEER BEREMERAT Q



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)
Note: The table below shows the address, existing usage and actual/

¥ E )

expected completion date of the property development projects of
the Group as at 31 December 2014.

Fib R K ()
ik FRETARER-F-ME+- A=+ A 2HER
RIER 2l - RAEMRRER i ER A -

Actual/expected
completion date

(Year/Month)
B R
Project Existing usage ER A
EHE Address 3 4k RER®E (F£A)
Foshan 1l
Evian Water Bank Northern side of Yuhe Road R Commercial and July 2012
REIKEE and eastern side of BEAHLT residential —E——F+HA
Fenjiang South Road R AEREE
Dongping New Town L= SIAETPSS
Foshan City Guangdong Province HITE R R A
The PRC
Evian Upper City Northern side of Kuigi Road AR E Residential and May 2013
RE and western side of BRE#H LT commercial —E—-=%AA
Guilan Road By REFEILAR  EEREE
Chancheng District e il
Foshan City Guangdong Province
The PRC
Evian Tianhui Qiandenghu Park Nanping Road AR Residential and September 2014
R E K E Nanhai District BRAEGH LT commercial —ZE—MENA
Foshan City Guangdong Province )l FERBEE
The PRC FREHAER
Evian Xicheng No. 3 Keji North Road AR E Residential and January 2017
R, Shishan Town ERAHLT commercial —ZE—+%—A8
Nanhai District B L E FEREE
Foshan City Guangdong Province BRI 35
The PRC
Park 1872 Northern side of AR E Residential and August 2017
ANE1872 Xingye Road and BREFH LT commercial —E—+FEN\A
eastern side of JIE 12 [ B I FEREE
Longpan West Road EEBEER
Desheng Business District E2E PRl (8] R
Shunde New Town BEAR TR AR MY
Shunde District
Foshan City Guangdong Province
The PRC
China Merchants Western side of A E Commercial November 2016
Land Centre a planning road BRE#H LT [EES —Z—RF+—A
BB A eastern side of MEEENREE
Guilan Road A27%[&
northern side of a planning road —HREIRE AR
and southern side of Haiqi Road ERBE R A

A27 Block of Guicheng Street
Nanhai District

Foshan City Guangdong Province
The PRC

— BB AR

BLEER
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

¥ E )

FihEMBER &)

Actual/expected
completion date

(Year/Month)
BB
Project Existing usage ER B
1BHE Address b5+ BERAR (F£R)
Evian Yongjingwan North to Jihua Bridge i Residential and November 2017
REESE west to Tung Ping River BEAMBLT commercial —E—+F+—A
Chancheng District BHERFEAGILA  EEREE
Foshan City Guangdong Province R it (]
The PRC
Evian Huafu "Xinyou Innovative i Residential and September 2017
REEERT Technology Industrial Park” Beihu ERAHLUT commercial —E—+FNA
1st Road 8 L R FEREE
Luocun Management Office BNELE
Shishan Town Nanhai District I —KIEREXE ]
Foshan City Guangdong Province B
The PRC
Evian Gongguan Dazheng Road R Residential and December 2017
IRENEE Jiujiang Town ERAHLUT commercial —E—+F+=A
Nanhai District 8 NTE FEREE
Foshan City Guangdong Province KIEREHBES
The PRC
Guangzhou (&)
Jinshan Valley Fei E Ling i E Residential and March 2017
£ILA Zhongcun Town EREENTESR commercial —ZET—+F=A
Shatou Street DEmENEREE  EEREE
Panyu District
Guangzhou City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
Huambo Huambo Business District R Commercial September 2016
B Nancun Town EREEMT [EES —ZE—X"FNA
Panyu District HEBEMNE
Guangzhou City EEEBR

Guangdong Province
The PRC

—ToEER BEREMERAT @
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

¥ E )

i ER B EK (H)

Actual/expected
completion date

(Year/Month)
B fhEt
Project Existing usage A B
HE Address ik RERR (FA)
Chonggqing (E&)
Changjiahui Danzishi Nan’an District Chongging R Residential and June 2021
RElE City BEEM commercial B —FEXA
The PRC EREETA FEREX
Evian River Bay Eastern side of Babin Road R Residential and May 2018
IRETE and northern side of EEM commercial —ZE—)\FA8A
Neihuan Expressway EREEEREAE TEREE
Banan District AR RIEIL A
Chonggqing City
The PRC
Central Avenue Standard Sub-zone F AR Residential and October 2023
NEAE Lianglu Zone BEM commercial —ZT-=%+A
Yubei District Ak FEREE
Chongging City MK AEFZES &
The PRC
Guanyingiao East of Yu Ao Da Dao F Residential and July 2017
BEE and west of BEM commercial —ZT—+5¥+A
Jian Bei Si Zhi Lu TR AERRA - EEREE
Jiang Bei District 2 Al
Chongging City
The PRC
Nanjing (F8x)
Zijinshan No.1 Northeast corner of Zhongshanmen R Residential and November 2013
KL% Avenue and Taiyangcheng Road IEERMRT commercial —Z—=F+—A
Qixia District EEERILPMARERE FEREE
Nanjing City Jiangsu Province AR5 R L A4
The PRC
Yonghuafu Southeast corner of Yikang e Residential December 2015
TEEERT Road and Taishan Road TEHEmRT F= —E-FFE+-A
Jianye District EHPE IR B B
Nanjing City Jiangsu Province ZIEEREA
The PRC
Mr. Mountain South of 12th Xue Road s Residential June 2016
J L BIEE east of Wushi Road IEAm AT F= —Z—XFXA
High-tech Park TEESHE
Jiangning District B+ —PRDAR -
Nanjing City Jiangsu Province BEEUER

The PRC
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEREFN WD

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

¥ E )

FihEMBER &)

Actual/expected
completion date

(Year/Month)
B
Project Existing usage ER B
ER Address ik BERAE (F£AR)
Evian County East of 7th Guihuajing Road i Residential December 2016
REER Jiangning Airport Industrial District IEREERTM F= —E—XRF+=A
Nanjing City Jiangsu Province TEZEAFREE
The PRC HEIELHEAR
G16 West of Jing 5th Road in phrase 2 i Residential and March 2019
Maigaogjiao Street IEAERT commercial —E-NF=A
Qixia District BEERERGEE EEREE
Nanjing City Jiangsu Province KRS —HATE A
The PRC
G74 East of Xing Huo Bei Lu = Residential and June 2019
and south of Yong Xin Lu IEREERT commercial —E-NFRA
Pukou Gaoxin Zone O TR EEREZE
Nanjing City Jiangsu Province B AIEBE AR
The PRC T EE UARD
China Merchants East of Baosi Road = Commercial and September 2017
International E City south of Jingjiu Road IERE RN residential —E—+FhA
7% B PR ESRR Baohua Town Jurong City EEEERER BEREE
Jiangsu Province h ekl
The PRC
Xi‘an (%)
Evian Qujiang South of Jinyang Road i Residential and October 2017
RE /T east of Xinkaimen South Road Gk an] commercial —ZT—tF+A
north of Chuangyi Avenue and HTFRSFHEUE EEREE
west of Xikang Highway FHPIEE AR
West Fudao BlIE KB
Qujiang New District PO = iR P B LA T
Xian City Shanxi Province
The PRC
North of Chuangyi Avenue i
west of Xikang Highway PRAAETE ™
Qujiang New District HNT R AIE B AL
Xi'an City Shannxi Province, PO = iR AT
The PRC
East of Xinkaimen South Road 2]
Qujiang New District iRyt
Xi'an City Shanxi Province HTHTE
The PRC ¥ EAPIRIRE AR
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) RO )
Property Development Business (continued) FEibER R (#)
Contracted sales ARME

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group AEEBREBEZE_Z-—WFE+_A=+—HIHF
recorded contracted sales amount of approximately @ $:EREAEMTHARBEESBHARKE
RMBY, 145,200,000 from five cities and the contracted  9,145,200,0007T * & R 5 E &4 5719,687

sales area was approximately 719,687 sq.m.. FFK e
2014 contracted sales in area by region (sq.m.) 2014 contracted sales amount by region (RMB million)
—E-IFRHESEEEEE (F5K) TE-NERMESREESEIME ARBEET)
Nanjir_Lg & Juz)ng
S e sk ssany o Nening & urong

31% (2,795)

Chongaing EE
14% (97,713)
Chongqing £
10% (911)
Guangzhou &/ Guangzhou &/
21% (154,899) 27% (2,503)
New Acquired Land Bank I8+ e
8 parcels of land were acquired during the year ended 31 &EZE_ZT—WF+_A=+—BILFEMETI
December 2014 as follows: St
Total Average
Total Total permissible land
Projects HH consideration site area area premium
T AE BIEHEE BIREE FHE
(RMB million) (sg.m.) (sg.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
(AR (AR%T/
BE&T) (FAHK) (FHK) FHK)
Guangzhou Huambo BMNES 1,460 17,779 100,495 14,528
Nanjing Mr. Mountain BRALEBER 305 37,538 56,307 5,417
Nanjing Evian County AREKER 578 110,872 159,656 3,620
Xi'an Evian Quijiang AEEEHT 855 135,639 406,916 2,101
Nanjing G16 BMRG16 1,189 57,945 244,528 4,862
Jurong China Merchants AR 7 BB ES
International
E City 104 55,181 121,398 857
Nanjing G74 FARG74 860 124,809 267,081 3,220
Chonggqing Guanyingiao EEEZ1E 354 21,749 76,122 4,650
Total A&t 5,705 561,512 1,432,503 3,983
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) EREE )
Property Development Business (continued) EibERR R M (&)
Foshan AN

In 2014, contracted sales amount in Foshan were Z—Z—F @B LUZAREESTEAEARE
RMB2,936 million and contracted sales area was 311,264 2,936 B &7t AREEMEE A311,264FFH
sq.m. As at 31 December 2014, total GFA of the Group’s K- -HEZE-ZT—NF+-_A=+—H AEER
projects in Foshan reached 3,204,594 sq.m. and the @ ILTHIER EEEMIEES,204,594F 5K -
saleable GFA in the future was 1,485,505 sqg.m. R A EEEMIEA1,485,505F 75 K o

In 2014, sales of the Group’s projects in Foshan mainly ~—Z—P04 - REBEEGE LEEHNER T EHIK
comprised of Evian Tianhui, Evian Upper City and Evian  ZEXE - (K E _Fif BRI,

Xicheng:

- Evian Tianhui is a residential and commercial complex — KXZEXEAFTENEESASE LR
located in Nanhai District of Foshan, close to the AR UABRATENAR - LHEXE
Qiandenghu Park to the west with an attractive BARE - SEWERIRE o B st
natural environment with greenery and lakes. The RIBEF) - BEABER LI TEE SRS
project site is conveniently adjacent to the Line 1 of ESEy s

Foshan subway and is easily accessible by various
transportation routes;

i
L
a0

o ',I
4
Al
]

.|

nmn.lmmim:., ¥

COORIES DI

T

| .-

Photos of Evian Tianhui
RERERF
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ST O RE )

Property Development Business (continued) EitERBRER (&)

Foshan (continued) Bl (&)

- Evian Upper City is a residential and commercial — KELRAFTERAESAE AL
complex located in Chancheng District in Foshan, BYlE - AR RN - LATE A BRI M
with the view of the Dongping River to the south AR - ZURBEN - A EEER
and the Foshan Asia Arts Park to the west. The site is NN ERERE &

also conveniently accessible by major highways and
transportation routes; and

Photos of Evian Upper City

RE AR
- Evian Xicheng is a residential and commercial — KEBHMABEENEESGSE R
complex located in Nanhai District of Foshan, MER  XZIEIETRRE -

enjoying the view of Bo Ai Lake to the south.

Photos of Evian Xicheng
REBWAR
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)
Guangzhou

In 2014, contracted sales amount in Guangzhou were
RMB2,503 million and contracted sales area was 154,899
sg.m. As at 31 December 2014, total GFA of the Group's
projects in Guangzhou reached 1,467,689 sq.m. and the
saleable GFA in the future was 634,511 sg.m.

In 2014, the Group's saleable project in Guangzhou
was Jinshan Valley, which is a high-end residential
and commercial complex located in Panyu District of
Guangzhou. It is conveniently adjacent to various major
expressways in the area and is within 15 minutes’ driving
distance from the Pearl River New City, the central
business district of Guangzhou.

¥KOEE @)

EihEMRERE)

B M

ZE-OF  BNzAERBEESEAARE
25038 &7t - AREEEEA154,899F 7
KeBEZE—NF+-_A=+—H  xEHER
EMTAIIE B L= EMAEE,467,689F 5K -
KRR EREEIEAR634,511FFK -

—T-mE - AREEERMNEERBE AL
/2R RBHETREESRSE  IREM
HER MARAZEIZSEQE - BEMNTD
R ERMINTIIMITENS D EA R ZE

Photos of Jinshan Valley
SAEA
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)
Chongqing

In 2014, contracted sales amount in Chongging were
RMB911 million and contracted sales area was 97,713
sg.m. As at 31 December 2014, total GFA of the Group's
projects in Chongqging reached 4,045,927 sq.m. and the
saleable GFA in the future was 3,424,907 sg.m.

In 2014, sales of the Group’s projects in Chongging
mainly comprised of Changjiahui and Central Avenue:

—  Changjiahui is an upper-class multi-purpose urban
complex located at the Danzishi area in the south
central business district of Chongging, which is one
of the key developing areas. Facing the junction of
Yangtze River and Jialing River, Changjiahui enjoys a
panoramic river view and has high growth potential
for property development; and

Photos of Changjiahui
REEER
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—ENF - BEEZAREESEAARBEIN
BEL AREEEEAITIZFERX - #HE
—EME+-A=+—0  AEEREETHH
TH B 48R EIEEA, 045,927 F K - REKA&
BEMIEA3,424,907F 7K o

—E-NF AREREEZHERBEIEERE
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development Business (continued)
Chongqing (continued)

Located at the Standard Sub-zone F, Lianglu Zone,
Yubei District, Chongging, the Central Avenue is a
comprehensive community with residences, retails
and office functions covering a total site area of 40
hectares, where New Aerial Port City is situated.
The Central Avenue is in proximity to Conference
and Convention Centre, Chongqging International
Expo Centre. That region is assessable by convenient
transportation network. Meanwhile there are several
stops of Light Rail Line 3 and 6 in New Aerial Port
City and Central Avenue is close to the panoramic
Central Park.

Computerised photos of Central Avenue
NERE AR

¥ E )

Bt ERRER (F)

EE(E)

— PEABAEEMS  EEMBAS BN
GAME  CREBETRILERBAERE
EHBR - BAMEBOIOAE - e
B MBERTL EFEREYE
O ZEERBERN  EHIEE - 6%E
EBHMNE S RS - AEAEEH
CE LN
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)
Nanjing and Jurong

In 2014, contracted sales amount in Nanjing and Jurong
were RMB2,795 million and contracted sales area was
155,811 sq.m. As at 31 December 2014, total GFA of the
Group's projects in Nanjing and Jurong reached 1,507,189
sg.m. and the saleable GFA in the future was 946,093 sq.m.

In 2014, strong sales of the Group’s projects in Nanjing
and Jurong mainly comprised of Yonghuafu, Zijinshan No.
1 and China Merchants International E City:

—  Yonghuafu is a residential complex located in Jianye
District of Nanjing which consists of high-rise,
middle-to large-size residential apartments;

EREE @

EihERBERF)

ERERAR

ZENF - mREAUBZEREESEAAR
27958 &L - ARMEEEEAR1S5811F]
KoBE_E—NF+-_A=+—0  &XEER
MRmEAOAMHIER BEEMEE,507,189
SEFOK - R A BREEEIE /946,093 F 5K ¢

—TmE - ARBEARROTHRENREE
BEEN - Z2 R R BAERER -

- FEEFNRUNEREZEXERNEEHREGRE
B ARE hERFEABAEMK

Photo and computerised photo of Yonghuafu

FEETERMCARA
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Nanjing and Jurong (continued)

—  Zijinshan No. 1 is located in Qixia District of Nanjing
and close to the scenic area of Zijin mountain. The
project connected to the Line 2 of Nanjing subway
and is easily accessible by various bus routes in the
city of Nanjing; and

Photos of Zijinshan No. 1
ReW—KER

¥ E )

Bt ERRER (F)

ERRAE (&)

— ZRU-BRAERMEERLBIES L
BEE - A 20 E 5 R
BB+ REEEERT R
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Nanjing and Jurong (continued)

—  China Merchants International E City is a residential
and commercial complex located at part of the
land to the east of the Jurong Baohuabao Fourth
Road and the south of Jingjiu Road, Xianlin East,
Jurong. It is adjacent to Xianlin Lake and not far
away from Baohua Mountain with prestigious
environmental conditions. It only takes 8 minutes to
transfer to Nanjing Subway Line 2. With convenient
transportation network, it offers the young home-
buyers relaxing, pleasurable and enjoyable life away
from the hustle and bustle of the city.

¥ OEE )
EERRER (F)
BRRAR(E)

ARBRRERREERBESGEE UG
BPIMROTEEEIRRA - L&
AR ER IR - BARIMOSE - EEE LA
BETNE - BAGIHER - 8D EYERE R
H25EAR - BEN - REFERETEE
&R EE - ABRRENEmAE -

Photo and computerised photo of China Merchants International E City
BEERESAAR RERM AR
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) HEH O )
Property Development Business (continued) EibERR R M (&)
Xi‘an il

In 2014, the Group acquired a piece of land in Xi'an RZZ—WNF - AEERE AL —R{htEE
with site area of 135,639 sq.m. and permissible area of  %&135,639F 5K Mt A& A406,916F ;5K
406,916 sq.m. at a consideration of RMB855 million. 2+ REAARKSSSHET - iAEEMm
Xi’an is a new city to the Group. T AR R —EEE T

The project will be named as Evian Qujiang, which is ZtiHEBEmRAEREHRT T EAEEHE
located at the second phase of Qujiang New Town, B R REZTHITIHE B BEXE=IR M
Xi‘an. Connected to Nan San Huan, Hangtai Main  AXA3#E - Z#ME4554E - BE = AMT AR -
Road and in proximity to Subway Line 4, the Project is 109 EEHT — 840 - WEBEY - 184 .
closed to the top three parks in the city. It only takes 10  E#EZ HAIHEHL -

minutes to directly access to the core of the first phase of

Quijiang, which caters diversified needs such as shopping,

entertainment and food and beverage.

.‘%
'ﬁg

Com&uterised photo of Evian Qujiang
REMTEMEER
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Electronic Trading Business and Property
Related Procurement Business

The Group will balance the synergies in property related
procurement business and the main business in property
development business to determine the resources to be

allocated to the trading procurement business.

FINANCIAL AND TREASURY
MANAGEMENT PRINCIPLES

As at 31 December 2014, the net assets attributable
to owners of the Company were approximately
RMB4,591,896,000 (2013: approximately

RMB5,217,290,000).

In December 2013, the Group completed the issuance of
five-year term credit enhanced bonds in the aggregate
principal amount of USD500,000,000 bearing coupon
rate of 4.021% per annum (“Bond”). The rate of the
Bond, which is fixed and unchanged during its subsisting
period, bears single interest rather than compound
interest and the interest is payable half-yearly. The Bond
was listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with
effect from 12 December 2013. The fund raised from
the issuance of the Bond is for the purpose of general
corporate use. On 31 December 2014, total interest-
bearing debt of the Group was RMB9,583,217,000 (31
December 2013: RMB7,042,741,000). Bank balances
and cash was RMB4,184,366,000 (31 December 2013:

RMB6,618,086,000).

In terms of currency denomination, bank balances and
cash can be divided into RMB3,128,319,000 in Renminbi,
RMB1,051,949,000 in USD and RMB4,098,000 in Hong
Kong dollars while the outstanding total interest-bearing
debt can be divided into RMB5,377,079,000 in Renminbi

and RMB4,206,138,000 in USD.

@ CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2014

¥ OEE )
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—T-FE+-A=+—8  ARQEEE AN
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FINANCIAL AND TREASURY
MANAGEMENT PRINCIPLES (continued)

In terms of maturity, the outstanding total interest-
bearing debt (excluding the Bond) can be divided into
RMB1,745,450,000 to be repaid within one year,
RMB3,707,002,000 to be repaid after one year but within
two years and RMB1,112,688,000 to be repaid after two
years but within five years. At 31 December 2014, the
Group’s net interest-bearing debt (total interest-bearing
debt minus bank balances and cash) to equity ratio
(including non-controlling interests) (the "net gearing
ratio”) was 49% (31 December 2013: 4%). Although the
financial position of the Group is stable and the potential
financing capacity is strong, the Group will continue to
take the relatively stable financial policies and to control
the net gearing ratio at the industry average level.

The monetary assets and liabilities and business
transactions of the Group are mainly carried and
conducted in RMB, USD and HKD. The Group maintains a
prudent strategy in its foreign exchange risk management,
where foreign exchange risks are minimized via balancing
the monetary assets versus monetary liabilities. As
the Bond was denominated in USD, while the Group
conducts its sales, receivables, payables and expenditures
in RMB for its PRC property development business, the
management will closely monitor the volatility between
RMB and USD exchange rates and might consider hedging
should the need arises.

BEEESEEREA @)

LEBARME © MAEETBERHBE(TRIE
&% )a] DA ARM1,745,450,0007C (B — &
WEE) « AR¥3,707,002,0007T(BR—EM
FAREE)RARE1,112,688,000C (ZERWE
AFRNEE) - RZFT—WF+=-_A=+—8"
AEERFR BEBGTEEBEBRRITER
R HR RS (BRI RS R ([F
BIRE ) BA9% (—_FE—=F+_A=1+—8:
4%) BEMBMRREE BEREREL IR
% AEBDESITEEBROVEECK - FE
FE AT FITEI T FIKFE -

AEFBNEEEERABUREBZSIEUA
R¥ - XL RBEIIRNETT - REEIRTEE
ZHNERBEEHE - BREREKEEREN
BEZFE  SINERBRERE - ARESFN
EINR - BEAREREURPEZMEMEE
BAARBETHE - WK - IRE B - &
BESBRERIARELET ZEXRFI AR
REBERZ B
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW

For ensuring the stable growth of the Group and
consolidating the management foundation, the Group
continuously strengthens the operation management
of project companies from six aspects, namely project
progress, quality, safety, customer services, cost
and marketing. Through the concerted efforts of all
employees, the brand reputation of the Group can
achieve a continuous enhancement.

EHE O EE

AREAEEBREERSESRER  A£H
SENEEEE  E8 B2 BB AN
HeEMAE e M AR MELSER  BiBE
BETHRAZR  SEREZEEEUATEIR

A

o

h
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In order to strengthen the effective communication
between management level and the staff, the headquarter
of the Group and each member companies organize
different types face to face communication seminar with
the management, our staff can share their ideas and
needs to the management directly while they can get
responses instantly. On the other hand, it was a good
moment for the top management to share their objective
and vision to their staff. This activity can strengthen both
parties’ mutual understandings and break any barriers
between them.

Our Group also held various activities to show our deep
care to our staff such as [ETSREEEH T |, [TREER

ETE®] , [RN—8RTEF], [HEBWER], [F
MERENRE], [FERERKE], [EERAFAEAR
FEREE] , [HReERA2ERIMFR] , [EE—

O, REHIT], [HRILAF014FE K LESHE ]| and

[ BT Z2RHEES ]

RIRERERET Mz BYER  AEHE
AR R A B A IR A T B 0 4 A T 1 S T R
BETAEZXAEEERREES R RF
Ko MERE A BB EHEE - it &oE
BENAIZEERENE IS ZTREZ BENMA
= o MAREIER T &) 2 H B R AT R L ]
ZFBE o

A
e

REBETFRPLZEES  MIETERERE]
[REEFTETES | [X—RFEH]  [HE
BLED]  [EFHREENRE]  [FRREER
| [EERRERXBERED]  [#REEFKA
ERERSGMFE] TEE—L  RIERT] - (6

WARR014FEK LESE | R BT Z RS
mE|E  BRAREHB T 2RI
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In addition, as the core member unit under CMPD Group,
our Group held “i-walk”, a charitable fund raising activity,
in several of our project cities with the view of celebrating
the 30th establishment anniversary for CMPD. One of the
aims of this charity activity is to advocate staff leading
a green healthy life by driving less and walking more.
The more steps our staff take, the more fund our Group
donate and donations collected will be used to build
schools in rural areas of China called "A dream Center (2
A8FR0)". With the vision of helping those children who
are unable to go to school, 30 "A dream Centers” has
currently been established in 2014 and CMPD is planning
to build more in 2015. Our Group also take our corporate
social responsibility by organizing some public welfare
activities like [3XBx A1, [EHwuk] , [B1IE] 2
AP, [RETHE], [B17E o | WAKKRHREZS
JEEY] and [JRVKECEEE] .

nnYE | NI
e | 3P

Loashkes AL
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ACCOLADES & AWARDS 2014

Award Name

RIEEH

Awardee

BREMN

—E-MEREREE

Awarding Organization

BB

Overall performance
REED
Golden City Complex

SRS

Branding

m R EE

Enterprise with brand recognition
Mg ENPE

2014-2015 Real Estate Enterprise in
Xi'an with the most widespread

brand recognition

2014-20157 8 2 &R EL @R k&
FENED

Best Word of Mouth
SEOME]

Green and Cozy housing
for the year 2014

2014FEe B EEER

Golden Apartment Design
kit

Golden Luxurious Houses

TERE

The most sought-after housing unit
among netizens

BRXWRAEER

Golden award for the anticipated
housing unit for the Year 2014

2014FEHF B RS 12
Project with the highest investment

value in Foshan in 2014
20145 Il E BB EEBEIER

China Merchants Land

Centre

BREEH O

Foshan Company
#ILAF]

Xi'an Company

AR

el

Foshan Company
#RILAF]

Park 1872

~[E1872

Evian Gongguan
RERE

Evian Huafu

REZERT

Evian Yongjingwan
REERE

Evian Huafu
KEERT

Evian Yongjingwan

KEERE
Evian Xicheng

R

Southern Metropolis Daily

7 # TR

Southern Metropolis Daily
g7 R

Held by Shannxi Broadcasting
Television Station’s prime time
programme "“Real Estate in the
Metropolis”

PR EEEREESREEITMEE)
eSS

Word of Mouth Billboard Committee
in Foshan

BLAMREELS

Foshan Shunde Real Estate Chamber
of Commerce, Foshan Shunde
property market website

BILERFEERS - fhLIEEETH

Southern Metropolis Daily
R 77 &R T R
Southern Metropolis Daily
a7 R

Southern Metropolis Daily
R 77 &R T R

2014 Top List of the Leading
Enterprises in China

2014 B EERER
2014 Pearl River Delta Real Estate

(Foshan) Network Fest Organizing
Committee

2014 = AEE (L) EREHELR S

Pearl River Times

TOT By 3t
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ACCOLADES & AWARDS 2014 (continued)

Award Name Awardee
RIEEH FERE N

TE U E R RIE )

Awarding Organization

REBEE

The most anticipated green
residence model in Xi‘an

Evian Qujiang

AL HESRFEEAEEHIE RE#T

Certification of the national green
buildings with two star design

BZRAEZE - BIRAEEEE TR BENHIER

Corporate Social Responsibility

TEHESTE

Community caring and charitable
Enterprise

Foshan Company

NG

NON-COMPETITION DEED

To minimize actual and potential competition, the Group
and CMPD entered into a non-competition deed on 19
June 2013 as amended and supplemented on 4 October
2013 (the "Non-Competition Deed"”), pursuant to which (i)
CMPD and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) (“CMPD
Group”) will not compete with the Group in the cities of
Foshan, Guangzhou, Chongging and Nanjing ("Target
Cities”) except for certain operation transitional assets
("Operation Transitional Assets”) located in three out of
the four Target Cities (" Overlapping Target Cities”) which
would be retained by CMPD Group but managed by the
Group under certain operation agreement entered into
between the Group and CMPD; (ii) the Group will not
compete with CMPD in 21 other cities in the PRC ("CMPD
Cities”); (iii) and the Group will have a right of first
refusal to conduct property business in any city in which
neither CMPD nor the Group has any property business
as at the date of the Non-Competition Deed. For details
of the Non-Competition Deed, the Overlapping Target
Cities, Operation Transitional Assets and the CMPD Cities,
please refer to the section headed "Relationship with the
Controlling Shareholders” in the circular of the Company
dated 10 October 2013.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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NON-COMPETITION DEED (continued)

Pursuant to the Non-Competition Deed, the Company
and CMPD had carried out an annual review for the
year ended 31 December 2014 jointly of the respective
portfolios of property projects of the Company and CMPD
in the Target Cities and the CMPD Cities. As a result of
such review, the Company and CMPD noted that there
had not been any material change in their respective
properties portfolios or in the geographical delineation
between the Company and CMPD and had determined
that no adjustment or amendment to the Non-Competition
Deed was necessary.

The independent board committee comprising all the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company,
had (i) reviewed the quarterly reports prepared by the
Company’s management containing latest information
on the respective property projects portfolios of CMPD
Group and the Group; (ii) carried out a review on the
implementation of and compliance with the Non-
Competition Deed by CMPD Group and the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2014; and (iii) confirmed
that the terms of the Non-Competition Deed had been
complied with by CMPD Group and the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2014.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group
seized the business opportunities in Xi‘an and Jurong
which are new cities to the Group and chose not to take
up projects in Huizhou, Dongguan, Hefei, Shenyang
and Zhengzhou pursuant to the right of first refusal
mentioned above. The Group will continue focusing on
developing its property development business in the 4
Target Cities and those 2 new cities and will also select
other new cities carefully for investment and development
should appropriate opportunities arise.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the PRC economy will continue to
transform from extensive growth with an emphasis on
scale and speed to intensive growth with an emphasis
on quality and efficiency. It will change from a quantity
increment oriented economic structure to a structure with
inventory adjustment plus quality and quantity increment.
The driving force of the economic development will
shift from traditional to a new growth point. There will
be a slowdown in the growth of the sales amount with
a downward profit margin in respect of the property
industry. The urban development approach will be altered
from an orientation of reckless external expansion to
internal inventory optimization and a sufficient use of
existing resources. The transformation and upgrade of the
city become a new normality of the industry development,
with the upgrade of the functions, industries, products
and life styles in the city treated as the pivotal sources of
the new business opportunities for real estate enterprises.

In 2015, the Group will closely keep abreast of the
new development trend of the property industry under
the “new normality” of the PRC economy, grasp the
new opportunities in the industry, capitalise on the
now opportunities of Qianhai Shekou Free Trade Zone
in an appropriate manner and continue its efforts on
refinement and innovative development. This year, it
is expected that construction of an aggregate area of
2,556,000 sg.m. with 22 saleable projects will commence
and aggregate contracted sales target is RMB12,500
million.

As the only offshore listing platform for China Merchants
Group's property business, the Group will fully utilize the
strength of resources as a central state-owned enterprise,
continue to improve the professionalism of real estate,
and proactively make use of the function as an offshore
financing platform in the future in order to boost the
business scale and strength.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION AND
RELATIONS

The Group remunerates the employees by reference
to their qualifications, experience, responsibilities,
profitability of the Group and current market conditions.

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had 491 (2013: 343
employees in the PRC and Hong Kong) employees in the
PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group's total expenses on salaries and allowances
(including directors’ remuneration) for the year ended
31 December 2014 was approximately RMB152,604,000
(2013: RMB125,874,000). Apart from basic salaries, fringe
benefits such as contributions to the state-managed
retirement benefit schemes and MPF scheme and group
medical insurance also offered to the employees. A
share option scheme was adopted at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 27 September 2011
(the "2011 Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who have contributed to the success of the Group’s
operations. No grants under the 2011 Share Option
Scheme were made during the year ended 31 December
2014.
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ESTHRE

The Directors present their report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for year ended
31 December 2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The subsidiaries are engaged in the following
principal activities:

() development, sale, lease, investment and
management of properties; and

(i) sales of electronic and electrical related products and
sales of building related materials and equipment.

Details of the principal activities of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in note 38 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2014
and the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group
as at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 98 to 213.

The Board recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK$0.01 (2013: HK$0.012) per ordinary share. The
final dividend will be payable on or about 18 May 2015
to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 4 May 2015.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2014 are
set out in note 40 to the financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and
exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of
their holding of the Company’s securities.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Directors consider that the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to shareholders comprise the
share premium and the retained profits which amounted
to RMB6,226,830,000 (2013: RMB6,273,514,000). Under
the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is available
for paying distributions or dividends to shareholders
subject to the provisions of its Memorandum and Articles
of Association and provided that immediately following
the distribution of dividend the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five
largest suppliers were less than 30% of total purchases.

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers were less than 30% of total turnover.

As far as the directors are aware, neither the directors,
their associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Listing Rules”)), nor any shareholders which,
to the knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital, had any interest in
the five largest customers or suppliers.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the audited financial statements and restated as
appropriate, is set out on page 214. This summary does
not form part of the audited financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2014 are set out in note 15 to the consolidated

financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2014 are set
out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year ended 31 December
2014 in the Company’s share capital is set out in note 26

to the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has contingent liabilities amounted to
RMB1,715,534,000 as at 31 December 2014 (31

December 2013: RMB464,153,000).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, the
Group did not have any charges on its property, plant and

equipment.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in

note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

BONDS

Details of the bonds of the Group are set out in note 25

to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement scheme of the Group are set out in

note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2014 and up to the date of this report were:

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. He Jianya (Chairman)

Ms. Wu Zhengin

Ms. Liu Ning

Executive Directors:

Dr. So Shu Fai

Mr. Liu Zhuogen

Mr. Yu Zhiliang

Mr. Xian Yaogiang (appointed on 10 March 2014)
Mr. Hu Jianxin (resigned on 10 March 2014)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert

Ms. Chen Yanping

Dr. Shi Xinping

Mr. He Qi

In accordance with Article 116 of the Company's articles
of association, Dr. So Shu Fai, Mr. Yu Zhiliang, Dr. Wong
Wing Kuen, Albert and Dr. Shi Xinping will retire by
rotation. All the above Directors being eligible for re-
election, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 23
April 2015.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

The non-executive Directors, viz. Mr. He Jianya, Ms. Wu
Zhengin, Ms. Liu Ning, Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert,
Ms. Chen Yanping, Dr. Shi Xinping and Mr. He Oi, were
not appointed on a fixed term. Their appointment are
terminable by either party giving three months’ notice. In
addition, all non-executive Directors will retire by rotation
at least once every three years in accordance with the
Company’s articles of association.

The Company has received annual confirmation of
independence from Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert, Ms.
Chen Yanping, Dr. Shi Xinping and Mr. He Qi, each an
independent non-executive Director, pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers them to be
independent.

DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company are
set out on pages 9 to 20 of the annual report.

Change in Directors’ biographies

1. Ms. Liu Ling was appointed as the independent
director of Shenzhen Sunwin Intelligent Co., Ltd. (&
Y EFE RN BRAF) (Stock Code: 300044)
on 23 September 2014.

2. Mr. Xian Yaoqgiang does not act as the general
manager assistant of CMPD and the general
manager of the south-west regional headquarter
from 30 October 2014.

3. Mr. He Qi was appointed as the independent non-
executive director of Orient Victory China Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock code: 265) on 3 October 2014.

DIRECTORS SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval
at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined
by the Company’s board of directors with reference
to the directors’ qualification, experience, job duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of
the Group and market conditions. Details of the
remunerations of the Directors and the past Directors
are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2014, the following Directors had
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning in Part XV of the SFO)
which are (1) recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or
(2) required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange:
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Percentage of
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Name of director Nature of interest shares held EERRQTFE
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So Shu Fai Through controlled corporations (Note) 32,054,066 0.65%
B s RS 2 R aEE (i)

Note: These shares are held by Skill China Limited (”Skill China”). Fortune
Alliance Group Limited is entitled to exercise or control the exercise
of more than one-third of the voting power at general meetings
("control”) of Skill China. Hence Fortune Alliance Group Limited is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by Skill China. Fortune
Alliance Group Limited is in turn controlled by Joint profit Limited,
which is beneficially wholly-owned by Dr. So Shu Fai, an executive
Director of the Company. Hence Dr. So Shu Fai is deemed to be
interested in the shares held by Skill China. Skill China, Fortune
Alliance Group Limited and Joint profit Limited are companies
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability.
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DIRECTORS’' INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (continued)

Long positions in underlying shares of associated
corporation

EERROREEROZERZR
KB &)

REEEEMERRD 252
Approximate

percentage (%)
Number of in the associated

underlying corporation
Nature of Shares involved {EAREEE
Name of Director interest B AR BRAED
EEEH EHMtE idvig =] (%)
Mr. He Jianya Beneficial owner 641,600 (Note) 0.02%
BEDEAE EREAA (Hiat)
Ms. Wu Zhengin Beneficial owner 364,500 (Note) 0.01%
RiRE LT EnEAA (Hiat)
Ms. Liu Ning Beneficial owner 259,100 (Note) 0.01%
Rt EmEAA (K15E)
Mr. Xian Yaogiang Beneficial owner 296,900 (Note) 0.01%
Vi Lt EREAA (Hiat)
Mr. Liu Zhuogen Beneficial owner 168,300 (Note) 0.01%
=R LA EnEAA (Hiat)
Mr. Yu Zhiliang Beneficial owner 118,200 (Note) 0.01%
RERELE BEmEEA (K15E)

Note: These are the underlying shares involved in the share options
granted by CMPD (a controlling shareholder indirectly holding
3,646,889,329 shares, representing approximately 74.35% of the
issued share capital of the Company) to Mr. He Jianya, Ms. Wu
Zhengin, Ms. Liu Ning, Mr. Xian Yaogiang, Mr. Liu Zhuogen and
Mr. Yu Zhiliang.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2014, none
of the Directors had any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning in Part
XV of the SFO) which are (1) recorded in the register to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO; or (2) required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies,
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors’
Interests and Short Position in Shares and Underlying
Shares” above, at no time during the year ended 31
December 2014 had any rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company been granted to any directors or their
respective spouses or children under 18 years old, or
had any such rights been exercised by them; or was the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance to which the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party
in which any director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
any time during the year ended 31 December 2014.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The 2011 Share Option Scheme was adopted at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 27
September 2011 for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who have contributed
to the success of the Group's operations. No grants under
the 2011 Share Option Scheme were made during the
year ended 31 December 2014.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed "Continuing
Connected Transactions” in this report of the Directors,
there were no contract of significance between any
member of the Group and a controlling shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries or contract of significance for the
provision of services to any member of the Group by a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries subsisted
as at the end of the year or during the year ended 31
December 2014.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS" AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 December 2014, the following persons, other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company, had
the following interests in shares or underlying shares as
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:
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Percentage of

Number of ordinary shares held the Company’s

FELERSA issued share

Capacity and nature Long Short capital

Name of interest position position EERDRC BT
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China Merchants Group Co., Ltd. Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
AEREEERAH RISz ARER

CMPD Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
ArEE RSS2 ARER

China Merchants Shekou Industrial Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%

Zone Co. Ltd.

AEREOIXEERAH RISz ARER

Success Well Investments Limited Beneficial interest 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%

REREBRDA BEnfEn
Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been FREXEEESIN - KRG WARBEFAMAT(E

notified by any other person (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company) who had interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company that was required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
ON CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Save as disclosed below, the Directors are not aware of
any circumstances which would be required to disclose
herein pursuant to the requirements under Rule 13.21 of
the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

e On 30 July 2014, the Company as borrower entered
into a loan agreement relating to a US$100,000,000
term loan facility with a bank which has a term of
36 months commencing from the date of such loan
agreement;
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESTHRE

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
ON CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

(continued)

e On 19 August 2014, the Company as borrower
entered into a banking facility agreement relating
to a US$50,000,000 committed revolving banking
facility with a bank which has a term of 1 year
commencing from the date of acceptance of such
banking facility agreement;

° On 16 September 2014, Harvest Allied, a subsidiary
of the Company, as borrower entered into a banking
facility agreement relating to a US$60,000,000
committed banking facility with a bank which the
final maturity date falls 36 months from the date of
signing of such facility agreement;

e On 31 December 2014, the Company as borrower
entered into a loan agreement relating to a
US$100,000,000 term loan facility with a bank
which has a term of 36 months commencing from
the date of first advance; and

e On 31 December 2014, the Company as borrower
confirmed its acceptance of a term loan facility
relating to a US$100,000,000 committed term loan
facility with a bank which has a term of 36 months
commencing from the date of initial drawdown.

The following events would trigger breach of one or more
of the abovementioned loan agreements:

(i) CMPD ceases to beneficially own (directly or
indirectly) at least 50% of the issued share capital of
the Company;

(i) CMPD ceases to beneficially own (directly or
indirectly) at least 51% of the issued share capital of
the Company;
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESTHRE

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
ON CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

(continued)

(ii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the shares of CMPD ceases for any reason to be
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (or its
successor) or such listing is suspended for more than
15 consecutive trading days due to non-compliance
with the rules of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (or
its successor) or breach of any undertaking given to
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (or its successor);

Eureka ceases to beneficially own, directly or
indirectly, at least 50.1% of the issued share capital
of the Company;

CMPD ceases to beneficially own, directly or
indirectly, 100% of the issued share capital of
Eureka;

China Merchants Group Limited ("CMG") ceases
to be the single largest shareholder of CMPD
(beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, the largest
proportionate shareholding or ownership interest in
CMPD from time to time) and ceases to beneficially
own, directly or indirectly, at least 40% of the entire
shareholding or ownership interest in CMPD;

CMG ceases to be controlled by The State-owned
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission
of the State Council of the PRC or any other similarly
empowered authorities of the PRC government; or

Harvest Allied, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, ceases to be the direct or indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESTHRE

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
ON CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

(continued)

The loan agreement dated 19 August 2014 mentioned
above contains a cross default provision so that if the
Company or any of its subsidiaries commits a default
under any other loan agreement(s) of whatever type and
nature as conclusively determined by the bank and the
amount in aggregate equals or exceeds US$1,000,000 or
its equivalent, it will also constitute an event of default
under the loan agreement.

The other loan agreements dated 30 July 2014, 16
September 2014, 31 December 2014 mentioned above
contain cross default provisions so that if the Company or
any of its subsidiaries commits a default under any other
loan agreement(s) to which it is a borrower that entitles
any creditor to declare any borrowed monies under such
loan agreement(s) due and payable and the amount in
aggregate exceeds US$15,000,000, it will also constitute
an event of default under those loan agreements.

Details of the above mentioned loan agreements made
pursuant to the requirements of Rule 13.18 of the
Listing Rules were disclosed in the announcements of
the Company dated 30 July 2014, 19 August 2014, 16
September 2014 and 31 December 2014 respectively.

As at 31 December 2014, the aggregate outstanding
principal of loans owed by the Group under the above
loan agreements were US$140,000,000.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESTHRE

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

CMPD, one of the controlling shareholders, via Success
Well Investments Limited, its indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary, was interested in 3,646,889,329 shares,
representing approximately 74.35% of the entire
issued share capital of the Company and hence is a
connected person of the Company. Merchants Property
Management Co., Ltd., being a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CMPD, is also a connected person of the Company.
The transactions set out below which were entered into
between the Group and either CMPD or its subsidiaries
or Merchants Property Management Co., Ltd. constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company and
were subject to reporting, announcement, annual review
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements for
the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details
of such continuing connected transactions are set out
below:

(i) Trading of electronic and electrical
products and building related materials
and equipment
On 8 October 2012, GHG, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and CMPD entered into
the master procurement agreement (”Procurement
Agreement”) pursuant to which GHG may source
the electronic and electrical products and building
related materials and equipment, including but not
limited to building and renovation materials and
construction equipment and other related materials
to be sourced by GHG under the Procurement
Agreement for CMPD. Details of the terms of the
Procurement Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder were set out in the
announcement and circular of the Company dated 8
October 2012 and 30 October 2012 respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESTHRE

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

()

(i)

Trading of electronic and electrical
products and building related materials
and equipment (continued)

The annual caps approved by shareholders in an
extraordinary general meeting held on 16 November
2012 in respect of the annual maximum aggregate
value for the such continuing connected transactions
for each of the years ending 31 December 2012,
31 December 2013 and 31 December 2014
were HK$50,000,000, HK$120,000,000 and
HK$30,000,000 respectively. The total amount of
such continuing connected transactions for the
year ended 31 December 2014 was approximately
HK$1,431,000 (equivalent to RMB1,137,000).

Provision of project operational support
services to CMPD

On 19 June 2013, the Company entered into the
operational support service framework agreement
("Operation Agreement”) with CMPD, pursuant to
which the Group will provide project operational
support services to CMPD, including but not
limited to taking charge of land acquisition, project
development and sales. Details of the terms of
the Operation Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 19 June 2013
and the circulars of the Company dated 20 June
2013 and 10 October 2013. The agreement took
effect on 1 November 2013.

The annual caps approved by shareholders in an
extraordinary general meeting held on 28 October
2013 in respect of the annual maximum aggregate
value for such continuing connected transactions
for each of the years ending 31 December 2013,
31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015
were RMB16,000,000, RMB34,000,000 and
RMB17,000,000 respectively. The total amount
of such continuing connected transactions for the
year ended 31 December 2014 was approximately
RMB6,591,000.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESTHRE

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(iii) Provision of certain property management

BFEBREXRZ W)

(iii) MAKREREE TUWEEERRY

services to the Group

On 19 June 2013, the Company entered into the
property management framework agreement
("Property Management Agreement”) with
Merchants Property Management Co., Ltd., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CMPD, pursuant to
which Merchants Property Management Co.,
Ltd. will continue to provide certain property
management services to the Group. Details of the
terms of the Property Management Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder were set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 19
June 2013 and the circulars of the Company dated
20 June 2013 and 10 October 2013. The agreement
took effect on 1 November 2013.

The annual caps approved by shareholders in an
extraordinary general meeting held on 28 October
2013 in respect of the annual maximum aggregate
value for such continuing connected transactions
for each of the years ending 31 December 2013,
31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015
were RMB100,000,000, RMB140,000,000 and
RMB200,000,000 respectively. The total amount of
such continuing connected transactions for the year
ended 31 December 2014 was to approximately
RMB69,577,000.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESTHRE

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the above continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that the transactions had been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of the business of
the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing them and on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
continuing connected transactions in respect of the
Procurement Agreement for the year ended 31 December
2014, the continuing connected transactions in respect
of the Operation Agreement and Property Management
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2014 in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 "“Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions Under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his
unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions
in respect of the above continuing connected transactions
and has confirmed in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules:

(a) nothing has come to the attention of the auditor
that causes the auditor to believe that the
continuing connected transactions have not been
approved by the Company’s board of directors;
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESTHRE

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) for transactions involving the provision of goods
or services by the Group, nothing has come to the
attention of the auditor that causes the auditor
to believe that the transactions were not, in all
material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

(c) nothing has come to the attention of the
auditor that causes the auditor to believe that
the transactions were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions; and

(d) with respect to the aggregate amount of the
continuing connected transactions, nothing
has come to the attention of the auditor that
causes the auditor to believe the continuing
connected transactions have exceeded the annual
caps as previously disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 8 October 2012, 19 June
2013 and circulars dated 8 October 2012, 30
October 2012, 20 June 2013 and 10 October 2013.

A copy of the auditor’s letter had been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange at least 10 business days
prior to the bulk printing of this annual report.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied
with the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules in respect of all the connected and continuing
connected transactions entered into by the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2014 and all the above
continuing connected transactions was entered into in
the manners stated above.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESTHRE

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group has
the following material acquisition and disposal:

1. On 20 June 2014, B BRHE(BMR) AR A
a)] (Merchants Nanjing Real Estate Co., Ltd.)
("Merchants Nanjing”), a non wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a land
cooperation agreement with B REZZHREGRER
Al (Nanjing Qianjia Investment Company Limited*)
("Nanjing Qianjia”) (an independent third party)
and SEYITHPEM R EEE AR A A (Shenzhen
City Luhong Investment and Management
Company Limited*) ("Shenzhen Luhong”), a
company indirectly controlled by FZ T EEAR
A7) (Ping An Real Estate Company Ltd.) (“Ping
An Real Estate”), pursuant to which Merchants
Nanjing, Nanjing Qianjia and Shenzhen Luhong
subscribed for their respective portions of the
capital increase in the registered capital of FgR
e ek B E AR A 7 (Nanjing Merchants
Xingsheng Property Development Limited*)
("Nanjing Xingsheng”), the project company
engaging in the construction and development of
a real estate project on a piece of land situated
at east of 7th Guihuajing Road, Jiangning Airport
Industrial District, Nanjing (F R /LE %= B R
FRBNE IR LAER) successfully bided by Merchants
Nanjing in April 2014. Besides, Shenzhen Luhong
further provided shareholder’s loan to Nanjing
Xingsheng to repay part of the shareholder’s
loan owing by Nanjing Xingsheng to Merchants
Nanjing. As a result, Merchants Nanjing, Nanjing
Qianjia and Shenzhen Luhong had contributed
to the registered capital of Nanjing Xingsheng
in the respective amounts of RMB25.5 million,
RMB15 million and RMB9.5 million, and thereby
held 51%, 30% and 19% equity interest in
Nanjing Xingsheng respectively, and had provided
shareholders’ loans of RMB279.5 million,
RMB164.4 million and RMB104.1 million to
Nanjing Xingsheng respectively. Details of the
transaction were disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 31 July 2014.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESTHRE

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

(continued)

2. On 31 July 2014, EMEBEEHEER QA
(Merchants Property Development (Guangzhou)
Ltd.) ("Merchants Guangzhou”), an indirect
non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a land cooperation agreement with
RYEEH IR E B AR AF (Shenzhen Lianxin
Investment and Management Company Limited*)
("“Shenzhen Lianxin”), a company indirectly
controlled by Ping An Real Estate, and E/M &
EEMESBMR AT (Guangzhou Yi Yun Property
Development Limited*) ("Guangzhou Yi Yun"),
pursuant to which Merchants Guangzhou and
Shenzhen Lianxin subscribed for their respective
portions of the capital increase in the registered
capital of Guangzhou Yi Yun, the project company
engaging in the construction and development of
a real estate project on a piece of land situated at
Huambo Business District, Nancun Town, Panyu
District, Guangzhou (BM M B & mEATEEERN
7%[@&) successfully bided by Merchants Guangzhou
in January 2014. Besides, Shenzhen Lianxin further
provided a shareholder’s loan of RMB736.9
million to Guangzhou Yi Yun to repay part of the
shareholder’s loan owing by Guangzhou Yiyun
to Merchants Guangzhou. As a result, Merchants
Guanzhou and Shenzhen Lianxin had contributed
to the registered capital of Guangzhou Yi Yun
in the respective amounts of RMB51 million and
RMB49 million, and thereby held 51% and 49%
equity interest in Guangzhou Yi Yun respectively,
and had provided shareholders’ loans of RMB766.9
million and RMB736.9 million to Guangzhou Yi
Yun respectively. Details of the transaction were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 31 July 2014.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESTHRE

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

(continued)

3.

On 3 August 2014, Sino Action Investments
Limited ("Sino Action”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, as the purchaser, entered into
a share purchase agreement, with J®XIIEEE
HEHBR AT (Shenzhen China Merchants Real
Estate Co., Ltd.) ("Shenzhen China Merchants”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of CMPD (the
controlling shareholder of the Company), and
Merchants Guangzhou, pursuant to which Sino
Action acquired 49% equity interest of Merchants
Guangzhou from Shenzhen China Merchants at
the aggregate consideration of approximately
RMB1,212.77 million in cash. Details of the
transactions were disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 3 August 2014 and the
circular of the Company dated 25 August 2014.

On 22 August 2014, Merchants Nanjing entered
into a land cooperation agreement with Shenzhen
Luhong pursuant to which Merchants Nanjing and
Shenzhen Luhong subscribed for their respective
portions of the capital increase in the registered
capital of ERBEEHRFMEFR AT (Nanjing
Merchants Ningsheng Property Development
Limited*) ("Nanjing Ningsheng”), the project
company engaging in the construction and
development of the real estate property project on
a piece of land situated at south of 12th Xue Road
and east of Wushi Road, High-tech Park, Jiangning
District, Nanjing (BRI ERE&EZS+ 5K
-~ BEIAE) successfully bided by Merchants
Nanjing in March 2014. Besides, Shenzhen Luhong
further provided a shareholder’s loan of RMB90.2
million to Nanjing Ningsheng to repay part of the
shareholder’s loan owing by Nanjing Ningsheng
to Merchants Nanjing. As a result, Merchants
Nanjing and Shenzhen Luhong had contributed
to the registered capital of Nanjing Ningsheng in
the respective amounts of RMB30.6 million and
29.4 million, and thereby held 51% and 49%
equity interest in Nanjing Ningsheng respectively,
and had provided shareholders’ loans of RMB93.8
million and RMB90.2 million to Nanjing Ningsheng
respectively. Details of the transaction were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 22 August 2014.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESTHRE

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

(continued)

5. On 30 September 2014, Runray Holdings Limited
(L2412 R% B R A 1) (“Runray Holdings”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
land cooperation agreement with Fujin Investment
Management Limited (& 8% & E 2 B R A 7)) (“Fujin
Investment”), a company indirectly controlled by
Ping An Real Estate, pursuant to which, among other
things, (i) Runray Holdings disposed 49% equity
interest of Cyber Light Investments Limited (5¢}%&
WEBRAT) ("Cyber Light”) to Fujin Investment
at an aggregate nominal consideration of HK$49.
Cyber Light had in April 2014 successfully bided a
piece of land situated at the west of Jing 5th Road in
phrase 2, Maigaogiao Street, Qixia District, Nanjing
City (MR EERERBHBELARK _HEAD
and had established a project company named &
RHEBRMEEERR AT (Nanjing Merchants
Qisheng Property Development Limited*) to engage
in the construction and development of a real estate
project of the land. Besides, Fujin Investment further
provided a shareholder’s loan of US$18.95 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB116.52 million)
to Cyber Light to repay part of the shareholder’s
loan owing by Cyber Light to Runray Holdings. As
a result, Runray Holdings and Fujing Investment
held 51% and 49% equity interest in Cyber Light
respectively, and had provided shareholders’ loans
of approximately RMB121.28 and approximately
RMB116.52 million to Cyber Light respectively.
Details of the transaction were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 30 September
2014 and the circular of the Company dated 21
October 2014.

* Unofficial English translation for identification purpose only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESTHRE

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under
the Company's articles of association or the laws of the
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES
During the year ended 31 December 2014, neither the
Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, at
least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital
was held by the public as at the date of this report, being
the latest practical date prior to the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the Company’s corporate governance
practices is set out in the "Corporate Governance Report”
from pages 75 to 94.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was
established in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules for the purpose of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group’s financial reporting process
and internal controls. The audit committee comprises
one non-executive director and two independent non-
executive Directors.

BrRBEEE

ARDR 2 A R AR5 B B B A (I 4
RARBMRARFIRL R SR BB E
fEE -

BEENEEALQTF LHES

HE-T-MFT=A=T—AILFER - A2
RS H (Y 2 A A B S A 2 A E ()
LS -

RANBERE
BEAARTAMMISOERER - ARFKEE
B RAHRE B (ARE BN RER
BETEE) ARRRHERTRARED25%
MARALHE -

ERER
AAREEEHEREHRRETSEAEbE

ERmE] -

BREES

AATRR EHRAEI 2R UEZEZES
AEHNYEEAEEWBAREF LA

7o BELZEENERRE —RIIFRTEERME

BYIFNTES -

“TNEFR RRRBERERATE



@ CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESTHRE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee has been set up with written
terms of reference in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee comprises
one non-executive Director and two independent non-
executive Directors.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee has been set up with written
terms of reference in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee comprises
one non-executive Director and two independent non-
executive Directors.

AUDITORS

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu acted as auditor of
the Company since 8 October 2012. ANDA CPA Limited
acted as auditor of the Company for the period from 1
April 2009 to 31 March 2012.

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has informed the
Company that it will not seek for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The Board would
like to take this opportunity to thank Messrs. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu for its past professional services.

Upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee, the
Board has approved a resolution to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting for the appointment
of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as auditor of the
Company at a fee to be agreed by the Directors.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

He Jianya
Chairman

Hong Kong
13 February 2015
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERBME

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board considers that good corporate governance
of the Company is central to safeguarding the interests
of the shareholders of the Group and enhancing the
performance of the Group. The Board reviews its
corporate governance practices from time to time in
order to meet the rising expectations of shareholders
and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in corporate
governance.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group
has applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions (“Code Provisions”) set out in the Corporate
Governance Code ("CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules with the deviations from Code
Provision A.4.1, Code Provision A.6.7 and Code Provision
E.1.2. Reasons for such deviation are given below under
appropriate heading.

THE BOARD

Board composition

The Board has in its composition a balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company. The Board has a balanced
mix of Directors in four executive Directors, three non-
executive Directors and four independent non-executive
Directors as at the date of this annual report.

The list of all Directors by category, name and changes
thereto during the year ended 31 December 2014 and
until the publication of this report, is set out on page
55 under “Report of the Directors”. The biography of
the Directors are set out on pages 9 to 16 of this annual
report.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed pursuant
to the Listing Rules in all corporate communications issued
from time to time by the Company.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board composition (continued)

Saved as disclose under the heading "Directors’ Interests
and Short Position in Shares and Underlying Shares” in
the Report of the Directors, to the best of knowledge of
the Directors, the Board members have no other financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship
with each other, senior management or substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Board
at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors.

The Company has received the written annual
confirmation from each independent non-executive
Director of his independence pursuant to the
requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non-executive Directors to
be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

Board meetings

Board meetings were held at least four times during the
year roughly on a quarterly basis. Dates for regular Board
meetings are scheduled in advance to provide sufficient
time for the Directors to prepare for. Special Board
meetings were held when necessary. Notice of meeting
was given at least 14 days before the meetings. Directors
are consulted for matters to be included in the agenda
and Board papers will be served at least three days before
the meeting.

@ CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2014
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TRERBME

THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings (continued)

There were in total 4 regular board meetings held
during the year ended 31 December 2014. Details of the
attendance of the regular Board meetings held for the
year ended 31 December 2014 were as follows:

BEEgw

E%ﬁﬁﬁi( &)
HE-T-—NE+-A=+—BILFEHETT
@ﬁﬁﬁé%éé% ERBE-T-—mE+=
Ao+ AR EREEe By HEER
M

Number of meetings
attended by
alternate director/

Attendance/ Number of meetings?
Number of meetings3 BRESHEZ

Name of Directors BN R EERr I N O BRERE gy
Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. He Jianya (Chairman) BRLEE(LE) 4/4 0/4
Ms. Wu Zhengin RIRE LT 4/4 0/4
Ms. Liu Ning A=+ 3/4 1/4
Executive Directors HITEF
Dr. So Shu Fai HEEET 3/4 1/4
Mr. Liu Zhuogen BlEiREE 4/4 0/4
Mr. Yu Zhiliang RERKE 4/4 0/4
Mr. Xian Yaogiang' SRR S 2/3 13
Mr. Hu Jianxin2 R A2 I7Al 0/1
Independent Non-executive Directors B FEHiTEE
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert FoxEEL 4/4 0/4
Ms. Chen Yanping BR324 £ 4/4 0/4
Dr. Shi Xinping LHTE L 2/4 2/4
Mr. He Qi MRTE 4/4 4/4
1 Appointed on 10 March 2014 ! RZZ-—NFE=A+AEZR{E

2 Resigned on 10 March 2014

3 Number of meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2014
or during the tenure of the Director for such financial year (if such
Director was appointed or ceased to be a Director part way during
the financial year)

Minutes of the Board, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
were recorded in sufficient details of matters considered
at the meetings and decisions reached including any
concerns or dissenting views raised by the Directors. All
the minutes are kept by the company secretary and are
open for inspection at any time on reasonable notice
given by any Director.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings (continued)

Directors can access to the advice and services of the
company secretary to ensure that Board procedures and
applicable rules and regulations are followed.

In addition, all Directors are regularly updated on
corporate governance and regulatory matters. On a
continuing basis, Directors are encouraged to keep up
to date on all matters relevant to the Group and attend
briefings and seminars as appropriate. There is a guideline
for Directors to obtain independent professional advice
at the expense of the Company in the furtherance of
their duties. The Company has also arranged appropriate
liability insurance cover in respect of legal action against
its Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. He Jianya, a non-executive Director, is the chairman
of the Board. The chairman is responsible for managing
the affairs of the Board and the chief executive is
responsible for managing the day-to-day operation of the
Company’s business.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Company
had not appointed an individual to be the chief executive
officer and the roles of the chief executive have been
performed collectively by all the executive Directors.
The Board considers that this arrangement allows
contributions from all executive Directors with different
expertise and is beneficial to the continuity of the
Company’s policies and strategies.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Group has a formal, considerate and transparent
procedure for the appointment of new Director to the
Board. The Group has adopted a nomination procedures
and the Board, based on the criteria established, evaluate
and select candidates for the directorships.

@ CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2014

BEESw)

EEESR(H)
SEFHTEDAANEZ ERRBY - UBR
BEERFLEARAN ARG -

o ARBIEERAMAERERBBEERE
AREEEBIETEN -  BEFEFETRRZ
BIBABAEEZ —YEE  AWNBEERRSM
EHRE RN E c ARARE-EIES  REE
ERVDITRBMAEABLEXER (FRERMR
RRBEYE) - ARRTFERMEEERBIER
RABEEE 2B ERR

EFEMTHAR
FPTEEREDREAEFEEE - TRER
EREFEFHIAL HORERVARER
RARERZ BB -

REBE_Z-—NE+_A=+T—HIFE  rQ
AW mEEERIA T HETEREE - MITHRAR
ZBRE-EHERATEEARET - EFER
BULZHBENR2BRTEENATRERAR
RAWEHERL - WAFIRREEA R BB R MR
B -

REEZEE

AEEFTE—ELER KRTPABASEAEZ
REEFESHEFER  AEECERA—ER
ZiEF  MEFSRBECHEL 2 EANBRETER
BRBEEEEZAE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERBME

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Nomination Committee of the Board has been set up
with written terms of reference which are published on
the website of the Company. A majority of the members
of nomination committee are independent non-executive
Directors (with one non-executive Director and two
independent non-executive Directors). This committee is
authorised by the Board and reviews the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes. The nomination committee identifies suitable
individual qualified to become Board members and makes
recommendation on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors if necessary,
in particular, candidates who can add value to the
management through their contribution in the relevant
strategic business areas and whose appointments will
result in the constitution of strong and diverse Board. The
meeting of the nomination committee shall be held at
least once a year or when necessary. In case any Director
resigns from the Board, reasons for the resignation will be
disclosed in the announcement.

The Company is committed to equality of opportunity in
all aspects of its business. The Board Diversity Policy was
adopted in September 2013.

Diversity of board members can be achieved through
consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to professional qualifications and experience,
cultural and educational background, race and ethnicity,
gender, age and length of service. In informing its
perspective on diversity, the Company will also take into
account factors based on its own business model and
specific needs from time to time.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2014, the
Nomination Committee has held one meeting and the
committee performed the following duties:

accessed the independence of independent non-
executive directors;

made recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of Directors; and

reviewed the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company'’s corporate strategy.
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Details of the attendance of the Nomination Committee HZ=—T—NF+-A=+—HILFELTZIRE
meetings held for the year ended 31 December 2014 HZEEESHIEFBOT ¢
were as follows:
Number of meetings
attended by
Attendance/ alternate director/
Number of  Number of meetings’
Members of the meetings’ BRESLHEZ
Nomination Committee REZEENKE HERE gERE EEAE gERE
Mr. He Jianya (Chairman) BEakE(EE) 1Al 0/1
Ms. Chen Yanping PR BE S 27 + il 0/1
Dr. Shi Xinping SEETE L 0N 1/1
1 Number of meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2014 ! REZE-_Z-—NF+_A=1T—HLEFENXESTNZ

or during the tenure of the Director for such financial year (if such
Director was appointed or ceased to be a Director part way during
the financial year)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject
to re-election. The non-executive Directors and all the
independent non-executive Directors do not have specific
terms of appointment which is a deviation from Code
Provision 4.1. However, all of them are subject to the
requirement to retire by rotation at least once every 3
years at annual general meetings under the Company’s
articles of association. The Board considers that the
requirement has the same effect of accomplishing the
same objective as a specific term of appointment.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic
development of the Group. The Board also monitors the
financial performance and the internal controls of the
Group’s business operations.

In addition, the Board is charged with promoting the
success of the Group by directing and supervising its
affairs in a responsible and effective manner. Each
Director has a duty to act in good faith in the best
interests of the Company. The Directors are aware of their
collective and individual responsibilities to all shareholders
of the Group for the manner in which the affairs of the
Company are managed, controlled and operated.

A Director is required to keep abreast of his
responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct, business
activities and development of the Group. Non-executive
Directors have the same duties of care and skill and
fiduciary duties as executive Directors.

The functions of non-executive Directors have included
the functions as specified in the Code Provision A.6.2(a)
to (d) of the CG Code.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

(continued)

Details of the attendance of the Board members at
general meetings held for the year ended 31 December
2014 were as follows:

EEvET@®

BE_TNOF+-_A=t—HLFESTZR
%j(QEPé%?ﬁXE\ZHjV#IaZZDT-

Attendance/Number of meetingss
HEREEHRAEC

Annual General Extraordinary
Meeting General Meeting

Name of Directors BEEHR BRBFAE BRESAE
Non-executive Directors FHITEE

Mr. He Jianya (Chairman) BiEoeE(EE) 0/1 0/1
Ms. Wu Zhengjin R+ 171 1/1
Ms. Liu Ning =t 11 11
Executive Directors HITEE

Dr. So Shu Fai BREEIE T 1/1 171
Mr. Liu Zhuogen REREE 171 1/1
Mr. Yu Zhiliang REREE 11 1/1
Mr. Xian Yaogiang' ARRIR S A 11 1/1
Mr. Hu Jianxin? AR S A2 0/0 0/0
Independent non-executive Directors BHUHFHNTEE

Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert FoxiEE L 11 IVAl
Ms. Chen Yanping PR eE S 27 + 1Al 171
Dr. Shi Xinping SEETEEL 11 1/1
Mr. He Qi )B4 0/1 0/1

! Appointed on 10 March 2014

2 Resigned on 10 March 2014

3 Number of meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2014
or during the tenure of the Director for such financial year (if such
Director was appointed or ceased to be a Director part way during
the financial year)

Mr. Hu Jianxin did not attend either the annual general
meeting or the extraordinary general meeting held during
the year ended 31 December 2014 as he resigned on 10
March 2014 which was before the dates of such general
meetings.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

(continued)

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-
executive Directors and other non-executive Directors
should attend general meetings, and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders. Mr. He
Jianya, a non-executive Director, and Mr. He Qi, an
independent non-executive Director, could not attend
the annual general meeting held on 12 May 2014 and
the extraordinary general meeting held on 12 September
2014 due to other business engagement which was a
deviation from Code Provision A.6.7. However, there
were sufficient executive Directors, independent non-
executive Directors and non-executive Directors present
to enable the Board to develop a balanced understanding
of the views of the Company’s shareholders.

Code Provision E.1.2 stipulates that the chairman of the
Board should attend the annual general meeting. Mr. He
Jianya, chairman of the Board, could not attend the annual
general meeting held on 12 May 2014 due to other business
engagement which was a deviation from Code Provision E.1.2.
However, he has appointed Ms. Wu Zhengin, a non-executive
Director, to be his alternate director and acted as chairman
of the annual general meeting.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated functions that are necessary and
incidental to carrying out the decision of the Board or to
facilitate the day-to-day operation of the Group in the
ordinary course of business to the senior management
and divisional heads of different units.

Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated
by the Board to senior management include execution of
business strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board,
implementation of adequate internal controls and risk
management procedures, and compliance with relevant
statutory requirements and rules and regulations.
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SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO
INFORMATION

Directors are provided in a timely manner with
appropriate information in such form and of such quality
as will enable them to make an informed decision and to
discharge their duties and responsibilities as Directors of
the Company.

In respect of regular Board meetings, and so far
as practicable in all other cases, an agenda and
accompanying Board papers are sent in full to all Directors
in a timely manner and at least three days before the
intended date of a Board meeting.

Management is regularly reminded by the company
secretary that they have an obligation to supply the Board
and its committees with adequate information in a timely
manner to enable them to make informed decisions. The
information supplied must be complete and reliable. The
Board and each Director have separate and independent
access to the Company’s senior management for making
further enquires where necessary.

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has
appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant regulatory requirements.

The Directors are continually updated on the legal and
regulatory developments, as well as business and market
changes, to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities
and they have complied with Code Provision A.6.5 during
the year ended 31 December 2014 by participating in
continuous professional development training.
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Directors
participated in the following trainings:

Reading materials

B
REBEZE_Z—NF+_-_A=+—HIFE &=
SE TR

regarding regulatory

Attending in-house
seminar(s) or

external seminar(s) on

professional skills

updates HESEREZAM
Name of Directors EEnE MEEEERETNER WHERMIHAE
Non-executive Directors HPTEE
Mr. He Jianya (Chairman) ERDAE(LE) v v
Ms. Wu Zhengin REYRL v v
Ms. Liu Ning =Lt v v
Executive Directors HITEF
Dr. So Shu Fai ERiEE T 4 v
Mr. Liu Zhuogen BE R AE v 4
Mr. Yu Zhiliang REREE v 4
Mr. Xian Yaogiang' Vot v v
Mr. Hu Jianxin2 e v v
Independent Non-executive Directors B U i7EF
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert R L 4 4
Ms. Chen Yanping AT+ v v
Dr. Shi Xinping ERTEL v v
Mr. He Qi BEspS 4 4
! Appointed on 10 March 2014 1 R-ZF-—WFE=ATHEZE
2 Resigned on 10 March 2014 2 RZT—WFE=A+HEE
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS =0

The respective remuneration to the Directors has been

determined by the Board taking into consideration the

recommendations made by the Remuneration Committee

with reference to their qualifications, experience, job
responsibilities, market conditions and the performance

of the Group.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Board has been set
up with written terms of reference which are published on
the website of the Company. A majority of the members
of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-
executive Directors (with one non-executive Director and
two independent non-executive Directors). This committee
is authorised by the Board to make recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure of
remuneration of Directors and senior management and
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management.

There is a formal and transparent procedure for setting
policy and procedure for fixing the remuneration
packages of all Directors and senior management. The
Group will gather and summarise information relating
to remuneration policy and other remuneration related
matters. The Remuneration Committee will meet at least
twice a year and consider the above information and
make recommendation to the Board and have access to
professional advice if necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the
Remuneration Committee has held two meetings and the
committee performed the following duties:

—  reviewed and approved the remuneration policy of
the Directors and senior management; and

- made recommendation on directors’ fees for the
executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)
Details of the attendance of the Remuneration Committee
meetings for the year ended 31 December 2014 were as
follows:

FMEES @)
BE-—T-NE+-A=+-BILEESET
THMEEEERLREHEENT -

Attendance/
Members of the Number of meetings®
Remuneration Committee FMEESENE HEDE R E
Ms. Chen Yanping (Chairman) PRECERZ (/) 2/2
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert ToxERB L 2/2
Ms. Wu Zhengjin RIRE 2+ 2/2

1 Number of meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2014
or during the tenure of the Director for such financial year (if such
Director was appointed or ceased to be a Director part way during
the financial year)

DIRECTOR’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted its code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors of the Company on terms no
less exacting than the required standard set out in the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the "Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry to
all Directors, the Company confirms that all Directors have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2014.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities
for overseeing the preparation of the financial statements
for each financial period which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group, and of results and cash
flow for the period. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014, the Directors
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting
Standards; made prudent and reasonable judgments and
estimates and have prepared the financial statements on
a going concern basis. The Directors also warrant that the
Group's financial statements will be published in a timely
manner.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING (continued)

The statement of the external auditors of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the "Independent Auditors’
Report” on pages 95 to 97.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group
maintains sound and effective internal controls to
safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the Group’s
assets.

The management is responsible for the Group’s system
of internal controls and the Board is responsible for
reviewing its effectiveness of the Group’s system of
internal control and its subsidiaries at least annually.
The function of reviewing its effectiveness of the
Group's system of internal control is delegated to Audit
Committee by the Board. The system will cover all
material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions. The
system of internal control is designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of the
internal control of the Group. The finance department
carries out annual risk assessment on each audit area
and derives an annual audit plan according to their risk
rankings. In December 2014, the Company engaged
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu to perform a review of the
internal control system of the Group with focus on the
property business. The management gave response to
each item and propose improvement planning as well.
The review report was sent to the Audit Committee and
the planning was launched as planned with positive
outcome.

Such review report was submitted to the Audit

Committee. Copy of the minutes of Audit Committee
meeting will also be sent to the Board for information.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Board has been set up
with written terms of reference which are published
on the website of the Company. The Audit Committee
comprises two independent non-executive Directors
and one non-executive Director. Dr. Wong Wing Kuen,
Albert, chairman of the Audit Committee, who has the
appropriate professional qualification and experience in
financial matters as required by the Listing Rules. This
committee is authorised by the Board and is responsible
for reviewing the financial reports, internal control
principles and for maintaining an appropriate relationship
with the Company'’s auditors.

The Audit Committee met with the external auditors
during the year ended 31 December 2014 to discuss any
areas of concern during the audits. The Audit Committee
reviewed the interim and annual reports before
submission to the Board. The Audit Committee focuses
not only on the impact of the changes in accounting
polices and practices but also on the compliance with
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and relevant legal
requirements.

The Audit Committee has not taken a different view
from the Board regarding the selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of the Company’s external
auditors.

The Company’s annual results announcement on 13
February 2015 for the year ended 31 December 2014
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Audit
Committee has held two meetings and the committee
performed the following duties:

—  meeting with the executive Directors and management
of the Company from time to time to review the
interim and annual results, the interim report and
annual report and other financial, internal control,
corporate governance and risk management matters
of the Group and making recommendations to the
Board;
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

considered and discussed the reports and
presentations by the senior management and the
external auditor, with a view to ensure that the
Group's consolidated financial statements are
prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong;

meeting with the external auditor to discuss its
independent review of the interim financial report
and its annual audit of the consolidated financial
statements; and

assisted the Board in meeting its responsibilities for
maintaining an effective system of internal control.

Details of the attendance of the Audit Committee
meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2014
were as follows:

EREEEW)

— EFEUHHEREEASRINEEKE
BERIES  URRAEEY GAMKR
EDBEESEERA Y i FAGS

—  BSNEREENERE - AR E S B

BEZBUBGLREHREMBRECF
BEZ R
- BBEESETHARBRAMEEE
ZEfE-
BE—T-NF+-A=+t—HULEFERTZHE
BRZESEHRLFLEFBOT

Number of meetings
attended by alternate
director/Number of

Attendance/ meetings’

Members of the Audit Number of meetings® BERESHESEZ

Committee ERZEEERE HERSEEERE RE EERE

Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert FoxigE T (FE) 2/2 0/2
(Chairman)

Ms. Liu Ning B|EwL+ 2/2 0/2

Dr. Shi Xinping SEEFEL 0/2 2/2

1

Number of meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2014
or during the tenure of the Director for such financial year (if such
Director was appointed or ceased to be a Director part way during
the financial year)
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the
remuneration in respect of professional services provided
by the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, is
set out as follows:

1 B4 B i T
REBEZEZZ—NF+_A=+—HIEFE &2
AIZEANEE) « =R A ST TAR A RIS
BERB 2 HMHEIINT

(RMB'000)

(AR¥F )

Audit services ENZIRTS 1,337
Non-audit services FEE RS 1,886
Non-audit services include the professional services FFEZRGRETHREEH  FERERHE

rendered in connection with the interim report review,
continuing connected transactions review, tax review,
major transactions and internal controls assessment.

SECURITIES TRANSACTION BY THE
RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

Under the Code Provision A.6.4 of the CG Code, the
Board has established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for Directors and
relevant employees in respect of their dealings in the
Company'’s securities. "Relevant employee” includes any
employee of the Group or a Director or employee of a
subsidiary or holding company of the issuer, because of
such office or employment, is likely to be in possession
of inside information in relation to the Group and its
securities. Having made specific enquiry to all Relevant
Employees, the Company confirms that all Relevant
Employees have complied with the written guidelines
regarding securities transactions during the year ended 31
December 2014.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

The Company is committed to pursue active dialogue
with shareholders as well as to provide disclosure
of information concerning the Group’s material
developments to shareholders, investors and other
stakeholders.

Annual general meeting ("AGM") of the Company
serves as an effective forum for communication between
shareholders and the Board. Notice of the AGM together
with the meeting materials are despatched to all
shareholders not less than 21 days and not less than 20
business days prior to the AGM.

The chairman of the Board and of Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
or in their absence, other members of the respective
Committees, are invited to the AGM to answer questions
from shareholders. External auditors are also invited to
attend the AGM to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s
report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

The Company’s last AGM was held on 12 May 2014
at 11:30 a.m. at Golden Dynasty Court, Macau Jockey
Club, Hong Kong Club House, 3/F, Shun Tak Centre,
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong. All the resolutions
proposed at that meeting were approved by shareholders
of the Company by poll. Details of the poll results are
available under the "Announcements and Notices”
section of the Company’s website at http://ir.cmland.hk.

Vote of shareholders at general meeting will be taken
by poll in accordance with the Listing Rules, unless
otherwise required and permitted. Detailed procedures
for conducting a poll will be explained to the shareholders
at the inception of general meeting to ensure that
shareholders are familiar with such voting procedures.
Separate resolution will be proposed by the chairman
of general meeting in respect of each substantial issue.
The poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange on the same business
day of the general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (continued)

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company,
general meetings can be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more members of the Company
deposited at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong at:

Room 1701, 17/F., China Merchants Tower
Shun Tak Centre

Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
General meetings may also be convened on the written
requisition of any one member of the Company which is
a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited
at the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong as set out above specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided that
such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. If the Board does not
within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a
further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in
which meetings may be convened by the Board provided
that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of
the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

A\ 2 \\
TEERRE

CORPORATE COMMUNICATION

The Group should announce its annual results and interim
results in a timely manner before the time limits set out
in the Listing Rules. Separate resolutions are proposed
at the annual general meetings on each separate
issue, including the election of individual Directors. In
addition, procedures for demanding a poll at the annual
general meeting will also be included in the circular to
shareholders dispatched together with this report.

The Group maintains a website of http://ir.cmland.hk which
enables shareholders of the Company, investors and the
general public to access to the information of the Group
on a timely basis. Financial information and all corporate
communications of the Group are made available on the
Group’s website and updated regularly.

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar: Tricor Tengis Limited at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

Other enquiries or comments raised by any shareholder to
the Board can be directed to the Board by any one of the
following means:

By mail to: Room 1701, 17/F., China Merchants
Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong

By email to: ir@cmland.hk

By phone to: (852) 3976 5300

By facsimile to:  (852) 2116 0057

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to put forward
proposals at the general meeting under the Company’s
articles of association or under the Companies Law, Chapter
22 (2012 Revision) (Cap. 22), of the Cayman Islands.
Shareholders may follow the procedures set out above to
convene an extraordinary general meeting for any business
specified in such written requisition.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, there was no
change in the Company s constitutional documents.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B 2 RENHRE

Deloitte.
=3

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 98 to 213, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2014,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with the Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B ZRENRE

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity '
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated

s internal

financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B 2 RENHRE

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
as at 31 December 2014, and of its profit and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

13 February 2015
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEmEkEMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2014
B2 —F—FE—A=1—HIFE

2014 2013
=g-mE T =F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Bzt ARBTT ARKETT

Revenue Wz 6 7,440,436 6,927,871
Cost of sales $HE KR (5,367,524) (4,125,212)
Gross profit EF 2,072,912 2,802,659
Other income E g A 8 60,613 106,387
Net foreign exchange gains PE 5 s F 78 28,835 73,593
Selling and marketing expenses SHE RS (175,700) (131,253)
Administrative expenses THXH (89,357) (89,235)
Finance costs R &R 9 (273,193) (85,596)
Profit before tax B& A B2 F 11 1,624,110 2,676,555
Income tax expense FriSisz 10 (789,741) (1,261,736)
Profit for the year AN JE 5 A 834,369 1,414,819
Other comprehensive expense, HAh 22 B (FIBRFT1SED)
net of income tax
Item that may be reclassified HierEmoEEEme
subsequently to profit or loss: HH
Exchange differences arising BMEEEZIERZR
on translation - (1,518)
Profit and total comprehensive RELmMNRE2EBALRE
income for the year 834,369 1,413,301

Profit for the year attributable to: AT AT EEREE G -

Owners of the Company KAREAR A 380,245 458,890
Non-controlling interests eI 454,124 955,929

834,369 1,414,819

Profit and total comprehensive LA A TG AREE & R
income for the year ZHEIPABEE :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company NARHEE A 380,245 457,372
Non-controlling interests JEPEAL e RS 454,124 955,929
834,369 1,413,301
Earnings per share FAREF]
Basic (RMB cents) EAR(AREEALD 14 7.75 11.13
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B IR R 2R

At 31 December 2014
R-FE—mFE+=—A=+—H

At 31 December

Rt+t=A=+—H
2014 2013
—2-mF —T=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
itz AR¥T ARBTFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - B &E 15 36,873 31,242
Investment properties REMHE 16 22,676 22,281
Goodwill EES 17 160,210 160,210
Deferred tax assets IRIEFIAE 18 374,386 362,020
Other receivables H b fE U FR A 20 = 888,950
594,145 1,464,703
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties for sale Al EYE 19 25,659,370 15,188,406
Deposit paid for acquisitions Ut e = b (5 P A
of land use rights PR RS 536,161 3,019,783
Trade and other receivables TS K At FE UK IE 20 2,372,615 1,704,386
Tax recoverable A eI IR 253,265 165,587
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR RIS 21 4,184,366 6,618,086
33,005,777 26,696,248
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Deposits received in respect of BlrEEmEES
pre-sale of properties 6,475,013 5,886,447
Deposit received for partial disposal BEYEBH HE —K
of a subsidiary L ilEpNCIE = 160,830
Trade and other payables S5 K EL A P A SRR 22 6,066,708 3,252,384
Loans from equity holders A AEX
— due within one year —R—FREIH 23 820,500 -
Tax payable JERTHIE 514,751 258,849
Bank and other borrowings RITRHMEE
— due within one year — R —F R 24 924,950 2,000,000
14,801,922 11,558,510
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFRE 18,203,855 15,137,738
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEZERREBAE
LIABILITIES 18,798,000 16,602,441
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Loans from equity holders EmisB ANER
— due after one year — R 23 313,118 339,358
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE
— due after one year —R—F1&EH 24 4,506,572 1,700,000
Bonds payable — due after one year FEfIEH — K —F1&2IH] 25 3,018,077 3,003,383
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEEE 18 35,516 103,389
7,873,283 5,146,130
NET ASSETS EEFE 10,924,717 11,456,311
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NIRRT

At 31 December 2014
R-F—MFEF—H=1—H

At 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2014 2013
=g-mE T =F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
k=3 AR® T ARBFIT
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EARR#E

Issued equity B EITRA 26 39,132 39,132
Reserves fEE 4,552,764 5,178,158

Equity attributable to owners RATHEE ANELER
of the Company 4,591,896 5,217,290
Non-controlling interests JEIE AR RE RS 39 6,332,821 6,239,021
TOTAL EQUITY ESAE 10,924,717 11,456,311

The consolidated financial statements on pages 98 to
213 were approved and authorised for issue by the board
of directors on 13 February 2015 and are signed on its
behalf by:

DIRECTOR
EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
meEESER

For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—FT—MF+=A=1—HIFE

Attributable to equity owner of the Company

RAAERFEARE
Issued equity
[BE i
Equity Non-
Share Other Share Other transaction Translation  Retained controlling Total
capital capital ~ premium  reserves reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
Ba  HtBx  RGEE  EtEE BEUGRE  EXRE  REEA & FBREE  BREE
RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARET ARETT AREBTR ARETR ARETT ARETn ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
(note 26) (note i) note )
(Hitze) (Hiti) ()
At 1 January 2013 (restated) W-E-=E-A-A(E) 8,710 358,073 - 161,196 - 4603 890868 1423450 1952402 3375852
Profit and total comprehensive EREtREe (7R
(expense) income for the year flEesE - - - - - (1518) 458890 457372 955929 1,413,301
Capital injection by holding company ~ BRAFTE - 62,456 - - - - - 62,456 - 62,456
Effect of Restructuring L7
(as defined in note 34(v)) (EE 24 - - - (739801) = = - (739801) - (739800)
Acquisition of assets through acquisition  EBUEE—RHBAA
of a subsidiary (note 26) WEEBE(Wz28) = = = = = = = = 453 453)
Effects of the Transaction 558
(as defined in note 2) (EzRMH) - (420529 61,158 (1,823,590) = - - (218291 - (218291
Arising from the Transactions RHHEE
(as defined in note 2) (ERAMR)
- isuie of placing shares, ~BTRERD -
net of transaction costs BT EHA 7451 - 1,480,361 - - - - 1487812 - 1487812
~ ssue of consideration shares ~mERAR
{0 holding company BARERR 297 - 46859 - = = - 470896 - 4708962
Capital injection by non-controlling FHERERREATE
equity holders - - - - - - - - 3470158 3,470,158
Dividend declared (note 13) BERRE(HiE13) = = = = = = - - (1440000 (144,000)
At 31 December 2013 R=F-=F+-A=1-A 39,132 - 6221510 (2,402,195 - 3,085 1349758 5217290 6,239,021 11,456,311
Profit and total comprehensive income ~ FREF REATIEEE
for the year - - - - - - 380245 380245 454124 834369
Acquisition of additional interestin -~ RE-FIF2AHBAFZ
a non-wholly owned subsidiary BiMER(W27)
(note 27) - - - - (958,955) - - (958,955)  (253,813) (1,212,768)
Capital injection by non-controlling FERiER
equity holders WEALE = = = - - - - - 13323 1334213
Dividend declared to non-controlling ~~ [I3EE2REREE A
equity holders (note 13) BRRE(H#13) - - - - - - - - (1,440,784) (1,440,784)
Dividend declared (note 13) BERREML3) = - (46.680) - - - - (46,684) - (46,684)
At 31 December 2014 R=F-BF+-A=1-A 39,132 - 6,180,826 (2,402,195  (958,955) 3,085 1,730,003 4591,8% 6,332,821 10,924,717
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REfERgER
IS = | ﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2014
AR —F—Ff+ = A =+—HIFFE

Notes:

(i) Included in retained profits of RMB359,148,000 (2013:
RMB48,197,173) represents statutory reserve of the subsidiaries
established in the PRC. According to the relevant laws in the
PRC, wholly foreign-owned enterprises in the PRC are required
to transfer their net profit after tax, as determined under the PRC
accounting regulations, to a non-distributable reserve fund before
the distribution of a dividend to equity owners. Such reserve fund
can be used to offset the previous years’ losses, if any, and is non-
distributable other than upon liquidation.

(ii) The other reserves comprise of:

(i) The deemed consideration at the date of Completion of
Acquisition (as defined in note 1) as deemed contribution
from Success Well (as defined in note 1);

(i) The consideration of the Sales Shares (as defined in note 2) as
deemed distribution to Success Well;

(i)  The difference between (i) the consideration of the
Restructuring (as defined in note 34(iv)); and (ii) the paid-
up capital of the entities of the Target Group contributed by
Eureka (as defined in note 1) at the date of Restructuring,
deducted by the share capital and share premium of the
Company at the date of Restructuring.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

meaRieRER

For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—FT—MF+=A=1—HIFE

2014 2013
—E-NE =%
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RExK
Profit before tax BT BT g A 1,624,110 2,676,555
Adjustments for: BTFIFE -
Depreciation of property, ME - BE RERETE
plant and equipment 3,142 2,199
Depreciation of investment properties ~ B&¥ 2 E 336 511
Interest expenses FBRX 273,193 85,596
Reversal of written down on ATt W 2 HOR B )
properties for sale - (154,000)
Loss on write off of property, WHEME - BE&EEBE
plant and equipment = 6
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE  BERSEL
plant and equipment Wias (10) =
Gain on disposal of investment properties &% & Y% 2 Wz - (43,213)
Interest income F B A (54,299) (33,629)
Unrealised net foreign exchange gains  REIRE 5 25558 (2,094) (69,028)
Operating cash flows before movements &iE& ¢ &85
in working capital REREME 1,844,378 2,464,997
(Increase) decrease in properties for sale R[4 & 93 (4 hn) 5> (10,178,476) 1,016,793
Decrease (increase) in deposit paid U B + 3t {58 R AR 1R S
for acquisition of land use rights A (4 0) 2,483,622 (3,019,783)
(Increase) decrease in trade and B N E A R EIE
other receivables (&) (244,163) 16,403
(Increase) decrease in restricted bank & ZEISET A X IR RT3
deposits for operating use () (3.410) 14,704
Increase (decrease) in deposits received BUTEBEYEiZS
in respect of pre-sale of properties EANCRED) 588,566 (110,260)
Increase (decrease) in trade B N E AN 2R
and other payables #ICRD) 350,120 (1,006,074)
Cash used in operations BRI S (5,159,363) (623,220)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid B BEMEMER (296,600) (695,748)
Land Appreciation Tax paid BT ER (761,135) (561,916)
Interest received B UF B 54,299 33,629
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING KEER
ACTIVITIES ERRLRE (6,162,799) (1,847,255)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

2014 2013
—E-MmF —T—=F
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
Hiat AR®T T ARETTT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETH
Repayment from non-controlling equity ~ ZR & EIF B A AR AL EzS
holders of subsidiaries of the Group BEAERK 201,466 -
Proceeds received on disposal of HEYE  BENKRE
property, plant and equipment PriSEE 10 -
Net advance to non-controlling equity — [FIZREEKTE A BFEERR
holders of subsidiaries of the Group A AT (51,920) (376,605)
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE  WE&ZE
equipment (7,466) (1,299)
Net repayment from fellow subsidiaries R ZHIB D RIEZF 58 = 555
Net repayment from an intermediate —REEERAREREHE
holding company = 2,976,667
Proceeds received on disposal of HEREMEMSIA
investment properties = 54,780
Acquisition of assets through acquisition & :BUE—KE AT
of a subsidiary WS E 28 - (103,852)
NET CASH FROM INVESTING RETH
ACTIVITIES FisREFHE 142,090 2,550,246
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

meaRieRER

For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—FT—MF+=A=1—HIFE

2014 2013
—E-mE  —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT ARETT

FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEED
New bank and other borrowings raised MEERTREMES 5,039,522 3,700,000
Capital contributed by non-controlling AE BN B A IEEA

equity holders of subsidiaries HENLE

of the Group 1,334,196 1,032,476
Net advance from (repayment to) REAEE B A AR

non-controlling equity holders BEAZBFFRE(AAESR

of subsidiaries of the Group MB A RISEE R ERITE A

BHUEEE) 943,082 (585,996)

Net advance from (repayment to) KE—REEIERA A Z B

an intermediate holding company SREE (B — R BB A TIER

SHEE) 62,890 (3,848,498)

Bank borrowings repaid EBRITEE (3,308,000) (210,351)
Interest paid BEAFE (454,419) (201,716)
Dividends paid EARRE (46,684) (8,167)
Dividend paid to non-controlling equity B AEE B A R IR =

holders of subsidiaries of the Group HBEAZKRE - (144,000)
Proceeds from issue of bonds, net of BATEFFISRUE

transaction costs HBRRZ SR A = 3,061,721
Proceeds from issue of shares BATR 1D FT1S R0E - 1,487,812
Deposit received for partial disposal BEUEH S HE—KMBA A

of a subsidiary bz = 160,830
Advance from immediate holding company kB B#&IEKA 7 2 B3k - 1,621
Consideration paid to holding company BER 5 (EE RHEE2)

under the Transaction MIER A TR E

(as defined in note 2) - (593,983)
Repayment to fellow subsidiaries MR R B A RER - (6,015)
Repayment to a shareholder MARBREER

of the Company = (4,054)
Repayment to immediate holding company [RE &2 A A& K - (4,054)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES mEZSHREBREFE 3,570,587 3,837,626
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH ReRkERESER

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R EnEEE (2,450,122) 4,540,617
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE F#RERZERRLEH

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 6,618,086 2,134,944
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EREFFHE 12,992 (57,475)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE SX&BERZFEHEEL£ER -

END OF THE YEAR,

represented by bank balances and cash EBIRTESREIRS 4,180,956 6,618,086
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GENERAL

China Merchants Land Limited (the "Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to
as the “Group”) is incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as a limited liability company and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange”). The address of
the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section to the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding and the principal activities of its subsidiaries
are set out in note 38.

On 24 April 2012, a sales and purchase agreement
was entered into between Success Well Investments
Limited (”Success Well”) and Skill China Limited
("Skill China”) in connection with the acquisition of
approximately 66.18% of the aggregate issued share
capital of the Company. On 27 April 2012, a sales
and purchase agreement was entered into between
Success Well and Greatest Mark Limited (”Greatest
Mark") in connection with 4% of the aggregate
issued share capital of the Company (the above said
acquisitions hereinafter collectively referred to as
the "Acquisition”). The Acquisition was completed
on 7 May 2012 (the "Completion”) and after the
Completion, the Company’s immediate holding
company became Success Well, which is a limited
liability company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the "BVI”) and is indirectly wholly-owned
by Eureka Investment Company Limited (“Eureka”),
which became the intermediate holding company
of the Company. Eureka is directly owned by China
Merchants Property Development Co., Ltd ("CMPD"),
which is established in the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC") and listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange Limited and Singapore Stock Exchange
Limited. The ultimate holding company of the
Company became China Merchants Group Limited
("CMG"). CMG is a PRC enterprise regulated
and directly managed by the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the
State Council and CMG is owned and controlled by
the PRC government.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B 7 R R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—T—pEf+ - =+—HIFFE
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GENERAL (continued)

Prior to the Acquisition, Skill China was the
immediate and ultimate holding company of the
Company.

MERGER ACCOUNTING AND
RESTATEMENTS

The Group accounts for all its business combinations
involving entities under common control using
the principles of merger accounting. On 24 April
2013, the Company (as the purchaser), Eureka (as
the seller) and CMPD entered into an agreement,
which was amended and supplemented on 22
September 2013, pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to acquire, and Eureka has
conditionally agreed to sell: (i) 50% of the issued
share capital of Harpen Company Limited (“Harpen”)
and all the issued share capital of Converge Holdings
Limited ("Converge”), Sino Action Investments
Limited ("Sino Action”) and Happy City Investments
Limited ("Happy City”) (hereinafter, collectively
referred to as the “Sales Shares”) from Eureka, and
(ii) the shareholder’s loans outstanding and owing
by each of Harpen, Converge, Sino Action and
Happy City (“Shareholder’s Loans”) (hereinafter,
Harpen, Converge, Sino Actions and Happy City
and their subsidiaries are collectively referred
to as the "Target Group”). The consideration
is approximately RMB5,302,945,000, including
approximately RMB2,182,956,000 for the Sales
Shares and approximately RMB3,119,989,000 for
the Shareholder’s Loans. To satisfy the consideration,
the Company issued new shares at issue price
of HK$2.05 per share of which 2,897,028,703
consideration new shares were issued to the seller
for aggregate consideration of HK$5,938,909,000
(equivalent to RMB4,708,962,000) and 939,760,297
placing shares were issued to new investors for
aggregate consideration of HK$1,926,509,000
(equivalent to RMB1,527,529,000) of which
proceeds from issuance of 365,428,529 placing
shares amounting to RMB593,983,000 was utilised
to settle the consideration. The details of the
transaction was set out in the Company’s circular
dated 10 October 2013 (the “Transaction”). The
Transaction was completed on 1 November 2013.
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MERGER ACCOUNTING AND
RESTATEMENTS (continued)

As the Company and its subsidiaries (before
the completion of the Transaction, hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Existing Group”) and
the Target Group are under the common control of
Eureka both before and after the Transaction and
Eureka’s control of the Company and Target Group
is not transitory, the transaction is considered as
combination of business under common control
and accounted for under merger basis. In applying
merger accounting, the Existing Group is deemed to
have been acquired at the date of completion and
the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the following bases:

(i) The assets and liabilities of the Target Group
are recognised and measured at their carrying
amounts;

(i) The identified assets and liabilities of the
Existing Group are recognised and measured
initially at their fair values on the date of
Completion; and

(iii) The comparative figures are restated to include
the Target Group for the whole of the year
ended 31 December 2012.
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2. MERGER ACCOUNTING AND

RESTATEMENTS (continued)

In preparing these consolidated financial statements,
the acquisition method of accounting is applied to
account for the acquisition of the Existing Group
under the Acquisition. In applying the acquisition
method, the consideration of the Acquisition paid
by Success Well is the deemed consideration paid
to acquire the Existing Group as at the date of
Completion. The separately identifiable assets and
liabilities of the Existing Group recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position were
at their fair value as at the date of Completion.
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Existing
Group was recognised as at the date of Completion.
The results of the Existing Group are consolidated
to the Company'’s consolidated financial statements
from the date of Completion.

Upon the completion of the Transaction, the
functional currency of the Company has changed
from Hong Kong Dollars ("HK$") to Renminbi
("RMB") as the primary economic environment
of the Company changed to a PRC business
environment. Following the change of functional
currency of the Company, the Company changed the
presentation currency of its consolidated financial
statements from HK$ to RMB.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. EAFHITIR KBS BMER
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING S£XB([FBHBHREED )
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

The Group has applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") for the

RAFE  AEBEEERERATIEES
B AE (BRGNS ) BEM 2]
RASERTBRMBIHRELR

first time in the current year:

ERMBREEAEI0% . RAER
BENBREEAE 128
REEHHREED
2R 2B

BRGENENGR LT AHEREELERAR

il

Amendments to Investment Entities
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12

and HKFRS 27

Amendments to Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
HKAS 32 Liabilities

Amendments to Recoverable Amount Disclosures for
HKAS 36 Non-Financial Assets

ERGEAEN0RLET  FEREEL
AlE e B

Amendments to Novation of Agriculture and Continuation BAGHEAZION B  BEC/FERMNENEL
HKAS 39 of Hedge Accounting Tt
HK(IFRIC) - Int 21 Levies EE(EREBRERE HE

ZEg)-REBEVR

RAFREERBHTREETEEVERE
BT EHAFENBEFEAKE 2/
BRERKR R, LZEHE P BERRA
HIEBENEATE -

The application of the new and revised HKFRSs in
the current year has had no material impact on the
Group's financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (continued)
The Group has not early applied the following new
and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments’

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts?

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers3

Amendments to Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
HKFRS 11 in Joint Operations®

Amendments to Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
HKAS 16 and Depreciation and Amortisation®
HKAS 38

Amendments to Agriculture: Bearer Plants®
HKAS 16 and
HKAS 41

Amendments to Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
HKAS 19 Contributions?

Amendments to Equity Method in Separate Financial
HKAS 27 Statements®

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between
HKFRS 10 an Investor and its Associate
and HKAS 28 or Joint Venture®

Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle®

Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle*

Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018,
with earlier application permitted.

2 Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning on
or after 1 January 2016, with earlier application permitted.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017,
with earlier application permitted.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014,
with earlier application permitted.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016,
with earlier application permitted.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014,

with limited exceptions. Earlier application permitted.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

In July 2014, HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes
a single comprehensive model for entities to use in
accounting for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18
Revenue, HKAS 11 construction Contracts and the
related interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity
should recognise revenue to depict the transfer
of promised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services. Specifically, the Standard
introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e  Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in
the contract

e  Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

. Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the
entity satisfies a performance obligation
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—FT—MF+=A=1—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") (continued)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognizes revenue when
(or as) a performance obligations satisfied, i.e. when
‘control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligations is transferred
to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance
has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are
required by HKFRS 15.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 15 in the future may have
a material impact on the amounts reported and
disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements, however, it is not practicable to
provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS
15 until the Group performs a detailed review.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below. Historical cost is generally
based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or
value in use in HKAS 36.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FES:EHEm)

(continued)

Basis of preparation (continued) IRBLEYE (&)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair o - BB BHmEmME - AFEFEERA

value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

e lLevel 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the
voting rights of the investee, it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give
it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group's voting rights in the
investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

e  potential voting rights held by the Group, other
vote holders or other parties;

e rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Group has, or does not
have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transaction
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries that do not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FESFHBE®

(continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured
at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-
based Payment” at the acquisition date; and

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations” are measured in accordance with
that standard.

@ CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2014

EBast

WIEREBRKBEEAR REBEHTZ
REFZALFEFE - A FEIZAS
BFTEREE  BAAKERRKET Z A
BB ARELZ B EARANEE BIRERK
Wi 2 ERIEmBET 2 REZWERR
FEANGTE - BRERBE KA —RE
RELRAERRER

RUER - EWEE 2 FIRRI & E A AL
ZEBERERNFETAER  HTHIER
BRSO -

s EEBBEBEXABRERERNZ
WA EERRBEDIREEES
FHERF1 2SR R B A G ER
F15R[EBREN R R E

o ERIRUNEE T AR R ETE 2 R BE
FAEE D AT LA R EE TT 2 A
DRERZNRL AN BERZ
NRZHEBcBBEIBRATAEIR
WHERMREE BN MG LRNE2
SRIARM RERZ IR IFHE - &

o REFABUBWMELEESKIFFIEL
EZHRBDEERCKRILEEEK]
D ARFEHEZEE(RHLEAS)
RIBZLERFTE -



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-
assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation may be initially measured either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transactions basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specifies in another HKFRS.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B 7 R R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Merger accounting for business
combinations involving entities under
common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements items of the combining
entities or businesses in which the common control
combination occurs as if they had been combined
from the date when the combining entities or
businesses first came under the control of the
controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or
businesses are consolidated using the existing book
values from the controlling party’'s perspective.
No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill
or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair
value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities over cost at the time of
common control combination, to the extent of the
continuation of the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income includes the results of
each of the combining entities or businesses from
the earliest date presented or since the date when
the combining entities or businesses first came
under the common control, where this is a shorter
period, regardless of the date of the common
control combination. The comparative amounts in
the consolidated financial statements are presented
as if the entities or businesses had been combined
at the end of the previous reporting period or when
they first came under common control, whichever is
shorter.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business (see the accounting policy
above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units (or groups of cash-generating units) that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the
other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly
in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of items of property, plant and equipment less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification of
each element as a finance or an operating lease
separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred
to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire lease
is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the
minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the
land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the
land element and building element of the lease at
the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as "prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted
for as property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as
to write off the cost of investment properties over
their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account of their estimated residual value, using the
straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the
period in which the property is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Properties for sale

Properties under development held for sale under
current assets are properties under development
held for future sale in the ordinary course of business
and are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost includes the costs of land, development
expenditure incurred and, where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value is
determined based on prevailing market conditions.
Net realisable value takes into account the price
ultimately expected to be realised, less applicable
variable selling expenses and the anticipated cost
to completion. Upon completion, the properties are
transferred to completed properties for sale.

Completed properties for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes the
costs of land, development expenditure incurred and,
where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net
realisable value is determined based on prevailing
market conditions.

The Group transfers a property from properties
for sale to land and buildings at cost when there
is a change of use for the land and buildings for
administrative purpose rather than for sale in the
ordinary course of business.

The Group transfers a property from properties for
sale to investments property at cost when there is
a change of intention to hold the property to earn
rentals or land for capital appreciation rather than
for sale in the ordinary course of business, which is
evidenced by the commencement of an operating
lease to another party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B 7 R R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into loans
and receivables. The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—FT—MF+=A=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. Loans and
receivables (including trade and other receivables,
restricted bank deposits and bank balances and cash)
are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment
losses (see accounting policy on impairment of loans
and receivables below).

Impairment of loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are assessed for indicators
of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Loans and receivables are considered to be impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

Objective evidence of impairment of loans and
receivables could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

. breach of contract, such as default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;
or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of loans and receivables (continued)

The carrying amount of the loan and receivable
is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all
loan and receivable with the exception of trade
receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible,
it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited to profit or loss. Changes in the
carrying amount of the allowance account are
recognised in profit or loss.

The amount of the impairment loss recognised is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective
interest basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities of the Group (including trade
and other payables, loans from equity holders,
bonds payable and bank and other borrowings) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the original or modified terms of a
debt instrument.

A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group
and not designated at fair value through profit or
loss is recognised initially at fair value less transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issue of
the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent to
initial recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount
of the obligation under the contract, as determined
in accordance with HKAS 37 "Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets”, and (ii) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance
with the revenue recognition policy.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire or, when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group's obligations are
discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (see the
accounting policy in respect of goodwill
above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (see the
accounting policy in respect of goodwill
above) (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and represents
amounts receivable for goods sold and services
provided in the normal course of business, net of
discounts, estimated customer returns and rebates.

Specifically, revenue from sales of goods/sale of
properties in the ordinary course of business is
recognised when the respective goods/properties
have been completed and delivered to the buyers, at
which time all of the following criteria are satisfied:

e the Group has transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of
the goods/properties;

e the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership nor effective control over the
goods/properties sold;

e the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably;

e it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the transaction will flow to the
Group; and

e the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect
of the transaction can be measured reliably.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Deposits and instalments received from purchasers
prior to meeting the above criteria for revenue
recognition are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position as “Deposits received
in respect of pre-sale of properties” under current
liabilities.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised
when it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of income can be
measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Service income is recognised when the relevant
services are rendered.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of
revenue from operating leases is described in the
accounting policy for leasing below.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contributions retirement
benefits plans/state-managed retirement benefit
schemes/Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”), are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual entity comprising the Group, transactions
in currencies other than the functional currency of
that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—FT—MF+=A=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. xESTEEm@)
(continued)
Foreign currencies (continued) %#(ﬂfé*)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise, except for:

e exchange differences on foreign currency
borrowings relating to assets under construction
for future productive use, which are included in
the cost of those assets when they are regarded
as an adjustment to interest costs on those
foreign currency borrowings;

e exchange differences on transactions entered
into in order to hedge certain foreign currency
risks; and

e exchange differences on monetary items
receivable from or payable to a foreign

RENBTHEERREELCENZR
i’]EAFEHHF'EJH’\?@ SHERR AT IR B RS

s EFRMARAEERZIEREEZIN
BEEELZENEAINEEREZH
BRARER  BREZRFAZTE
BEZRA

s XRGLEREBRYEMETINER
B K

o RUHEMN-EBINEBKZEEIRE
EXER  BEEEE  BHEEHE

operation for which settlement is neither AREE TR - (MAGINEBERE
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming 5$%E*ﬁ5’“)‘%ﬂb’:ﬁéﬁ@’i\ﬁﬂﬁ)\ﬁ§
part of the net investment in the foreign RENEREHIEERAEREND

operation), which are recognised initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassified
from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group's foreign operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax as reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax for the year

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and
the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax for the year (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of their assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax for the year (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and
is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale. If the presumption
is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax
assets for such investment properties are measured
in accordance with the above general principles set
out in HKAS 12 (i.e. based on the expected manner as
to how the properties will be recovered).

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—FT—MF+=A=1—HIFE

5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 5. AEMELETHBPREZETE
UNCERTAINTY RIR
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, R E R EEARTI 2 AR R B & SHBUR R - R
which are described in note 4, the directors of ARIEFARMEMBRTIEMNZ R &
the Company are required to make judgements, ERXAEREBEELHE G5t RERE -
estimates and assumptions about the carrying ﬁﬁ&ﬁfﬁfﬁjmuﬂffﬂ“%’i&%&ﬁﬁ’jﬁf’@
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily ZJHEMAZAERSE ER&R
apparent from other sources. The estimates and RIRZE T

associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these

estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are ZEMFT RBAREEGRHERN - WE
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to EHBET 2 BRI ER BT A - AgRn
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in ZAA R RS AT 285 - HEETR
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects LREERARREME - Al RMEET AR K
only that period, or in the period of the revision and HiMmR g AT 2 7] -

future periods if the revision affects both current and

future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning T RERERZEERS  RRERE
the future, and other key sources of estimation ﬁﬁf‘ﬁ%%ﬁZﬁ‘rﬁﬁﬁT%Eﬂl%Zig
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, KR eH TRV BREFENCEEREE
that have a significant risk of causing a material REEEHERFAR 2 ERER °

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets of RMB374,386,000 (2013:
RMB362,020,000) mainly in relation to tax losses
and land appreciation tax ("LAT"”) have been
recognised at 31 December 2014, respectively, as set
out in note 18. The realisability of the deferred tax
assets mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary differences will be
available in the future. The directors of the Company
determine the deferred tax assets based on the
enacted or substantially enacted tax rates and the
best knowledge of profit projections of the Group
for coming years during which the deferred tax
assets are expected to be utilised. The directors of
the Company will review the assumptions and profit
projections by the end of the reporting period. In
cases where the actual future profits generated are
less than expected or there is a downward revision
of estimated future profits, a reversal of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the period in which such
a reversal takes place.

LAT

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. However,
the implementation of the tax varies amongst
different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC
and certain projects of the Group have not finalised
their LAT calculations with their local tax authorities
in the PRC. Accordingly, significant judgement
is required in determining the amount of land
appreciation and its related income tax provisions.
The Group recognised the land appreciation tax
based on management’s best estimates. The final
tax outcome could be different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, and these differences
will impact the income tax expense and the related
income tax provisions in the periods in which such
tax is finalised with local tax authorities. The carrying
amount of LAT payables is disclosed in note 22.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Estimated write down of properties for
sale

The Group records properties for sale at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value of
properties for sale is calculated as estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, minus
estimated cost of completion (if any), and estimated
selling expenses which are estimated based on best
available information.

The Group writes down properties for sale to
net realisable value based on assessment of the
realisability of properties for sale, taking into account
costs to completion based on past experience
and net sales value based on past experience and
prevailing market conditions. If there is an increase in
costs to completion or a decrease in net sales value,
the net realisable value will decrease and this might
result in write-downs of properties for sale to net
realisable value. Write-downs are recorded where
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the balances may not be realised. The identification
of write-downs requires the use of judgements
and estimates. If the expectation is different, it will
impact the carrying value of properties for sale in the
period in which such estimate is changed.

The carrying amount of properties for sale of
RMB25,659,370,000 (2013: RMB15,188,406,000) as
at 31 December 2014 are set out in note 19.

5.
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6. REVENUE 6. Wz
An analysis of the Group's revenue by major BRAFEXZERERBERNE S 2R E
products and service categories for the year is as Bz o
follows:
2014 2013
=g-mE T =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETT
Sales of properties for sale SHER LS 7,434,679 6,838,789
Sales of building related materials IHEEERAM R RERE
and equipment 1,137 48,884
Rental income from investment properties K B &M% 2 BE WA 4,620 5,539
Sales of electronic and electrical related  $HEE T+~ ERIEBEE S
products - 34,659
7,440,436 6,927,871
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. oHER
The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 Operating REBBRNE BB I EERIESHRL =
Segments, which requires operating segments to DEp - ZEARELE D EREELER
be identified on the basis of internal report about RERIPEERZEZ DI RFHERIREME
the components of the Group that are regularly HAER B AN SR B %% B Y 2 P B o 45 5 A
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in DE  FBEERRERADAES -

order to allocate resources to segments and to assess
their performance. The chief operating decision
maker is the Company's directors.

For the management purpose, the Group is currently RABEER  AEBZAHBERATHMIHE
organised into the following two operating and BEREHDE - ()%%Ffﬁ?‘&%’%&%
reportable segments: (i) Development and sales ZHE(MESH]D  R()EFRERA
of properties and property leasing (“Properties 9 2 o DA SR S SEAR A M B T 3R fﬁiﬁ’%(ﬁ’f
Segment”); and (ii) sales of electronic and electrical S0 -

related products and building related materials and
equipment (“Trading Segment”).
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. 3 EBE&ERI )
Segment revenue and results D EBUN R R A

UNTRIZAIZB/ELEDBE D 2 AEH
Yoz B DT

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and results by reportable and operating segments.

Trading Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
BES05 L Eagil =E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR%®TR AR¥Tx
For the year ended 31 BE—Z-—NF+=A
December 2014 =t+—HLEE
Segment revenue o EU s
— external customers — SN R 1,137 7,439,299 7,440,436
Segment results DEHEE 50 1,729,338 1,729,388
Net foreign exchange gains P& 5 Uk o 58 20,237
Finance costs BhA& Bk 2R (128,191)
Interest income 2 U A 21,059
Unallocated corporate expenses & Bl Al H (18,383)
Profit before tax % Bt Bl Vs ) 1,624,110
Trading Properties
Segment Segment  Consolidated
g0 55 & kRE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT AREBTT
For the year ended 31 BE-Z—=%+=A
December 2013 =t+—HLEE
Segment revenue panz G
— external customers — I NERE 83,543 6,844,328 6,927,871
Segment results DEBELE 2,268 2,630,343 2,632,611
Net foreign exchange gains b W e 558 102,953
Finance costs BhE& Ak 2R (8,683)
Interest income B U A 60
Unallocated corporate expenses &7 B A FISZH (50,386)
Profit before tax B 55 Az A 2,676,555
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

7. DEEE @)

Segment revenue and results (continued) pan =S ESAE )

There were no inter-segment sales during the year. RAFER - WHEHEHEHEE o

The accounting policies of the operating segments KEDE 2 SETBOR AN AT AR EE 2
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies GETEEMAR - HEBEAIEE H ;AN &

described in note 4. Segment result represents the
profit earned by each segment without allocation of
unallocated corporate costs, finance costs, interest
income and certain net foreign exchange gains. This is

DERDEERARIKA ~ BEKA « F B
ARE TE S W F BRI AT RBUE R 1t
DRAERLERREEREERDBEE MK
RHa ARG  BEEE

the measure reported to the chief operating decision
maker for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets
and liabilities by reportable and operating segments:

THREERERE
AT RIBAIZB/ELEDHE D 2 AEH
BERBED

Trading Properties

Segment Segment Consolidated
E50E L E R wRE
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥TR AR%TR AR®¥Tx

At 31 December 2014 R-ZE—NE

+=—A=+—H

Segment assets DEREE 16,330 32,559,025 32,575,355
Goodwiill EES 160,210
Other unallocated assets HEhRknEEE 864,357
Total assets BEMAE 33,599,922
Segment liabilities DEEE 6,287 18,331,889 18,338,176
Other unallocated liabilities Hih kD BE 4,337,029
Total liabilities BEes 22,675,205
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—FT—MF+=A=1—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. PEER @)
Segment assets and liabilities (continued) PHWEEREB#H)
Trading Properties
Segment Segment  Consolidated
B 50 R e
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREETTT ARETIT
At 31 December 2013 R-s—=%
+=B=+—8

Segment assets HEEE 32,192 24,870,799 24,902,991
Goodwill EES 160,210
Other unallocated assets B ADEEE 3,097,750
Total assets BEBAE 28,160,951
Segment liabilities DEBEE 20,189 13,655,416 13,675,605
Other unallocated liabilities Hih kDB BE 3,029,035
Total liabilities A& 16,704,640

For the purposes of monitoring segment
performance and allocating resources between
segments:

e all assets, other than goodwill and assets of the
investment holding companies, are allocated to
reportable and operating segments; and

e all liabilities, other than bonds payable,
loans from equity holders and bank and
other borrowings of the investment holding
companies, are allocated to reportable and
operating segments.

REENBRERNDHEAEEIRME :

s MBEE(TERAERREZERA
AEE)OOIREENZHRELZED

2B K

e FMARB(IBREfMNEZS  REE
BRI SR B AERRIRITRE
EE)IDEER 2HELEDH
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. DWER @)

Other information HAth & K}
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit AESERMNEER D BEEMTRZ
or loss or segment assets. FNIE ©

Trading Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
BZ0H ME DA =E
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRET AR®BTRT AR®TR

For the year ended BE-Z-—HNF+=A4

31 December 2014 =+—HIEFE
Addition to non-current assets  JEREIEERNE

(note) (Kizt) 61 9,443 9,504
Interest income FEWA 16 33,224 33,240
Depreciation of property, plant  #% - BE kR EITE

and equipment 25 3,117 3,142
Depreciation of investment KEYERE

properties - 336 336
For the year ended BE-ZT-—=H+=A8

31 December 2013 =t+—HIEFE
Addition to non-current assets  FEREIEERE

(note) (Hizt) 85 20,948 21,033
Interest income F B YA - 33,569 33,569
Depreciation of property, plant ¥ - iR kKB ETE

and equipment 10 2,189 2,199
Depreciation of investment WEMERE

properties - 511 511
Reversal of written down on A 1 ) OB B [l

properties for sale - (154,000) (154,000)
Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets and financial Hiat - IERMEBEETORELCHIEEEREREE ©

assets.

The Group’s revenue from external customers is REBKRBINITR Z WA RREHE
derived from the PRC. No single customer of the REBWESE -XFPRAEENEFE 2
Group contributed 10% or more to the Group's W B R 10% 3 A | o

revenue for both years.

Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets REBRBRBHFERDEE(TRIELAEER
which exclude deferred tax assets of the Group are EEFIEE E ) (R R o

located in the PRC.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—FT—MF+=A=1—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. DEERE @)

Geographical informations o 7 &

The Group's properties segment are located in AEBZMEDSBMAREL - BEM - BER
Foshan, Guangzhou, Nanjing and Jurong, Chongging MaA -  EEFRAR -

and Xi'an.

Information about the revenue from external RIEEEMEM 2B R ES BINEE
customers of Properties Segment and the assets Pas RMESBEEZER -

of Properties Segment is presented based on the
location of the assets.

Revenue from

external customers Segment assets
RENIREF 2WE DHEE
2014 2013 2014 2013

—E-mFE —FT-=F ZE-OF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRE ARBTT AR®TT ARETT

Foshan AN 5,014,055 4,382,964 9,725,235 11,027,424
Guangzhou I 1,063,538 859,480 4,756,827 1,936,324
Nanjing and Jurong ERNKAA 295,497 1,075,471 7,632,682 5,089,187
Chongging 5E 1,066,209 526,413 9,377,288 6,817,864
Xi‘an AR - - 1,066,993 -

7,439,299 6,844,328 32,559,025 24,870,799
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

8. OTHER INCOME 8. HA
2014 2013
—E—MF —E—=F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR® T ARET T
Bank interest income ERITHBHA 54,299 31,288

Interest income from an intermediate KEH—FKEEERARZ

holding company FE U A = 2,341
Gain on disposal of investment properties H&E&RE W E IS - 43,213
Others Hith 6,314 29,545
60,613 106,387

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BMEMRA
2014 2013
—E—MF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T ARET T

Interest on bank and other borrowings ~ EREFRNZHEEB 2 BITR
H

fEEZHE

wholly repayable within five years

— bank and other borrowings —RITREMEE 328,048 143,380
— loans from an intermediate —B—ZREBRZERARZ
holding company B& 26,683 38,293
— loans from non-controlling equity — BAREEKE R A FEEK
holders of subsidiaries of the Group EREFEEAZER 56,142 24,256
— bonds — &% 155,539 8,638
Total borrowing costs RIEERA 566,412 214,567
Less: Amount capitalised in the cost B BEMMRAEEREE
of qualifying assets AN 2 FRI8 (293,219) (128,971)

273,193 85,596

Borrowing costs capitalised to properties under
development for sale were determined by the
contracted interest rates of respective specific
borrowings as disclosed in notes 23, 24 and 25.

@ CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2014

BEENMLAHEERETRMEZEEK
NIRMTEE23 ~ 24 RSB REFEEE
ZEHFERETE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B IS R R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—FT—MF+=A=1—HIFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. R8BI

2014 2013
—E-mEF =%
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETTT

The charge (credit) comprises: S H(ER)BEE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") REDERER
(TZEMEH)
— Current year —KREE 333,839 558,923
— Under(over)provision in prior years —BEFEREBETR
(RRERME) 5,747 (1,210)
Dividend withholding tax & S TEHF 97,502 -
LAT +ihEER 432,892 698,550
869,980 1,256,263
Deferred tax (note 18) EERTE (F13E18) (80,239) 5,473

789,741 1,261,736

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax
(the "EIT Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of
the EIT Law, the statutory EIT rate of the subsidiaries
incorporated in the PRC is 25%. Further, 5% or
10% withholding income tax is generally imposed
on dividends relating to profits earned by PRC
entities that are owned by non-PRC entities within
the Group.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30%
to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being
the proceeds of sales of properties less deductible
expenditures including cost of land use right and all
property development expenditures.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made as the Group has no assessable profit in Hong
Kong for both years.

RIFHBEREAFEA(REMREBE])
RBERBBIABIRES - R BT
YZMBRAIZEELEMBRRER
25% ° Lo - NEEE TP B E AT
B2 P EER—RAEMRIUEN 2 &
BBIR5%3H10% 2 FRIRFTIS L

T IEE R 12 i I E (B E TS K
BREEIHEREKNARBENERR
FZ A2 AT IR ) N F30% E60% 2
EIB T R -

B N 55 [ 70 P ) 3 B B R AR B s
M A EER BB NISHEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. FriSBiZ Ha)
The income tax expense for the year can be REEMEME HMGEEE RAMEH
reconciled to the profit before tax per the Weas R WBR B AT A ETRR A0 T

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

2014 2013
—F-mEF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Profit before tax B A5 B ) 1,624,110 2,676,555

Tax at the income tax rate of 25% (Note) 3%25%FT{EFfifi Rt &>

THIE(HTE) 406,028 669,139

Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR 2 T 2 B &

for tax purposes 31,583 20,649
Tax effect of income not taxable BIEFRRZ WA Z TG &

for tax purposes (10,620) (33,342)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses AT RERZRIBEEZ

previously not recognised MG E (47,752) (73)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERTRIEEE 2 RS T 2 6,046 39,975
PRC LAT R - (B A 432,892 698,550
Tax effect of PRC LAT F BT ET B & (108,223) (174,638)
Under(over)provision in prior years BAEFERENT(BERE) 5,747 (1,210)
Tax effect of deductible temporary AERF MR E R =82

differences not recognised HEE 37,750 18,834
Utilisation of deductible temporary A BA RER AN L b

differences previously not recognised ZH = (38,500)
Dividend withholding tax expense A% B IEHFL B 2 27,397 69,253
Effect of different tax rates in other Hib AR TR E &

jurisdictions 8,893 (6,901)
Income tax expense FrfSHisz 789,741 1,261,736
Note: It represents the tax rate where the operation of the Group is Kt - TR ERBARE D ER T 2 BEE -

substantially based.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—FT—MF+=A=1—HIFE

11. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

11. BRBEANER

2014 2013
—Z-ImF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARBTT
Profit before tax has been arrived B AT M A B (5T &) T3
at after charging (crediting): FBIEBESH ¢
Employee benefits expenses EEBAFX
(including directors’ remuneration): (BEEEHMH)
Salaries and other allowances e R H A ERE 131,234 110,970
Pension scheme contributions RN ETHEIME R 21,370 14,904
Total staff costs BT B%E 152,604 125,874
Less: Amount capitalised to properties B EENMARHDEERE
under development for sale R ¥ 2 308 (73,488) (76,990)
79,116 48,884
Gross rental income from investment REEBES WA
properties (4,620) (5,539)
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred g @ FTES 2 BE& LRI 1,066 1,171
(3,554) (4,368)
Cost of inventories recognised as HRIER S 2 FEKA
an expense 1,104 80,748
Cost of properties for sale recognised HRIEMAS 2 At HEmE
as an expense AR 5,366,420 4,198,464
Reversal of written down on properties At H & ¥ % MR R (GF A
for sale (included in cost of sales) SHERN) - (154,000)
Depreciation of investment properties KEYENE 336 511
Depreciation of property, M - BB REEBITE
plant and equipment 3,142 2,199
Auditor’s remuneration ZE R < 4,765 1,771
Loss on write off of property, WM - BB K& EEE
plant and equipment = 6
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BE REBE
plant and equipment (10) =
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BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

11. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 1. BRFBDEF ()

Included in revenue and profit before tax of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2014 are
RMB 106,789,000 and RMB80,092,000 respectively
which relate to the sale transactions made in
prior periods of car park spaces under Properties
Segment which were previously accounted for as
operating lease transactions. During the year ended
31 December 2014, it is determined that such
transactions should be accounted for as sales under
finance leases. The directors of the Company are
of the view that the amounts, compared to the net
assets and operating results of the Group for the
current and prior years, are immaterial and hence
such amounts have been included in the statement
of profit or loss for the year. The effect on the
profit attributable to the owners of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2014 amounted to
RMB20,423,000.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—FT—MF+=A=1—HIFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S N.EEXE - BEEHTEREEZH
AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS [0}
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 12 ENSEN12ZERER(ZE—=F : 1248)
(2013: 12) directors were as follows: ZEFESIT
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind contributions emoluments

e 2 RIS

e REUEF HE L3N R0
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
Name of Directors EEpgg AR¥ETT AR®TR AR®BTR AR%Trn
2014 —Z2-MmF
Executive directors: HITES :
Dr. So Shu Fai EREEE - 32 2 34
Mr. Hu Jianxin (Note ii) MRS (A ) - 6 - 6
Mr. Liu Zhuogen BEREs - 588 12 600
Mr. Yu Zhiliang RERLE - 737 - 737
Mr. Xian Yaogiang (Note i) Viny eyl ) - 26 - 26
Non-executive directors: FEMITES
Mr. He Jianya* L ita 32 - - 32
Ms. Wu Zhengin RIREH L L 32 - - 32
Ms. Liu Ning BlzEr+ 32 - - 32
Independent non-executive BYUFEHITES
directors:
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert FoxEB L 95 - - 95
Ms. Chen Yanping PRI SE A+ 95 - — 95
Dr. Shi Xinping LR TEL 95 - - 95
Mr. He Qi (Cp=pas 95 - - 95
Total emoluments k=) 476 1,389 14 1,879
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B 7 R R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 1.EE - BFYTEREEZH
AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS ™ )
(continued)
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind  contributions  emoluments
e - EE RBRike
we KEDER HEBSA B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Name of Directors EEMA ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
2013 —E-=F
Executive directors: HITES :
Dr. So Shu Fai ERiEhER LT - 32 2 34
Mr. Hu Jianxin (Note i) I E (W) - 5 - >
Mr. Liu Zhuogen =k S - 32 2 34
Mr. Yu Zhiliang RERLE - 32 - 32
Mr. Huang Peikun (Note i) BT A& (A7) - 19 = 19
Non-executive directors: FMITES ¢
Mr. He Jianya (Note i) Bk s (f) 13 = = 13
Ms. Wu Zhengin (Note i) RIRE L (frati) 9 - - 9
Ms. Liu Ning R=mL £ 32 - - 32
Independent non-executive BIUFMTES
directors:
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert FoxEFLT 63 - - 63
Ms. Chen Yanping PR 3o 47 £ 63 - - 63
Dr. Shi Xinping EHFEL 63 - - 63
Mr. He Qi (Note i) B SC £ (T 32) 11 = = 1
Total emoluments FaE=ail 254 120 4 378
Notes: Hiat -
(i) Appointed during the year (i) RERNEZE
(i) Resigned during the year @iy  REREBHE
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

AND EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors
waived any emoluments in the year ended 31
December 2014 (2013: nil).

The Group's five highest paid individuals during the
year are set out below:

12.

BEE - BFYTEREEZH
)

BE-ZT-—NMEF-A=+—BILEE
BEERERITE T MEERELTAMNS

(Z2—=F %)

REAXKB AU EEHA LT ZHHOT

2014 2013

—E—MF —ET—=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBT T

Salaries and allowances, as employees EEFHo KER 2,504 2,632
Bonus TE4L 3,849 4,031
Pension scheme contributions RINE TR 279 262
6,632 6,925

The emoluments of the highest paid individuals fell
within the following bands:

RRFALZFHMNFIATEHE :

Number of individuals

AE
2014 2013
—E—mF =%
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARBT T
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 7%11,000,001 £ %% 1,500,0007T
(approximately RMB794,400 to (HHAR™ET794,400LF
RMB1,191,600) AR1,191,6007T) 2 2

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
(approximately RMB1,191,600 to
RMB1,588,800)

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
(approximately RMB1,588,800 to
RMB1,986,000)

711,500,001 £ %%2,000,0007T

(HARE1,191,6007TE

AER#1,588,8007T) 2 2
712,000,001 £ %%2,500,0007T

(HAR¥1,588,8007E

AE#1,986,0007T) 1 1

—ToNEER BEREMERAT Qa
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BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12.EE - EEHITEREEZH
AND EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS B )

(continued)

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the REAN - NREBBEREMZESTH AR

Group to any of the directors or the five highest paid
individuals as inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

The emoluments for the ten (2013: ten) senior
management members listed in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this
annual report included four (2013: four) executive

S A B XA HBM - AERE AR N
ARG B 2 BRI E S EBRME -

AEREZRSREEABBE I SHHM
2 +R(ZF—=F : +R)BREEA
BFMermne (T —=F : IHTE
= WEFEZFHMRRN LA EFPIRZ 4T o

directors whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis presented above.

BTIARB(ZE—=F: "B)SREEE
ABZEHBRALAT AR :

The emoluments for the remaining six (2013: six)
senior management member fell within the following
band:

Number of individuals

AE
2014 2013
—E—NF =%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTT

Nil to HK$1,000,000 (approximately
Nil to RMB794,400)

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
(approximately RMB794,400 to
RMB1,191,600)

07T E 7% 1,000,0007T

(#I07CE AR¥794,4007T) 3 2
751,000,001 T &= 6 #E

1,500,0007C(SIAR

#794,400LE AR

1,191,6007T) 1 1
751,500,001 T E B

2,000,0007T (K AR EE

1,191,600TE A R

1,588,8007T) 1 2
752,000,001 TTE B #E

2,500,0007T () A R

1,588,800 AR

1,986,0007T) 1 1

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
(approximately RMB1,191,600 to
RMB1,588,800)

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
(approximately RMB 1,588,800 to
RMB1,986,000)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014

EEr=

13.

14.

FWEF A= —ALFE

DIVIDENDS

During the year ended 31 December 2014, a final
dividend of HK$0.012 per ordinary share in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2013 was declared
and paid to the shareholders of the Company. The
aggregate amount of final dividend declared from
share premium of the Company and paid during the
year amounted to RMB46,684,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2014,
subsidiaries of the Company declared dividends of
RMB2,980,650,000 (2013: RMB288,000,000) to
their shareholders, of which RMB1,440,784,000
(2013: RMB144,000,000) were paid to their non-
controlling equity holders.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
a final dividend in respect of the year ended
31 December 2014 of HK0.01 (equivalent to
approximately RMB0.008) per share has been
proposed by the directors and is subject to approval
by the shareholders in the forthcoming general
meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The weighted average number of shares used for
the purpose of calculating basic earnings per share
for the year ended 31 December 2013 has been
adjusted as if the issue of the Consideration Shares (as
defined in note 26) was at 1 January 2013, on the
basis that the consolidated financial statements are
prepared as if the combined entity represented by
the Existing Group and the Target Group had existed
together from the dates when these groups came
under the control of the common controlling party.

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is
based on the profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company of approximately RMB380,245,000
(2013: RMB458,890,000) and the weighted average
number of 4,905,257,860 (2013: 4,122,553,393)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is not presented for the
year ended 31 December 2014 nor for the year
ended 31 December 2013 as there is no potential
ordinary shares outstanding during the year or at the
end of reporting periods.

13.

14.

% B
REEZE-_ZT—NF+=-A=+—HIEF
B ARRERBEE_ZT—=F+_A8
=+ —HIEFEZREAREESREBERSE
#60.0127T © WAIA QB REIRE o KA
B aaza A R#46,684,000 7T LA R 2 B D
HEEIR - WARFEEIRE

HE_ZT—NOF+=-A=+—HLEFE "
ARFIMBARMERRERKREAR
#2,980,650,000 L (Z T —=F : AR
288,000,0007T) + EA AR ¥1,440,784,000
TL(ZE—=%F : AR¥144,000,0007T)
M E IR R A AT ©

RBERE  EZRZZRNEARE=
T—OF+A=T—HIEFEZRBRK
BEERAB0.01T(HERL ARK0.008
T0)  MERGFREREERREASHER
FAEE -

BREF
EUGEEE T =+_A=1+—H
LEFEZEBREARNZ MEFHREE
B BOR_—_T—=F—A—HAB%
TRERG (EERMTF26)  EEARE
MEREDBERBEEHEBEEEMK
RZAHERERSEESZHRES 5 Z
HE B RERTFERE

BRERBMZAR RS FA ARES
F#) A R #380,245,0007T( — B — =4 :
AR # 458,890,000 7T ) & AN F [E B B 1T
33 IR NN F 5 804,905,257,860 % (=
—=%F :4,122,553,393%) st & o

AR AFEE kR4 B4 E A I m g E
TENEBER  WAEEREE T —OF
A=+t HALEFEREBE=ZT—=F
T A=+ HLFEZ2YEBREERF -
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ¥1%¥ - BER&HE

Land and Motor Office
buildings vehicles equipment Total
L UNES
THREF "E B st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTRT ARWTRT AR¥TR

COST DN
At 1 January 2013 RZZ—=%F

—H—H 8,719 7,856 5,083 21,658
Acquisition of assets through a BR—RMELE

subsidiary (note 28) WEsEE (M528) - - 22 22
Transfer from completed EBEHE®R T A
properties for sale HEME 19,734 - - 19,734

Additions NE - 146 1,153 1,299
Write off sy = = ) ()
At 31 December 2013 RZZ—=%F

+=-A=+—H 28,453 8,002 6,249 42,704
Additions NE = 2,414 6,359 8,773
Disposals HE = (333) - (333)
At 31 December 2014 R=_ZT—mF

+=—B=+—8 28,453 10,083 12,608 51,144
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION iy
At 1 January 2013 RZZE—=%F

—H—H 1,709 4,608 2,949 9,266
Provided for the year FEREE 427 1,027 745 2,199
Eliminated on written off A T4 - - 3) 3)
At 31 December 2013 RZZ—=%F

+=-A=+—H 2,136 5,635 3,691 11,462
Provided for the year F R 1,025 998 1,119 3,142
Eliminated on disposals P ER - (333) - (333)
At 31 December 2014 RZZT—mF

+-A=1+—-H 3,161 6,300 4,810 14,271
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2014 AZZ—mE

+=—B=+—8 25,292 3,783 7,798 36,873
At 31 December 2013 RZE—=%F

+=—B=+—8 26,317 2,367 2,558 31,242
The Group'’s land and buildings are erected on land AEETHREFERTPRPERAMES
under medium to long lease in the PRC. D=1 Ny b
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—FT—MF+=A=1—HIFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ¥1%¥ - BERZRE @

(continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment i BREREREEB LERE MG
are depreciated using the straight-line basis, after MRERIEATFERAERETENE ¢

taking into account of their estimated residual
values, at the following rates per annum:

Land and buildings 5% or over the lease terms T REF 5% 3k (fHE RS ) AR RE 1=
of the relevant land, 370 & 5 51
if shorter.
Motor vehicles 15% — 20% bt 15%-20%
Office equipment 15% — 20% VNN ] 15%-20%
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. IBEYH
RMB’000

AR¥T
COST AR
At 1 January 2013 RZE—=F—H—H 37,914
Disposals HeE (12,847)
At 31 December 2013 R-EBE—=%F+-_H=+—H 25,067
Transfer from properties held for sale BB EHEDE 731
At 31 December 2014 RZZE—WNF+=-_A=+—H 25,798
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION BETE
At 1 January 2013 RZE—=F—H—H 3,555
Provided for the year FREME 511
Eliminated on disposal A 5 PR 3 8 (1,280)
At 31 December 2013 R-ZE—=%F+=-_H=+—H 2,786
Provided for the year FEREE 336
At 31 December 2014 R_ZE—NFE+_HA=+—H 3,122
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 December 2014 R-ZE—MNE+-_/F=+—H 22,676
At 31 December 2013 R-ZE—=%F+=-_H=+—H 22,281

—ToNEER BEREMERAT @
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. REWZF @)

The Group’s investment properties are erected on
land under medium term lease in the PRC.

The above investment properties are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the term of
the lease and 20 years.

The fair value of the Group’s investment
properties at 31 December 2013 and 2014 was
RMB93,037,000 and RMB92,107,000, respectively.
As at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013,
the fair value of the Group’s investment properties
has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on the respective date in 2014 and 2013
by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and
Advisory Limited, independent qualified professional
valuers not connected to the Group. The fair value
was determined with reference to recent market
prices for similar properties in similar locations and
conditions for both years. There has been no change
from the valuation technique used in the prior year.
In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current
use.

The fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2013 and
2014 of the investment properties of the Group are
at Level 3. There were no transfers between Level 1
and 2 during the year.

@ CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2014
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—FT—MF+=A=1—HIFE

17. GOODWILL 17. 5%
RMB’000
AR®T T
COST AND CARRYING VALUE KA K BRE(E
At 1 January 2013, 31 December 2013 R-ZT—=—A—B —ZT—=%+—A4
and 31 December 2014 =t+t—BEk-_E—NWE+-_HA=+—H 160,210
Note: Goodwill was arising from the Acquisition as disclosed Hat WM 2FTRER - BB KBEL - BEESR
in note 2. Goodwill has been allocated to the group of ZHEPRBRBREZ BRI R BRI ES B2
cash generating units (“CGUs") comprising the Properties ReEtEM((REEEEM AR -
Segment, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the Acquisition.
Based on the business model of the Group, the BAEBEBKER » ARAEFEL2EAR
directors of the Company have performed the RAEEERU A RERABNRELE
assessment on impairment by reference to the et - NRARIEEEERESEEENA
cashflow forecast prepared by the management KEeERHERAERS °
of the Company. The directors of the Company
determined that the recoverable amount of CGUs
was higher than the carrying amount of goodwill.
18. DEFERRED TAXATION 18. IEIERIIE
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax LATR 7% 35 5E %50 18 45 R 2 99 AT DA VE B 765 ER 3R
balances for financial reporting purposes: ZR
2014 2013
—Z-ImF —E-=fF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETR AREF T
Deferred tax assets R IAE E 374,386 362,020
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIERE (35,516) (103,389)

338,870 258,631

—ToNEER BEREMERAT @
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

18. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 18. IEFEBLIE (41)

The followings are the major deferred tax assets
(liabilities) recognised and movements thereon
during the year:

UTRRERERZ TR ELEHBREE(R
BIREHE

Temporary Dividend
differences with
on LAT Tax holding
provision losses tax Others Total
T IBER
BRENTDH BiE BE
=8 B8 EMH Hith @st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRE AR¥BTRT AR®TR AR%Tr AR®Tx
At 1 January 2013 R-Z—=F
(restated) —R—B(&5) 266,008 15,718 (34,136) 16,514 264,104
Credit (charge) to profit REZEAR)
or loss 65,008 (11,051) (69,253) 9,823 (5,473)
At 31 December 2013 R-E—=%
+-A=+—H 331,016 4,667 (103,389) 26,337 258,631
(Charge) credit to profit Bz (IR A
or loss (54,992) 93,695 70,105 (28,569) 80,239
At 31 December 2014 RZE—MF
+-A=+—H 276,024 98,362 (33,284) (2,232) 338,870

At 31 December 2014, the Group had unused tax
losses of approximately RMB503,364,000 (2013:
RMB397,621,000), available to offset against future
profits. Deferred tax assets have been recognised
in respect of such losses of RMB393,448,000
(2013: RMB18,668,000) at 31 December 2014.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the remaining RMB109,916,000 (2013:
RMB378,953,000) as at 31 December 2014 due
to the unpredictability of future profits streams.
Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
RMB84,444,000 (2013: RMB369,672,000) as at 31
December 2014 that will expire in five years from
the dates they were incurred. Other losses may be
carried forward indefinitely.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014

EEr=

18.

19.

FWEF A= —ALFE

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had
unrecognised deductible temporary difference
of RMB226,336,000 (2013: RMB75,336,000)
attributable to the capitalised interest expenses
arising from the intragroup borrowings. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

18.

IEIENTE ()

R-_TE—mWE+-_A=+—8 ' K&
EEAERA FHREREZFTARE
226,336,000 T (Z T —=F : AR#
75,336,0007T) ' T ERARERE QR FEE
BELAZENMEFI SR - ARTAITEA
RACHFI AR - A ERERIEIE TR IR E E -

PROPERTIES FOR SALE 19. AT HEWE
2014 2013
—E—MF —T—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETIT
Completed properties for sale BERTAHHENE 2,400,485 4,046,466
Properties under development for sale AEHERRTNE 23,258,885 11,141,940
25,659,370 15,188,406

The Group's completed properties for sale are
located in the PRC. They are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value.

The properties under development for sale are
located in the PRC under medium term leases
and represent properties under development for
subsequent sale in the ordinary course of business
upon completion.

Included in the properties under development
for sale as at 31 December 2014 is carrying value
of approximately RMB19,761,092,000 (2013:
RMB5,111,956,000), which represents the carrying
value of the properties expected to be completed
and available for sale after more than twelve months
from the end of the reporting period.

AKEE R TG & WRITAFE - &
SNRERARTRRFERE 2 REE
N

At BB RP Y ELRN D E Y RE
HE ERRIREREXRHEEPHE
BRIHEZBRDYE -

R-ZZE—mWE+=-A=+—HA f#tH
ERETYEF  FEEAEONAARE
19,761,092,000 T( — T — =4 : AR¥
5,111,956,0007T ) 2 ¥ 236 B S B 4
EHBHBAT _EA%REEE T kA #
HEWEZRmE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. ¥R HABEWRIE

2014 2013
—E—MF ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARET T
Other receivables — non-current H i e U kI8 — JEBNER
Amount due from a non-controlling il N SEA N YNS Bl
equity holder of subsidiary =B ARIA(Hfita)
of the Group (Note a) - 888,950
Trade receivables (Note b) 278 pE W =R (KT aEh) 5,772 20,006
Other receivables — current H fh e Uk 30 IE — BN R
Prepaid LAT Bt T HhIEER 344,396 226,086
Other prepaid non-income tax H b IE IEFT 5 H 300,178 314,302
Other receivables and prepayments H b e Y kI8 N TR N RRE 383,389 67,090
Amounts due from non-controlling U 7 = BT B A B FEIE AR
equity holders of subsidiaries EmrsB AFIB M)
of the Group (Note ¢) 1,333,899 1,073,248
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries A EE D EVNGIE S
(Note c) (HiizEc) 4,981 3,654
2,366,843 1,684,380
2,372,615 1,704,386
Notes: et -
(@) As at 31 December 2013, the amount represented the @ R-F-=F+-A=+—0 LBEEYF

portion of the amount due from a non-controlling equity
holder of subsidiary of the Group which was unsecured,
interest-free and was not expected to be realised within one
year. For the year ended 31 December 2014, the directors of
the Company are of the view that the amount is expected to
be settled within one year, thus the amount was reclassified as
current.

Trade receivables mainly arise from Trading Segment.

The Group's credit terms with its trade customers is generally
0 to 30 days. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables in order to minimise credit
risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. At the end of the reporting period, the Group
had certain concentration of credit risk as approximately 75%
(2013: 63%) and 100% (2013: 100%) of the Group’s trade
receivables from Trading Segment were due from the Group'’s
largest trade debtor and the five largest trade debtors,
respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—FT—MF+=A=1—HIFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

20. RH K% H At R H (a1

Kt - ()
(b)  (continued) (b)y  (#&)
BEEMEZRERBEMEERHGEK—KRAH

B0 AT - MEMERE BEAE
B - WED BRI O 2 F 5 WOR

Considerations in respect of properties sold are paid in
accordance with the terms of the related sales and purchase
agreements, normally within 60 days from the date of
agreement. At the end of the both reporting periods, there
were no outstanding trade receivables from Properties
Segment.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables at the end of the RIREEAE BB R B B E 2 EBEUGR

reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HBERE DTN
2014 2013
L —Z2—=%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBFT
30 days or less 30HE AT 3,282 2,926
31 to 60 days 31HZ=60H - 19
61 to 90 days 61HZE90H 2,039 -
Over 90 days BiB90H 451 17,061
5,772 20,006

Before accepting any new customer, the Group maintains
an internal credit assessment process to assess the potential
trade customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customers. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed by
management regularly.

As at 31 December 2014, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance with aggregate carrying amount of
RMB2,490,000 (2013: RMB17,080,000) which are past due as
at the reporting date for which the Group has not provided
for impairment loss. The directors of the Company, after
assessment, consider the debts are collectible. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired:

RERERMFZLR - AKERAAEBERFG
BFHHEEEBEP2ERERLATERER
BE  BPZEREEEMEEASEHNEN -

RE-Z—NE+=—A=+—0  FEEEKRK
FIBRREEAREARE2,490,000T (=2 —=
F: AR¥17,080,0007T) B HA - MRS R
HYZR SR @ i AR E R E B RE - AARIESFR
FHERRABEA TIRE - REBEWERZEE
AT (T KR 5 o

BB HE KRB B A RRRE

2014 2013

—F-mE —E=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETT

31 to 60 days 31HZE60H - 19
61 to 90 days 61HZE90H 2,039 -
Over 90 days H3iE90H 451 17,061
2,490 17,080

—ToNEER BEREMERAT @
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For the year ended 31 December 2014

Er—

FMEF=A=1—ALFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

21.

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(c) The amounts were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand. The amounts are expected to be recovered or settled
within one year from the end of the reporting period.

20. EB R HEWRRIE @)

Hist - ()

(0 =SBEAEREM RSRREREER - FHSER
BN RE BEAE B RS —FAROEE -

Analysis of trade and other receivables denominated NAEEEEE B R EEUINEEHE
in currencies other than the functional currency of ZE R EHAERFIBSTAT ¢
the entities of the Group to which they relate:
2014 2013
—B-mFE —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETET
Denominated in United States dollars A (([ZET] ) 5HE
("US$") 51,908 B
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 21. RITEHRRE S

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-
term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less. The bank balances carry variable
interest rates from 0.01% to 2.8% (2013: 0.01% to
1.05%) per annum.

Analysis of bank balances and cash denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the
entities of the Group to which they relate:

RITEBRRASRERS RRIHAA=
18 Bk AN Z S HASRITIF 2N o SRITAE BRI
ANTEFEO0I%E2.8%(—FT—=4:
0.01%ZE1.05% ) 2 FENF = o

NAEEREERIEEEAINEREE
ZIRITHESRERENTAOT

2014 2013

—E—-MEF —E—=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET T ARBT T

Denominated in HK$ B A 4,098 20,734
Denominated in US$ AZETTEHE 1,051,949 3,175,841
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For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—FT—MF+=A=1—HIFE

21.

22.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for

21. BITERRIRE @)

sFeRengRms  RekERARE

the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash HEBEAT :
flows:
2014 2013
—E-mFE —T=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARETRT
Bank balances and cash RITEBREIR® 4,184,366 6,618,086
Less: Restricted bank deposits not B Ao ARES NERIR
classified as cash and cash equivalents  €IHRE » R HIEITHER (3.410) -
4,180,956 6,618,086

As at 31 December 2014, restricted bank deposits
are mainly deposits designated for capital
requirements for real estate development projects in

the PRC.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

22. FH R EA AR

R=Z—mE+=B=+—H  FRHR
BRI AR T ERNENEER
ERBF 2 -

2014 2013
—E-mF —T—=fF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T AREF T
Trade payables (Note a) EHB PN FRIA (A 5Ea)
- Trading Segment —BS50E 6,551 20,189
— Properties Segment — WD 1,943,017 1,653,670
1,949,568 1,673,859
Other payables — current E b FE A5 3R IE — BIEA
Other non-income tax payables H{th IEFT SR e A~ R I8 89,345 108,544
Other payables and accrued charges HL A < 5RIA M FE AT BA ST 238,493 143,425
LAT payable FEAS + 3B E R 1,130,310 1,324,201
Amount due to an intermediate FERT —REBER A RIFIA
holding company (Note b) (Htizb) 43,736 -
Amounts due to non-controlling FERT AN B BT 8 A R AR
equity holders of subsidiaries EREA AFIE (K 7D)
of the Group (Note b) 420,165 75
Amounts due to fellow FEAT R 2B /&8 A RIFIE
subsidiaries (Note b) (Ki7#b) 20,292 2,280
Consideration payable for acquisition W EME AR 2
of additional interest in a non-wholly mIMER 2 BN RE
owned subsidiary (note 27) (Kiz227) 1,212,768 -
Dividend payable to non-controlling BN —BIEERERFEEA
equity holder hds 962,031 -
4,117,140 1,578,525
6,066,708 3,252,384
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BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. B R HEMENRIE @)
(continued)
Notes: Hat
(@) Trade payables from Properties Segment comprise (@) MEIBZEBEMNFRABERZERARHAMIA
construction costs and other project-related expenses which BAERAX - BB ASE T E 2 IEB#EE
are payable based on project progress measured by the St e REEKEMNKEBEZ FHEEHRE0E ©
Group and the average credit period of these trade payables REFHBEEHEHNEEEY 2 FHEEDH—
is 60 days. The average credit period on purchase of goods MBI F30E ZH&RFI0H - AEEE FIE M E R
is generally from 30 days extending up to 90 days for major ERHR - ARRIIA RN RIBHEGESRRA
suppliers from Trading Segment. The Group has financial risk B o
management policies in place to ensure that all payables are
within the credit timeframe.
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables, based on ATARBREHMEE B IREE AT E 2 X5
the invoice date, at the end of the reporting period: P FIERRER D AT -
2014 2013
—E-mF —ZT—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTFT
0 to 60 days 0%E60H 888,036 181,137
61 to 180 days 61A=180A 632,656 498,505
181 to 365 days 181HE365H 168,996 799,708
Over 365 days #B1B365H 259,880 194,509
1,949,568 1,673,859
(b)  The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on (b) HZeBEAEER RERERERER-

demand.

Analysis of trade and other payables denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the entities
of the Group to which they relate:

A ERA R EE UINERTTEZER
REMREMFIRNT

2014 2013

—E—mE —T—=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREETTT

Denominated in HK$ LAVE M EHE 839 3,316
Denominated in US$ LA TTEHE 10,688 30,617
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23. LOANS FROM EQUITY HOLDERS 23. EEBEAZERK
2014 2013
—E—-uF —E—=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETTT

Non-current IERED

Loans from non-controlling equity holders 7x£= & i /& A A JEIE AR A 25 45
of subsidiaries of the Group (Note a) BAZER(Hiza) 313,118 339,358

Current mE

Loans from non-controlling equity holders 7x£= & ff /& A &) JEFE AR A 25 43

of subsidiaries of the Group (Note b) BAZER(HEED) 757,610 -
Loan from an intermediate holding —RXEEER AR ZER (A
company (Note ¢) itc) 62,890 -
820,500 -
Notes: Kt
(@) Included in the balances is an amount of RMB289,978,000 @ R=F-mEF+=—A=t—8" ﬁ?ﬁfﬁéﬁ@%ﬁ
as at 31 December 2014,which was denominated in US$, %'EAEM%ZSQW&OOOTE 0 EL‘/(%EEHE . ﬂ?%
unsecured, interest bearing at fixed interest rate of 4% per ?ﬁ > ﬁilﬁiﬁﬂ‘—?54%5#%\5&255@:?*{&1
annum, and repayable in 2017. The remaining amounts i® e ﬁ%j&’iﬁAE'ﬁ%B,mo,OqOmfﬁﬁiﬁﬁ - iR E
of RMB23,140,000 were unsecured, interest bearing at Z\Eﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁz/\iﬁ”ﬁggﬁggﬂﬂ$4§f6.15%
RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the People’s Bank TERAR =T R KRB ==
of China at 6.15% per annum, and repayable in 2016. As A=+—8" ﬁfﬁAEMB?&?SS,OOQK(%E@Z
at 31 December 2013, the amount of RMB339,358,000 i—ﬂﬁ+:ﬁ§+—ﬂfﬁ*fﬁﬁ>ﬁ§ﬂ>ﬁf?ﬁﬁ s
was unsecured, interest bearing at 6.15% per annum and REMNE615%TRRER T —AFEE -
repayable in 2015 which was classified as current as at 31
December 2014.
(b)  Except for the amounts mentioned in (a), the remaining (b) Ef@)ﬁﬁ};%&Zﬁ%E\\ ' ﬁ%%ﬁ{\E?ﬁ%MS:SO{l,OOO
amounts of RMB418,804,000 were unsecured, interest TREER - /\Eﬂﬂ/\l@ﬁf%ﬁg%ﬁﬂ
bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the REF6%ZE6.15%:HE REETERS -

People’s Bank of China at 6% to 6.15% per annum, and
have no fixed repayment term.

() The loan was unsecured, interest bearing at fixed interest rate () g?ﬁﬁl%%ﬁﬁ CREEN 6% ERANRT
of 6%, and repayable in 2015. —hFEE -
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BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

23. LOANS FROM EQUITY HOLDERS

23. EBREAZER @)

(continued)
Analysis of loans from equity holders denominated NAREEEEERIEEEAINEEE
in currencies other than the functional currency of ZEERHEABRITAT ¢
the entities of the Group to which they relate:
2014 2013
—E—mF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBT T
Denominated in US$ LAZETTEHE 289,978 -
24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 24. SRITRHEMEE
2014 2013
—E—mF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBT T
Bank borrowings (Note i) RITEE (Hfati) 2,185,522 -
Other borrowings (Note ii) HMEE (A aEi) 3,246,000 3,700,000
Total unsecured borrowings RS B A% 5,431,522 3,700,000
Less: Amounts classified as current liabilities & : S ¥ AREBAE %8 (924,950) (2,000,000)
Amounts as non-current IEmBEEE 4,506,572 1,700,000
Carrying amount repayable: * JEEZAREE : *
Within one year —FE R 924,950 2,000,000
More than one year but not more than  #Bi8—FETBEMFE
two years 3,683,862 1,700,000
More than two years but not more than  #B:BRFEE BB A F
five years 822,710 -
5,431,522 3,700,000
o The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates s RARTZBHERE R REANZ REZXBH -

set out in the loan agreements.

The Group’s bank and other borrowings were

AEBZBRTREMEERREEZEE

subject to variable-rate interest at London Interbank
offered Rate ("LIBOR") + 1.7% to 2.1% or fixed-rate
interest at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered by
the People’s Bank of China at the respective date of
borrowings’ agreements. The effective interest rates
on the Group’s bank and other borrowings ranged
from 1.85% to 7.05% (2013: 5.7% to 6.09%) per
annum.
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BE=—F—m

FHoA=t—AILEE

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)

Notes:

(i)

Amounts of RMB592,000,000 are bank borrowings from
China Merchants Bank (‘CMB") which is an associate of
CMG. Also, included the balances of RMB392,000,000 are
borrowings guaranteed by the non-controlling equity holders
of subsidiaries of the Group and by the Company.

In May 2013, the Group raised RMB2,000,000,000 from a
trust company with a term of one year to repay the loan from
an intermediate holding company. The loan was fully repaid
during the year ended 31 December 2014.

At 31 December 2013, the unsecured borrowings of
RMB1,100,000,000 were provided by Founder BEA Trust
Co., Ltd., which is a China Banking Regulatory Commission
("CBRC") licensed financial institution. The loan is jointly
guaranteed by equity holders of the non-wholly owned
subsidiary. The loan was fully repaid during the year ended
31 December 2014.

The Group’s borrowing amounting to RMB768,000,000 as at
31 December 2014 (2013: RMB600,000,000) was provided
by Xiamen International Trust Co. Ltd., a CBRC licensed
financial institution which are repayable upon maturity in
January 2016 (2013: August 2015). The loans are guaranteed
by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

At 31 December 2014, the unsecured borrowings of
RMB1,900,000,000 were provided by Shanghai Goldstate
Brilliance Asset Management Co Ltd., a CBRC licensed
financial institution. The loans are repayable upon maturity in
June 2016.

The Group’s borrowing amounting to RMB578,000,000 as at
31 December 2014 was provided by Zhongrong International
Trust Co., Ltd., a CBRC licensed financial institution. The
loan is repayable upon maturity in January 2016. The loan is
guaranteed by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Analysis of bank and other borrowings denominated in

24 RITREMEE @)

(i) £ %8 AR %592,000,0007T & A BB RHEE 2B
EREIBERT((BERIT) ZRITEE - 1t
SN - 5 B &R A R #392,000,0007T 7Y A AN £ E
i8N FIBEE R R A A RA R AR ZER ©

iy M-ZT-—=F1A rEEREERAAEEAR
#2,000,000,0007T * AH#—F - LAMEERE K
BMEEBRARZER - ZEFCRBE_FT—N
FH_A=+—HILFE2HEE -

R=ZT—=F+=—A=+—"H ' AR#¥
1,100,000,000 T EXHE B R 77 ER =t AR
BEAEAR(—RPBRARTEEBERZES((HEH
RESR )RS RIS ) IR - EREI R BIE
RAIZE=FHE ARRER - ZEREREE=
T—NFE+-A=+—AILFEZHEE -

RZT—NE+_A=1+—H8 5B ARYE
768,000,000 L Z EE(ZZE—=F : AR®
600,000,0007T,) A EPIBIBREE AR A B (—R
FERESHECHREE)RYE AR =2F—X
F—A(ZT—=F: ZF—RFN\A)IHEE
B EREARA—REEMBARELR -

R-F-—NFE+-_A=+—H \EREEAR
#£1,900,000,0007CER L& T AFEEERER
AR —RPBERESFHESREE)RYE - B
AR =T —REFRNABIHREE -

RZF-—MF+_A=+—8 AFEEAR¥
578,000,000 2 fE B P BB BR A
(—HKFRRESFEERERE) R - EREAR
—ERF-AIHEEE  BFEARE R
2EMBARER

VAZS 5% R A B BB DD BE R M AN W RTHE 2 R 1T

currencies other than the functional currency of the entities REMEEDHTMOT
of the Group to which they relate:
2014 2013
—B—QmE —T—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT
Denominated in US$ WASETTEHE 856,660 -
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Er—

25.

26.

FMEF=A=1—ALFE

BONDS PAYABLE

In December 2013, the Group issued the Credit
Enhanced Bonds (the "Bonds”) with an aggregate
principal amount of US$500,000,000. The Bonds
bear fixed interest at 4.021% per annum, payable
semi-annually each year. The Bonds are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and will
mature in December 2018.

The fair value of the bonds payable at 31
December 2014 amounted to approximately
RMB3,145,472,000 (2013: RMB3,039,488,000). The
fair value is calculated using the market price of the
Bonds at the end of the reporting period.

ISSUED EQUITY

Paid up capital of the Target Group

As at 1 January 2013, the issued equity of the Group
reflects the paid up capital of the Target Group of
RMB366,783,000. The share capital of the Company
at 1 January 2013 is RMB8,710,000 (equivalent to
HK$10,685,000).

For the purpose of the presentation in the
consolidated financial statements, the issued equity
of the Group as at 1 January 2013 under merger
accounting comprise of:

25.

26.

&S

R-TE—=F+_"F AEEHRTALH
¥8./5500,000,0003E T 2 5 G ES ([ &
%) - BHIREEFHETL021%5T B -
FEHEE - BHERBEABRARIAERA
AlLEH BR - N\E+-FFH -

i

F N
N\
/7N
AN

—E-E+-_f=+—HEMNESZ
FELHEANRES 145,472,0000( =
— =% : AR¥3,039,488,0007T) > AF
ERESFRREHEEE B 2 TISERE

g o
Ft

ERITRA

BEEEZEHRKRA
R-_ZE—=F—A—R8 A5£EE#17
BRARBMEESEEE 2EHARERARE
366,783,0007T ° KRR =T —=F—H
—BZEABARYS,710,0007T (HHER
7#1£10,685,0007T) °

EIGRAMBRERME - RESH S
o REER-_Z—=F—H—HZE%
TEAEHE

RMB’000
ARET T

Share capital of the Company ViN/NE i 7N
(HK$10,685,000) (7%%10,685,0007T) 8,710
Other capital HAbARAR 358,073
Issued equity of the Target Group BiZEE 2 B BT 366,783
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26. ISSUED EQUITY (continued) 26. BBITRA @)
Paid up capital of the Target Group EEEEEARAEH)
(continued)
Ordinary share capital of the Company AARZEBRRA
Number of
shares Amounts
P& B K|
HK$'000
BT T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREEE0.01T.2 LBk
Authorised: JETE
At 1 January 2013, 31 December 2013 R-Z—=F—H—H -
and 31 December 2014 —T-=F12A
=t+—ARZZT—HEF
+=—A=+—H 30,000,000,000 300,000
Number of shares Equivalent to
REE HER

HK$°000 RMB’000
BT T AR¥T R

Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
At 1 January 2013 RZE—=4F
—H—H 1,068,468,860 10,685 8,710
Issue of consideration BITRERD (M:2)
shares (Note) 2,897,028,703 28,970 22,971
Placing of shares (Note) B E R (ML) 939,760,297 9,398 7,451
At 31 December 2013 and RZE—=F
31 December 2014 +ZA=+—8kK
“ETNE+—HA
=+—H 4,905,257,860 49,053 39,132
Note: As disclosed in note 2, the consideration of Transaction was Biat - 2GR - MO RSN EBEEBIZERAEE
partly satisfied by issue of 2,897,028,703 ordinary shares 2.0578172,897,028,703 A" X &) F A ([ X
of the Company at HK$2.05 per share (”Consideration BRG DER - S TREFZBZREREK2.057T
Shares”). The remaining consideration was satisfied by funds AL 939,760,297 s @A (AL E ) |) KA E
raised through placing of 939,760,297 ordinary shares at ff - EERMDASIRFREIREZABHEMAE
HK$2.05 each ("Placing Shares”). The net proceeds of (net of ZRHHA) R/ ARY1,487,812,0007C + HFA
transaction costs, mainly underwriting commission) Placing R#593,983,0007T 2 21 LAE R EA (B -

Shares is RMB1,487,812,000 of which RMB593,983,000 was
utilised to settle the remaining consideration.

The issuance of Consideration Shares and Placing Shares BEITRERD REEROEHAR R EBRRA
resulting an increase in ordinary share capital of the Company AN A R #530,422,0007T B A A B B 5 5% (B 15 0
of RMB30,422,000 and share premium of the Company of AR #6,166,352,000 7T ( #77% #7,776,960,000
RMB6,166,352,000 (approximately HK$7,776,960,000). L) e
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27. ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL 27. WIE—BEGHERE 2B R

INTEREST IN A SUBSIDIARY
WITHOUT CHANGE OF CONTROL

On 3 August 2014, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with a subsidiary of CMPD to acquire
49% equity interest in EMBHEEHERR A A
Merchants Property Development (Guangzhou) Ltd.
("Merchants Guangzhou”), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, with total consideration
of approximately RMB1,212,768,000. The acquisition
of additional interest in Merchants Guangzhou had
been completed in September 2014. The ownership
interest in Merchants Guangzhou of the Group
increased from 51% to 100%.

The difference between the fair value of
consideration paid by the Group and the decrease
in non-controlling interests after this transaction
amounting to RMB958,955,000 is recognised by the
Group as equity transaction reserve.

At the end of the reporting period, the consideration
to be paid by the Group was recognised as other
payable and is disclosed in note 22.

@ CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2014
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RZT—WENA=H ' ARE2EH B
AREBREMENB ARG E B
N ARNRIEEEHBRARBEMNEEE
HEARAR([EMNBEEHE|)49% K
AR - REBRARBEHARE1,212,768,000
e WEEMNERREE ZBIMERER
ZE—MNFAATK - AEBREMNEBE
BHE 7 A RERS1%IEMNZE100% °

REBANFZ2ARAEBEAFEER LR S
BIEREZRLPCEBRREARE
958,955,000 L EAEEER SIERR DI
&
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28. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH 28. BEBBWRB—MWEBLATAWEE

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

In July 2013, the Group completed the acquisition
of the 51% equity interest of LI Sl % & 3
BB /AT Foshan Kai Da Cheng Investment and
Development Co., Ltd., ("Foshan Kai Da Cheng”)
an entity holding a parcel of land in the PRC,
through a non-wholly owned subsidiary for a cash
consideration of RMB105,100,000. This transaction

=3

RZE—=Ft A AEBEZKEB K
FEEWB AW ER LTI ERIEE R
BARAG([ELMIER]) (RRERZEE
— IR BEL )51 %I AER - IRERE
A AR#105,100,0007T © HEXZ AR A
WEEE  REAWEBIHEEBEH 2
EE °

was accounted for as an acquisition of assets as
the acquisition does not meet the definition of a
business combination.

Fair value of assets and liabilities recognised at the R A EER . EERABATE
date of acquisition:

RMB’'000
AREFTT
Net assets acquired: Rl g E A

Properties under development BRI 729,797
Property, plant and equipment W - BB MG 22
Bank balances and cash IRITAER LIRS 1,248
Other payables H A FUA (305,369)
Amounts due to shareholders FERT IR R FRIE (316,066)
Net assets BESE 109,632
Non-controlling interests FEIR IR RS (4,532)
Consideration R{E 105,100

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEERFEE A 2 IR R FEE ¢
Consideration paid in cash NERe&X R zRE 105,100
Less: Bank balances and cash acquired W FTERURITE SR RIS (1,248)
103,852
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29. DISPOSAL OF INTEREST IN
SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT CHANGE OF
CONTROL

During the year, the Group disposed of the following
interest in subsidiaries without change of control:

On 20 June 2014, HERHEFER)BRA
&) Merchants Nanjing Real Estate Co., Ltd.
("Merchants Nanjing”), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
cooperation agreement with JZYI|THFEIIIRE B
B AT Shenzhen City Luhong Investment
and Management Company Limited (“Shenzhen
Luhong”), an independent third party and
a non-controlling interest of the Group to
subscribe for the increase in registered capital
of MRBEEKEMWEARAR QA Nanjing
Merchants Xingsheng Property Development
Limited (“Nanjing Xingsheng”), a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of Merchants Nanjing and
to provide a shareholder’s loan to Nanjing
Xingsheng for the purpose of repaying part
of the shareholder’s loan from the Group
("Nanjing G14 Land Cooperation Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Nanjing G14 Land Cooperation
Agreement, the registered capital of Nanjing
Xingsheng increased from RMB30,000,000
to RMB50,000,000 and the equity interest in
Nanjing Xingsheng will be held as to 51% by
Merchants Nanjing, 19% by Shenzhen Luhong
and 30% by the non-controlling interest of
Nanjing Xingsheng. The ownership interests
in Nanjing Xingsheng of the Group decreased
from 70% to 51%. Details are disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 31 July 2014.
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29. DISPOSAL OF INTEREST IN
SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT CHANGE OF
CONTROL (continued)

ii)

On 31 July 2014, Merchants Guangzhou
entered into a cooperation agreement with %
BT IR EEE AR A7 Shenzhen Lianxin
Investment and Management Company
Limited ("Shenzhen Lianxin”), an independent
third party to subscribe for the increase in
registered capital of BMEEFEMWEBREA
&) Guangzhou Yi Yun Property Development
Limited (“Guangzhou Yi Yun”) and to provide a
shareholder’s loan to Guangzhou Yi Yun for the
purpose of repaying part of the shareholder’s
loan from the Group (”“Guangzhou Panyu
Land Cooperation Agreement “). Pursuant
to the Guangzhou Panyu Land Cooperation
Agreement, the registered capital of Guangzhou
Yi Yun increased from RMB10,000,000 to
RMB100,000,000 and the equity interest in
Guangzhou Yi Yun will be held as to 51% by
Merchants Guangzhou and 49% by Shenzhen
Lianxin. The ownership interests in Guangzhou
Yi Yun of the Group decreased from 100% to
51%.

Under the Guangzhou Panyu Land Cooperation
Agreement, Merchants Guangzhou has granted
Shenzhen Lianxin an option (“Put Option”) so
that subject to and upon the sold gross floor
area of the properties developed for sale in
the Guangzhou Panyu Land’s project has in
aggregate reached 95% of the total gross floor
area for sale (the "Put Option Condition”),
Shenzhen Lianxin may require Merchants
Guangzhou to purchase from Shenzhen Lianxin
all of its equity interest in Guangzhou Yi Yun
at a price to be determined by reference to a
valuation to be carried out by an independent
professional valuer of the underlying assets of
Guangzhou Yi Yun as at the date when the Put
Option Condition is satisfied. No premium will
need to be paid in connection with the grant of
the Put Option.

Details are disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 31 July 2014.

29. HEZH BB HBELRE

= (%)

ii)

R-BE—MELA=+—08 " EMA
P b E BB 5B = R B iR A
ERARA BRI DT AE
i UREEMNKEEHERRA
A([EBMNEE]) ZIEFMER - &
M EMERERERRER - AEE
PHASEBERHEZBRER(EMNE
BrinEERZE] - REBEEMNES L
AR - BNKREZEMERH
A R # 10,000,000 T MM E AR
100,000,000 * iff B MK E 2 B
55 8 B BN 4B 78 B b 22 RO I B 3
HH51%KM49% o REBREMEE
ZIESEEER100%RPES1% ©

REEMEB LA FRZE - BINE
P EE O [UR Y| Bk #r % H — TR RR0E
Hg(TREE])  FEMERS LT
FEREROWECMEZCEZER
BEEINEREEEIRZI95%
(T R30h BARE IR 1T 1) » IR 3 ] 223K
BENFAFEESRE B EXEE
B A 1 AR R HRRE IR 2 B R R M
REZIRABEETHEEE 2ER
BEEREMNRE 2 25 RAREE
AR H R0k B 7R S NHE D& (B -

HERARFBEHAE-_T—NELA
=t+—HZREHEE-
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29. DISPOSAL OF INTEREST IN
SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT CHANGE OF
CONTROL (continued)

iii)

On 22 August 2014, Merchants Nanjing
entered into a cooperation agreement with
Shenzhen Luhong to subscribe for the increase
in registered capital of R AEEXREMESR
R 2 7] Nanjing Merchants Ningsheng Property
Development Limited (“Nanjing Ningsheng”)
and to provide a shareholder’s loan to Nanjing
Ningsheng for the purpose of repaying part
of the shareholder’s loan from the Group
("Nanjing G09 Land Cooperation Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Nanjing GO9 Land Cooperation
Agreement, the registered capital of Nanjing
Ningsheng increased from RMB30,000,000
to RMB60,000,000 and the equity interest
in Nanjing Ningsheng will be held as to 51%
by Merchants Nanjing and 49% by Shenzhen
Luhong. The ownership interests in Nanjing
Ningsheng of the Group decreased from 100%
to 51%. Details are disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 22 August 2014.
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29. DISPOSAL OF INTEREST IN
SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT CHANGE OF
CONTROL (continued)

iv)

On 30 September 2014, Runray Holdings
Limited (“Runray Holdings”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company entered
into an agreement with SR8 L EE AR
/~A] Fujin Investment Management Limited
("Fujin Investment”), an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary by shareholder of non-
controlling equity holder of the Group to
dispose of 49% equity interest of Cyber Light
Investments Limited (”Cyber Light”), a wholly
owned subsidiary of Runray Holdings to Fujin
Investments with consideration of HK$49
(equivalent to RMB39), which equals to the par
value of the 49% equity interest of Cyber Light.
The ownership interests in Cyber Light of the
Group decreased from 100% to 51%. Details
are disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 30 September 2014.

The Group has recognised the aggregate of the
increase in non-controlling interests in relation to the
equity interests in subsidiaries disposed of for the
above transactions.

20. HEEFETE 2B ARE

I (4%)

iv)

R-Z—NFEALA=1TH ' ARQFZE
EWBRRIBEERERAE ([HE
AR ) EAREE T RERRE AR
RrHE2EMNB AR SR EEE
BERAR([EWIE DTz -
REEBEL9T(FEERARKE3T) A
ERREHERREREZEN B AR
HIEIGCEBR AR ([ 8 ])49% B
(R ER K IR49% R AR ~
EE) s NEBR B Z SR E
H100% B E51% © FBER AR A
AfA—_T—NFAA=THZAE
W% -

AEBEEH LA X HEREARKERF]
S A 2 2 IR R R I N2 AR B o
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN

(@

(i)

Plans for Hong Kong employees

The Group participates in a MPF Scheme for
all its qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the
control of an independent trustee. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF
Scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme. No forfeited contribution is
available to reduce the contribution payable in
the future years.

Plans for PRC employees

The employees employed in the PRC are
members of the state-managed retirement
benefit schemes operated by the PRC
government. The PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute certain percentage of their payroll
to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit schemes is
to make the required contributions under the
schemes.

The total cost of RMB21,370,000 (2013:
RMB14,904,000) charged to profit or loss represents
contributions paid or payable to the above schemes
by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014.
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31. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 31. E€ R M ETE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of
loans from equity holders, bonds, bank and other
borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents and
equity, comprising share capital, share premium,
various reserves and non-controlling interests.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure on a regular basis. As part of this review,
the directors of the Company consider the cost of
capital, cost of debts, gearing ratios and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through new
share issues, the payment of dividends as well as
the issue of new debts or the repayment of existing
debts.

The entities of the Group which were established
in the PRC maintained RMB denominated bank
balances, the remittance of these funds out of the
PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by
the PRC government.

AREEREES  URRAREZEE
WA R R BE - R I8
T 0 T SRR AN 2 R T AR R
FREARR - AREREHHE LR
R -

AEBZERNERBEERERERBEALZ
E% - EF  ROLEMEE HERE
FREHEFENRES(BEEE - BH
18~ ZEEE R ES) -

AREEETERRANERERE - ERRE
—H#D ARABEETEEEAKAL - EF
A - BERBHLERESRERER 2R

cRBEEZHBER  AEBERKHESE
TTRTA IR IR B IA R BT EHEER
BEY  FEERBEAERE -

R BEKY 2 ASEBERFEUARET
BRI AREENZSEREEE
SPAR BB B B 2 BE BRI o
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31. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. ESEREE @
(continued)
The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the AEBRBREHEAER 2 EABEL X
reporting period was as follows: I
2014 2013
—E—NE —T=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFIT
Debt (i) B () 9,583,217 7,042,741
Cash and cash equivalents B RERIB4SER (4,180,956) (6,618,086)
Net debt RETS 5,402,261 424,655
Equity (ii) i) 10,924,717 11,456,311
Net debt to equity ratio SFESE R 0.49 0.04
(i) Debt is defined as interest-bearing advances () EEATAREEZFEAZIER
from equity holders, bonds and bank and other F o BHFARBITREMEE -
borrowings.
(i) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the (il EROEASEMEEARRBENR
Group and non-controlling interests. FEFERR R AR o
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

32. £@T A

(a) EMIAESE

2014 2013
e T =
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETR ARETIT
Financial assets SHMEE
Loans and receivables (including ERRERZE(BIEERE X
cash and cash equivalents) ZRIIREIIBH) 5,905,896 8,664,761
Financial liabilities =R
Amortised cost B SHA A 14,377,108 8,818,140

Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, bank balances and
cash, loans from equity holders, trade and other
payables, bank and other borrowings and bonds
payable. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

(b) MHEABEEEBEREE

AEBTEZeRTAREEBRAE
oY RIE - SRITEBREAS - R
RBEAER  RHEREMBENFR
RITREMEEARENES - %%
ERMTRZFBRABMERE - %
SR T EARERR KR EZE
Bk MRHENTX - EEEEEL
ERZFRR  UEREKIERE
iea BEfEE

—ToNEER BEREMERAT @
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

The Group have foreign currency
denominated trade and other receivables,
bank balances, trade and other payables,
loans from equity holders, bank and
other borrowings and bonds payable,
which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. The management has closely
monitored foreign exchange exposure and
will undertake necessary procedures to
mitigate the currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s
foreign currency denominated monetary

32. e T R
(b) BEEMREEBERBEE)

Wi ER

(i)

B R

REBBEANINETHEZ EB R
Hip U IR - RITAEER - ¥
REMEMNFIA  EEFAEA
B3 RITREMERREMNE
7 0 BUE AN BEHSMNER K o
EERECDTYERIINERR KA
R EREFIAVREEERMR -

AEBNINEHENELEER
E¥AENRERRAER 2K

assets and monetary liabilities at the end HEXTEBRFEET
of the reporting period mainly consist of
uss:
Assets Liabilities
BE =N
2014 2013 2014 2013
—E-mFE —T—=F =ZE-mOF —T—=F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥TR ARBTT AR®TR ARBTT
us$ =Jn 1,103,857 3,175,841 4,175,403 3,034,000
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(i)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% (2013: 5%) increase and
decrease in RMB, the functional currency
of respectively group entities, against
US$ which represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rate.
The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding US$ denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the
end of the reporting period for a 5%
(2013: 5%) change in foreign currency
rate. A positive number below indicates
an increase in post-tax profit where RMB
strengthen 5% (2013: 5%) against US$
and vice versa.

32. €@ T B @)
(b) BIEEREEBERKE &)

miSER(E)

(i)

B RER ()

TREFMAEEGARE (KA
AREAEEERE 2 NEEE)
HETHBEREZES R (ZE—=
F 5% )2HREE  BEEEY
INESTER A g IR v BB E 2
s - FUREDITERTEUET
FHMEZEMIEE - WHRRE A
EEHBRINBEEXR 25% (=%
—=%F 5% )SHAREBRE -
UTESBEREAREEETT L
H5% (=T —=4F : 5% ) BEF%H
BRFZBINERE - R 2R o

2014 2013

—E-mEF =%

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T AREFTT

Profit or loss B 115,183 (5,319)

Interest rate risk management

The Group is primarily exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate interest bearing receivables
and payables, including bank balances,
bank and other borrowings and loans from
equity holders.

The Group's fair value interest rate risk
relates primarily to its fixed-rate loans from
equity holders, bank and other borrowings
and bonds payable.

(ii)

MR E R EE
ZA SEES 8 VNS IR RS
B RUGRARENFIR - B
RITHEER - |RITREMBEAR
BaEBEAER  ERZHDR
EREmEE o

REE 2 X FENEERE 2 E
misE ABENEER « )17
REMEEARENESER -

TEcR BEREMERAT @
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk management (continued)
The Group currently does not have an
interest rate hedging policy in relation to
fair value interest rate risk and cash flow
interest rate risk. However, management
of the Company monitors interest rate
exposure on an on going basis and will
consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates
on financial liabilities are detailed in the
liquidity risk section of this note.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the
People’s Bank of China or LIBOR.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have
been prepared assuming these financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for
the whole year. A 50 basis points (2013:
50 basis points) increase or decrease is
used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel
and reasonably possible change in interest
rates.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points
(2013: 50 basis points) higher/lower for
variable-rate interest bearing financial
assets/liabilities and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit
for the year would decrease/increase by
RMB31,390,000 (2013: RMB2,087,000).
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(b) BEEMREEBERBEE)

miEER(E)

(ii)

HEABRER (F)

AR BB A A T ERE
AR RELREHEERZFIE
HAEE o AT AAAERE
SEERAEAR  LHABE

B ZBEPEAM KRR -

AEBESE 2 SHEEFNRER
RAMERBNE € R — &

AEERSRENERBRERS
RRHBEARRITIREZARE
EEE RN E L mBERTRENR
B KB -

SRR T

AN SRS 4T To R 8 A 3R e A
BEEHZZSEREESRMT A
REFREEMRE - FAZ50
EEZ (=T — =4 : S0fEE2)
BRI EZEERABRAIRME
R E RS IR 2 A8 ] g8
&) 2 7T o

ML B F R B SREE
BEMEEA TRE50EED
—E—=%F  50EEE)MAE
HMBERFTE  AEEFR
BREBEFBERD IEIMAR
#31,390,000L( =F— =4 :
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 32. @ T B
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BIEREEEERBEKE)

and policies (continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from:

e the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial
position at the end of each reporting
period; and

e the amount of contingent liabilities in
relation to financial guarantees issued by
the Group as disclosed in note 36.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in
respect of bank balances. At 31 December
2014, approximately 47% (2013: 46%) of
the bank balances were deposited at CMB.
Except for approximately 19% (2013: 14%)
of the bank balances deposited at Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited,
deposits in other banks are individually less than
10% of total bank deposits and bank balances.
The credit risk of these liquid funds is limited
because the counterparties are either state-
owned banks located in the PRC or banks with
high credit ratings.

FERE

AEBERYTT RERITEAEEMSIE
AEBUBRAFELEZBRAGEER
BAY

s EREHMEERGSMBARN
RAFMFIEHERCEATREE
ZRmEE R

o BRME36MEREHRAEEES
MIBERZIARESHE

REBZRITHEBBEERREPE
e RZE—NFF+=—A=+—H "
RITERRIAT% (—E—=4F : 46%)
GFHRRBREERIT - BRIBITHEHL19%
—E—=F  14%)FHRRFEIE
BT (M) BR ARSI - BRI E AR
TERLRBITFERRIRITELREE
Z10% ° ThERE 75 AR H B2 B
BRITHEREETR BT - UL
EnPESZEERBER -
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 32. e T R
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BiEEEEERBEKE)

and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has concentration of credit
risk in respect of amounts due from non-
controlling equity holders of subsidiaries of
the Group at 31 December 2014 and 2013.
In order to minimise the credit risk on these
amounts, the management of the Company
continuously monitors the credit quality and
financial conditions of non-controlling equity
holders of subsidiaries of the Group and
the level of exposure to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
Under such circumstances, the directors of
Company consider that the Group's credit risk is
insignificant.

The Group provides guarantees to banks in
connection with certain customers’ borrowing
of mortgage loans to finance their purchase of
the Group's properties. If a purchaser defaults
on the payment of its mortgage during the
period of guarantee, the bank holding the
mortgage may demand the Group to repay
the outstanding loan and any interest accrued
thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group
is able to repossess the properties for resale.
Therefore, the management of the Company
consider it would likely recover any loss incurred
arising from the guarantee provided by the
Group. No such repossession of properties
occurred for the year ended 31 December 2014
(2013: Nil).
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 32. €M I B

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BIEREEEERBEKE)
and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk REESER
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance AEEZBERRAGRAEEFLSE
between continuity of funding generated from EEEAEZES 2 EBEEMEEMER
operating activities and the flexibility through FTE ARAEZREYELERBE
the use of borrowings and issue of new debts. SRR RTEEE 7R B & HIRAB A
The directors of the Company closely monitor REBIEE REE o

the liquidity position and expect to have
adequate sources of funding to finance the
Group’s projects and operations.

The following table details the Group's TREFVNAEBERFETEERHEE
expected remaining contractual maturity for ZBRTAKNEEE - ZXRBIEIETE
its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table CRMABBEZARURRERE - WRIR
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted REEBENRZEFHHMGER - Z
cash flows of non-derivative financial liabilities KEEMNEREFERSTE - MED
based on the earliest date on which the Group BZE - REVRESRETR B FHEHAH
can be required to pay. The table includes HEE A IR o

both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest
rate curve at the end of the reporting period.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 32. €M I Bm@m

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BIEREKREEBERBEKE)
and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) RENE SR (E)
Weight
average  On demand Total
effective or within 61to 181to undiscounted  Carrying
interest rate 60days  180days  365days  1-2years  2-3years Over3years cash flows amount
ik 387 RER AERRS

ERfI= F60AR 6121808  181%365A 1825 1BE O BBE fBAE REE
%  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
% ARETRT ARETn ARETn ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETn ARETn

As at 31 December 2014 R-E-ME

t2A=1-R
Trade and other payables EBRAMERTE
- interest free —48 - 4793891 - - - - - 4793891 4,793,891
Loans from equity holders ~ EZHEAER
- due within one year —EREH 6.12 192,573 266,023 394,336 - - - 852,932 820,500
Loans from equity holders ~ BHEAAEH
- due after one year — R3S 4.16 - - - 25,065 326,158 - 351,223 313,118
Bank and other borrowings  BTREMEE
- feed rate —R& 6.64 2,525 9,267 644,114 4,180,239 326,975 - 5163120 4,574,862
- Variable rate —%8 212 - - 311,618 - 588,163 - 899,781 856,660
Bonds payable [EfiE% 402 19,949 39,898 61,510 121,357 121357 3260790 3,624,861 3,018,077
5,008,938 315,188 1411578 4326661 1,362,653 3,260,790 15,685,808 14,377,108
Financial quarantee contracts ~ BF51ERA4) 1,686,026 - - - - - 1,686,026 -

Asat31December 2013 ~ R-E-=#

TZR=1-H
Trade and other payables ERREf TR
- interest free —48 - 177539 - - - - - 175399 1775399
Loans from equity holders ~ BRBEAAEH
- due after one year ——F5H 6.15 3431 6,861 10579 360,229 - - B0 339358
Bank and other borrowings  $TRAMEE
- Variable-rate —8 587 35,694 2,061,705 502714 1,636,492 - - 378,165 3,700,000
Bonds payable s 4021 - 61,289 61,289 122,578 122578 3293606 3,661,340 3,003,383
1814524 2,129,855 124142 2,119,299 122578 3293606 9,604,004  83818,140
Financial quarantee contracts ~ BITFIERAH) 464,153 - - = - = 464,153 -
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 32. €M I B

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BIEREEEERBEKE)
and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESRR(F)
The amounts included above for financial FRIFSEMBEREHNZ BARIE
guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts BHERSBELHF B ERANEEF
the Group could be required to settle under BrzEmeR  ARARZHFMIE
the arrangement for the full guaranteed RARERZRZERE - ERNEHREH
amount if that amount is claimed by the HMEEHZTBA - NREERARAEE
counterparty to the guarantors. Based on the BARBZETHESMN Ll FIE - A
expectations at the end of the reporting period, i ZAEF AR TR ZH FREER
the Group considers that it is more likely than RIEBERZAJREMEMmRE - BIARER
not that no amount will be payable under the ERXZEFAFHFEWMBRIEER
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject EEEEEZ R o

to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee,
which is a function of the likelihood that the
financial receivables held by the counterparties
that are guaranteed by the Group suffer any
credit losses.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Fair value measurements of financial

instruments
Except as set out below, the directors of the
Company consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities as at
31 December 2014 and 2013 are recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

32. €@ T Rwmwm

(c)

ERMITAZRAVEFE

BRRXHTEIN ARBEERAE -
RZE—NWEER=ZZT—=F+=A
=+—H  REETBRERAEIENX
RAARZcREEREREBECERR
BEEAENTERE °

Carrying
amount Fair value
SRMEE AEE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETIT ARBTT

Financial liability SRIEE
- level 2 Fair value hierarchy —E-RAFEER
Other financial liability — Bonds payable  Efh % @t & & — FERHES
As at 31 December 2014 R —HF
+=—A=+—~H 3,018,077 3,145,472
As at 31 December 2013 RZT—=F
+—A=+—H 3,003,383 3,039,488

The fair values of other financial assets and
financial liabilities have been determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted cash flow
analysis.
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33. OPERATING LEASES 33. KEMHE

The Group as a lessor
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contracted with tenants for the future minimum
lease payments as follows:

FEEESEAA
RBERREER  ARECDBERHKR
REREBREFIRATL - FERWAT

2014 2013

— —T=F

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBT T ARBFIT

Within one year —%FR 4,004 918
In the second to fifth year inclusive —ERFRN(BEERMF) 15,050 3,754
After five years & 2,994 -
22,048 4,672

The Group as a lessee

The Group’s minimum lease payments paid during
the year ended 31 December 2014 under operating
leases in respect of rented premises amounted to
RMB2,890,000 (2013: RMB1,251,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
had future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of leased
properties are as follows:

AEBERAHEA
HE-Z—NE+-_A=+—RHILEE -
AEERBELLHEHRCHAMES N
HEAEFEAARK2,890,000L( ==
—=%: AR¥1,251,0007T) °

RBEHREER - AEBERIE AT HE
REMERCHEME 2 RRKEHER
TRANRFRR

2014 2013

—E-mEF —T=F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTT AREFTT

Within one year —FE R 3,653 1,099
In the second to fifth year inclusive —ERFN(BREERRF) 8,584 5,347
After five years hFE 14,587 16,201
26,824 22,647

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable
by the Group for certain of its office premises. Leases
are negotiated for an average term of two to fifteen
years and rentals are fixed at the date of signing of
lease agreements.

REHEFAEAREREETHAE
EXftzile BB _E+AFZ T
HRER  MESRRFHEWHZEE A

.
iE °
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34. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Other than as disclosed in note 2, the following
major non-cash transactions took place during the
year:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2014,
dividend payable to non-controlling equity
holders of approximately RMB478,753,000 was
fully offset against the amount due from non-
controlling equity holders of subsidiaries of the
Group which is included in trade and other
receivables.

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2014,
deposit received for partial disposal of a
subsidiary was designated as advance from a
non-controlling equity holder of subsidiary of
the Group.

(iii) During the year ended 31 December 2013,
the non-controlling equity holders of Foshan
Merchants Wharf, Pride Oasis Limited and
Harpen injected total amount of approximately
RMB3,470,158,000 of which an amount
of RMB105,000,000 was fully paid by
offset against the dividend payable to non-
controlling equity holders and an amount of
RMB2,397,082,000 was set off against the
amounts due to non-controlling equity holders
of subsidiaries of the Group.
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(ii)

(iii)

BE_T-NE+_A=1T—HILF
E FEHE‘H BrERTBA A ZBRBLD
AR % 478,753,000t B & 20K 85 fE
WA SEEMME AR JFERAERTA A
ZHRE  ZARBEETAE RE A UK
IR ©

BE_T-NME+_A=1T—HLF
B HEBIMBARMERZRE
WIS TE RANEE M B A B IFERE R
FAANZRK -

HE-_ZT—=F+-A=+—HLHF
B BILBENER ZIEERERE
EA HERBRARESIEFEHBRE
#9 N R #3,470,158,0007C * & H A
R #105,000,0007c 2 2 & X - B4
IHE T IEE R s B AZIRE

il A R 2,397,082, OOOKETR%F
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34. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 3. XEIRERZ @)

(continued)

(iv)

On 19 April 2013, Sino Action was interspersed
between Eureka and Merchants Guangzhou
and held 21% equity interest in Merchants
Guangzhou. On 9 June 2013, Eureka transferred
its 50% equity interest in Foshan Merchants
Wharf (as defined in note 38) to Sino Action.
On 13 May 2014, Happy City was interspersed
between Eureka and Merchants Nanjing (as
defined in note 38) and became the holding
company of Merchants Nanjing (as defined in
note 38) holding 51% equity interests therein
(collectively referred to as "Restructuring”).
The Restructuring was completed on 9 June
2013. The total consideration of Restructuring
payable to Eureka is RMB739,801,000 and
the amounts were recorded as amount due to
an intermediate holding company, which was
included as Shareholders loans of Transaction.

35. COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
the following commitments:

(ivv R=ZZF—=FMA+NB EHFEE
RinmEENEEENECH 8
BN BEEHE21%BRAER - K=
T—ZFXNANAB  WaEEERN G
W@ NER (Ex RMFE38)50%
AR TER - R_ZT—WFERA
+=H LERERL=EERAE
B E(EERWE38) M KAE
THREEME(FE&EEHE3S) 23R’
NE HEES 1% AR (GREIE
B  BEHER-_ZT—=FxANA
TR o B REzSHAREBEAAR
#739,801,0007T - MAEMEEAR
BREMN—REEERARZRE - I
BEAR S ZBRERE

35. A&iE

RBEMEEER - NREBFIATALRE

2014 2013
—E-NF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T AREFTT
Commitments contracted for but not AT ABEETHETRREE
provided in the consolidated financial B TS TR B 2 AR -
statements in respect of:
— construction of properties under — B ERER Y
development for sale 4,132,746 2,329,990
- land use rights to be acquired for — BRIt SR EP Y
properties under development for & T UHE 2 13t s AR
sale 2,053,782 2,355,121
6,186,528 4,685,111
Commitments authorised but not N TREREEIRTNZ
contracted for in respect of: A
— land use rights to be acquired — BRIt BB RPYE
for properties under development 1M % U 2 s R
for sale 677,530 3,040,029
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#HE—F—m

Fr=—A=+—HILFE

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the end of the reporting period, contingent

. BREE

RBERBMGEER - AKREZHREBEN

liabilities of the Group were as follows: s &
2014 2013
—E—NmEF =%
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R AREFT
Guarantee given to banks in HERTEFCBEmMIE T
connection with facilities granted to RIT 2 R (HTaET)
customers (Note i) 1,686,026 464,153
Court proceedings (Note i) A (M aEii) 29,508 -

Notes:

(ii)

The Group acted as guarantor to the mortgage loans granted
to certain purchasers of the Group’s properties and agreed
to repay the outstanding loan and interest accrual thereon, if
the purchasers default the repayment of loan before the issue
of the property certificate. The directors of the Company
consider that the fair value of the financial guarantee
contracts is not significant as the default rate is low.

A subsidiary of the Group is a defendant in a legal action
involving the alleged failure of the subsidiary to settle the
payable to a contractor in accordance with the terms of
contract. The directors believe, based on legal advice, that the
action can be successfully defended and no losses (including
claims for costs) will be incurred.

@ CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2014
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(ii)

AEERETFAEEE THEER IRBERM
BEERA  YRABEHERRERELNEES
AEEENR  AREGEENREERERRERT
FE - ANENRE  ARFEFRAMBER
BHZATFEILTERK °

AEEH B AR R—RIRARBRER HIERRA
BRI ERMNFOROAEFRZEE - EF
& REEARER  ZFAATZRNGE - A D
BELAERNER(BEAMERRE -
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BEALIRZ R

AND BALANCES

(a) Related party transactions
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group
had the following transactions with related

(a) BAEALXZ

BREGAVBHRREMEHMRES
Sh  REEEBBEALTAATRS ¢

parties:
2014 2013
“2-mF —T-=%
RMB'000 RMB'000
Related party BEAL Nature of transaction REME ARETT  ARETT
Fellow subsidiaries FZKEAGF  Property management BENMEEEER
fee paid (Note) (Hst) 69,577 78,122
Sales of goods (Note) HEEm(HE) 1,137 73,134
Construction service fee  Ti2REER 2,933 -
Operational support BETHRBRA
service income (Note) (Hizt) 6,591 1,866
Interest income FISHA = 15,951

Note: These related party transactions constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

(b) Related party balances
Details of the Group’s balances with related
parties are disclosed in notes 20, 22, 23 and 24.

As at 31 December 2014, approximately
RMB1,973,256,000 (2013: RMB2,828,050,000)
was deposited at CMB. For the year ended 31
December 2014, interest income and interest
expenses on deposits and loan balances with
CMB recognised by the Group amounted
to approximately RMB24,108,000 (2013:
RMB11,996,000) and RMB21,602,000 (2013:
Nil) respectively.

Hret - WEREALTZHER ETRAE14AF
PRSVE 2 R BRER S ©

(b) BAEALHER
REBEBE AL 2 EHFFIBERMEE
20 - 22 - 232444 -

RZTE—ME+-_A=+—H HA
R#1,973,256,000C( =T — =4 :
AR #2,828,050,0007T ) 77 A B
BT - BE-_T—NE+-_F=1+—
AIEFE  AEEBERTHRNER
IRITZ2FERZFBMATERAREE 2
MEFZ DR A A RE24,108,000
T(ZZE—=%F : AR®11,996,000
L) R AR¥21,602,0000t(ZFE—=

FE)e
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND BALANCES (continued)

(c) Compensation of key management

37. BEA TR ERES #)

() TEEBABZHE

(d)

personnel
2014 2013
=L —F=%
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMBT T AREFT
Short-term employee benefits 72 R B2 A 8,218 7,037
Post-employment benefits RIRAEA 293 266
8,511 7,303

Transactions with other government-
related entities in the PRC

The Group itself is part of a larger group of
companies under CMG which is controlled by
the PRC government. Thus, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group is ultimately
controlled by the PRC government. In addition,
the Group operates in an economic environment
currently predenominated by entities controlled,
jointly controlled or significantly influenced
by the PRC government (“PRC government-
related entities”). Apart from the transactions
with the intermediate holding company and the
fellow subsidiaries set out in (a) and (b) above,
the Group also conducts businesses with other
PRC government-related entities in the ordinary
course of business. The Group's restricted bank
deposits, bank deposits and bank borrowings
are entered into with certain banks which are
PRC government-related entities in its ordinary
course of business. In addition, the Group
entered into various transactions, including
purchases of land use rights, construction of
properties and other operating expenses with
other PRC government-related entities in the
ordinary course of business. In view of the
nature of those transactions, the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that separate
disclosures would not be meaningful.
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AEBRBTHEBTESZBERE
EETNHRERAEB AR Z —#7 °
At » ARREERR - AREXF
BIBUT RARIES] o oD - AEREE
BEOERIRI R X EBF AT
HARAZEHSARETEEARENZE
BHEBFEEERDETE - KL
X(a) R (o) P R iR IR A R A &
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RITERMRITEEDNEEERB
EhEREPERFEEER A TR
TIRISL » 9N AREEFRILZRR
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BEALIR G REGRm)

AND BALANCES (continued)

(e) Management services
The Group's activities were planned, directed
and controlled by the management of CMPD,
which did not charge any fee for services
rendered during both years.

(e) EERH
AEBEZEHHBARHBETERER
g mERES - RMEFER - A
740 22 3 S A P 4 £ AR 75 M B ]
Ao

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 38. AR FIMB AR 27F1E

THE COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as
at 31 December 2013 and 2014 are as follows:

Issued and fully

R-B-—=FR-_F-—NF+_A=1+—
B ARREEMBARZFERT

paid share capital/
Place of registered capital Attributable equity interest
Name of subsidiary establishment BETRESRE/ held by the Company  Principal activity
WEAR LR K3 ERE FARFERERD L TEXH
2014 2013
“E-mE —T-=F
Directly owned
EEER
Champion Apex Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Trading of electronic
ERERAT Bl 710,000 and electrical related
products
BEEFRERRBER
Grand Golden Profit Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Inactive
BEMERAR Bl 710,007 TEXN
Harvest Allied Investments Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
EFRERRAR &h 710,000 REER
Indirectly owned
BiEEs
Guan Hua Gang Trading PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Trading of electronic and
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. i AK#1,000,0007T electrical and building

BEEES(RY))BRAF

related materials and

equipment
EEETREREMIR

BERBIH RS

—TmEsH BEREMERAD @
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

38. AR FMNB AR Z2F B @)

Issued and fully

paid share capital/
Place of registered capital  Attributable equity interest
Name of subsidiary establishment BRIREARE/ held by the Company  Principal activity
WEARER oe:ch s EMRA RARFERER AL TEER
2014 2013
“2-mE —T-=F

China West Premier Housing PRC US$569,960,000 50% 50%  Property development

Development Co., Ltd.* i (Paid-up capital: ESE

(Notes 18 5) US$533,960,015)
ERABENREARAR 569,960,005 (B4R

(Wit 1R5) A :533,960,015%7T)
Converge British Virgin Islands  US$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
EZ ("BVI") E RERR

ERRELHE
((EERZES])

Cosmo City Limited (Note 5) Hong Kong HK$4,640,010,000 50% 50%  Investment holding
EUERDR(HiEs) EiE 751%4,640,010,0007C REER
Foshan Merchants Wharf Property PRC US$149,890,000 50% 50%  Property development

Development Co., Ltd.* HE (paid-up capital: MEER

("Foshan Merchants Wharf") US$109,898,000)

(Notes 1&4) 149,890,00057T
BLBEEREHERRAR (BRRA :

(MELEENER]) 109,898,0005T)

(Hit1k4)
Foshan Xin Cheng Property PRC US$127,000,000 50% 25.5%  Property development

Development Co., Ltd.* A 127,000,000 7 NEER

("Foshan Xin Cheng”)
(Notes 2 & 4)
BLBBEHERRAR
(TfBIizs )
(Hi2k4)
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 38. AR BB AR 2B @)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Issued and fully

paid share capital/
Place of registered capital  Attributable equity interest
Name of subsidiary establishment BRIREARE/ held by the Company  Principal activity
WRARER B Bl KARFERERDL TEEH
2014 2013
ZE-MmF -T-=F
Foshan Xin Jie Property Development ~ PRC US$264,670,000 50% 50%  Property development
Co., Ltd.* (Notes 1 & 7) # (paid-up capital MELRE
BIlEREHERRAR US$238,495,899)
(Wit 1%7) 264,670,000 7T
(BB :
238,495,899 TT)
Foshan Yi Yun Property Development ~ PRC RMB30,000,000 50% 25.5%  Property development
Co., Ltd.* ("Foshan Yi Yun”) H AK#30,000,0007T NEER
(Notes 3 & 4)
BLEZEHERRAR ((HILEE])
(Biit3R4)
Foshan Shunde Yi Yun De Sheng PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 51%  Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd ¥~ AK%10,000,0007 NEER
("Foshan De Sheng”) (Notes 3 & 8)
BILIEEKEEREERR AR
(TBhilihs ) (Wit k8)
Foshan Kai Da Cheng (Notes 3& 8)  PRC RMB10,000,000 51% 26.01%  Property development
fRILTEER (23R8 il AR#10,000,00070 NEERE
Happy City Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
E) B FEH1007T RERR
Harpen (Note 4) Hong Kong HK$10,000 50% 50%  Investment holding
al(it4) &b 710,000 REER
Merchants Nanjing Real Estate Co., ~ PRC RMB30,000,000 51% 51%  Property development
Ltd.* ("Merchants Nanjing”) il ARH30,000,0007T NEER
(Note 2)
RERHEER)BRAR(ERER
BHE ) (Hit2)

—T mEsH BEREMARAT @
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 38. AR FMNB AR Z2F B @)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Issued and fully

paid share capital/
Place of registered capital  Attributable equity interest
Name of subsidiary establishment BRIREARE/ held by the Company  Principal activity
WEARER oe:ch s R RARFERER AL TEER
2014 2013
“F-mE T

Merchants Guangzhou (Note 2) PRC RMB200,000,000 100% 51%  Property development
BMABELE (E2) G AE#200,000,0007T NERRE
Nanjing China Merchants Rui Sheng ~ PRC RMB1,230,000,000 51% 51%  Property development

Property Co,, Ltd.* (Notes 38 9) AK¥1,230,000,0007 MEER
HRREREEHERR AR

(it3R9)
Pride Qasis Limited (Note 4) BVI US5$599,095,420 50% 50% Investment holding
BRBRAR(Hi4) RERARS 599,095,420%7C RERR
Sino Action Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
£ Eh 1007 RERR
Chongaing China Merchants Yi Yun ~ PRC RMB20,000,000 100% 51%  Property development

Property Co., Ltd.* A AK#20,000,00070 NEER

("Chongging Yi Yun")

(Notes 3 & 8)
EERERERHERR AT

([ZBKE])(Hit3R8)
Foshan Yi Yun Zhen Yuan Property PRC RMB10,000,000 55% 100%  Property development

Development Co., Ltd.* HE AE#10,000,0007C ET

(Note 3 & 8)
BUKEZRRHEER AR

(Hit35%8)
Foshan Yi Yun Shang Yuan Property ~ PRC RMB10,500,000 50% 25.5%  Property development

Development Co., Ltd.* HE AE#10,500,0007C ET

(Note 3 & 8)
BILKE FRFHEER AR

(Wit35%8)
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 38. AR BB AR 2B @)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Issued and fully

paid share capital/
Place of registered capital  Attributable equity interest
Name of subsidiary establishment BRIREARE/ held by the Company  Principal activity
WRARER B Bl KARFERERDL TEEH
2014 2013
“B-mE ZFCF
Chongaing Central Park Company PRC RMB3,666,249,600 50% 50%  Property development
Limited* (Note 1 & 5) i AR%3,666,249,60070 NEER
ERRERRRHEREERAR
(Wit 1%5)
Cyber Light Hong Kong HK$100 51% - Investment holding
p X 71007 RERER
Nanjing Merchants Qisheng Property ~ PRC US$99,990,000 51% - Property development
Development Limited* (Note 1) & (paid-up capital: MEXRE
AR AERBEREARAR M) US$96,713,834.13)
99,990,000 7
(BAIRAE -
96,713,834.13% L)
Runray Holdings BVI US$100 100% - Investment holding
BRIER ABRRES 100%7T RERR
Xi"an Multi On Property PRC US$172,000,000 100% - Property development
Development Company Limited* 172,000,000% 75 NEER
(Note 1)
BREZEHERRARHZ1)
Zhenjiang Torch Zhidi Property PRC US$16,819,990 70% - Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note 1) & 16,819,990% 7 NEER
RINEBNBERARAR Hit1)
Guangzhou Yi Yun (Note 3 & 8) PRC RMB100,000,000 51% - Property development
BMEE(H2328) f AR%100,000,0007 NEER
Nanjing Ningsheng (Note 3 & 6) PRC RMB60,000,000 26.01% - Property development
ARER(WiE3%6) f AR¥60,000,0007 NEER

—T mEsH BEREMARAT @
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 38. AR FMNB AR Z2F B @)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Issued and fully

paid share capital/
Place of registered capital  Attributable equity interest
Name of subsidiary establishment BRIREARE/ held by the Company  Principal activity
WEARER oe:ch s R FAAFERERAL  EEEH
2014 2013
“F-mE T
Nanjing Xingsheng (Note 3 & 6) PRC RMB50,000,000 26.01% - Property development
HREE Witz ke6) G AR#50,000,00070 NEER
Foshan Yi Yun Xiao De Property PRC US$136,500,000 50% - Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* R 136,500,000 T NEER
(Note 1&7)

Bl FEZEREERAR]
(Hi#1%7)

o The English name is for identification only. The official * EXABEHRB - BB ZERBBERF -
name of the entity is in Chinese.

Note 1: The entity is a wholly foreign owned enterprise. Hiit1: BRAIEEERE -

Note 2: The entity is a sino-foreign joint venture. Hiit2 . BBRBPINGEDRE -

Note 3: The entity is a wholly-domestic owned enterprise. Hit3: BBRRAENELE -

Note 4: This entity is considered to be a subsidiary of the Company Hiita . ZEBEBBERA/RARZMERT - EALRAF
despite the Company holds directly and indirectly not more BENHEFEZEET SN —FRE - BX
than half of the equity interest therein as the Company RARZERBZEFTERRRAASTHRR
has the power to cast the majority of votes at meetings of W EZERZERETES -

the board of directors of this entity, which has power to
affect the returns of this entity.

Note 5: The entity is a subsidiary of Pride Oasis Limited. Hiits . BBRRAKRBRARZKERR -

Note 6: This entity is considered to be a subsidiary of the Company Hiite - ZEBWRARARZMBAR - BAERAF]
despite the Company indirectly holds not more than half REREZERTZR—FRE - AR AN
of the equity interest therein as Merchants Nanjing, a BRABARBEABMENZEB EESHA

subsidiary of the Company, has the power of cast the AREBRE  WHZBERZOBELEN -
majority of votes of the board of directors of this entity,
which has power to affect the returns of this entity.

Note 7: The entity is a subsidiary of Harpen. Witz BRRASBZHEBAR -

Note 8: The entity is a subsidiary of Merchants Guangzhou. M8 : BBREMNBEEMEZMBAR -

Note 9: The entity is a subsidiary of Merchants Nanjing. Hit9 : BRAMREEEMEZMBAR -

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt REL - BEMRBARBBRITEMERE
securities at the end of the year. 7 o
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39. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED 30. BEEARFEREZZAEHE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-
controlling interests:

HEEMBARFE

TRENBEAEEAFFERESE 2 AKEF
2EMBARFE

Place of
incorporation/
establishmentand  Voting rights held  Profit (loss) allocated
Financial principal place of by non-controlling  to non-controlling  Accumulated non-
Name of entity information business interests interests controlling interests
HMAL/RUBER FRRESFERZE  SETEERESZ
BiR2R HHER FTREEHE A (8) R FERER
Notes 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
fiit ZB-WmE —2-=F ZB-NE —T-=F “E-RE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
Foshan Merchants Wharf 0] PRC
frLABNER HE 50% 50% 69,795 58344 497,330 427,535
Pride Qasis Limited 2) Hong Kong
BRERAT B 50% 50% 30,633 63,512 3,652,466 2,705,576
Harpen 3) Hong Kong
elk B 50% 50% 40272 42,750 1,306,688 955,802
Merchants Guangzhou (4) PRC
BNRERE i - 49% 109,973 746,454  (Noted) 2,042,800
Foshan Xin Cheng @) PRC
=31 i 50%  74.5% 5,216 (note) 605,334 (note)
Foshan Yi Yun (@) PRC
BILKE A 50%  74.5% 106,584 (note) 137,532 (note)
362,473 911,060 6,199,350 6,131,713

note: For the year ended 31 December 2013, the financial
information of Foshan Xin Cheng and Foshan Yi Yun was
included in Merchants Guangzhou.

Summarised consolidated financial information in
respect of each of the Group’s entities that has
material non-controlling interests is set out below.
The summarised consolidated financial information
below represents amounts before intragroup
eliminations.

Hiet BE-T—=F+-"A=+—HILFE  HILE
W HILKE 2 BB AR ABRMNBEFHE -

RERBEEERFERERZAEEER
ZRBAIRE M BERBEN T - TXE
Bl 2 SR A M ERIERB AR H HR 2
8-
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39. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP
THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-

Fr=A=1—HIFE

CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

0. BEEARFEREZZAEER
k2EMBARFEB @

Notes: Hat -
2014 2013
—E-QmE —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T ARBFT
(1)  Foshan Merchants Wharf BLBENER
Non-current assets FERBEE 7,878 1,997
Current assets MENEE 1,536,433 1,300,596
Current liabilities mE B & 549,651 447,523
Equity attributable to owners of the Company NNREAR A B R 497,330 427,535
Non-controlling interests FEPERR I 497,330 427,535
Revenue ezs 611,120 687,482
Expenses 53 385,820 510,082
Profit and total comprehensive income for AEEm A REEBALTE
the year 139,590 116,689
Profit and total comprehensive income NNRIER NIRRT &
attributable to owners of the Company ZEMA LTS 69,795 58,345
Profit and total comprehensive income FEIE AR B FE A s ) B2
attributable to non-controlling interests ZEMA LTS 69,795 58,344
Profit and total comprehensive income for RFEm A K2 ERALLEE
the year 139,590 116,689
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BRI R AR S = =
Net cash inflow from operating REEB2RERNFHE
activities 198,903 152,452
Net cash outflow from investing activities BEER 2 RN FE (128) (50,105)
Net cash outflow from financing activities BMEEKZ RS RLFE - (41,006)
Net cash inflow REMANFHE 198,775 61,341
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39. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP
THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-

CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

0. BEERFERERZZAER
2 EMBRATFHEE@®

Notes: (continued) Kt - (&)
2014 2013
—E—QmEF —T—=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥FT ARBFT
(2) Pride Oasis Limited BRERAR
Non-current assets EMENEE 13,448 26,995
Current assets MEVEE 7,718,546 6,223,478
Current liabilities mEEE 419,666 838,172
Non-current liabilities FEnBAE 7,396 1,148
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RATHEE ANEEER 3,652,466 2,705,577
Non-controlling interests FErERR M A 3,652,466 2,705,576
Revenue Wrzs 1,059,619 526,413
Expenses 3 987,627 430,114
Profit and total comprehensive income AFEERFREEBABE
for the year 61,266 127,024
Profit and total comprehensive income A BB AR &
attributable to owners of the Company 2HEBABE 30,633 63,512
Profit and total comprehensive income FETEE AR e P A ) 2
attributable to non-controlling interests ZERALEE 30,633 63,512
Profit and total comprehensive income AEERFREEBABE
for the year 61,266 127,024
Dividends paid to non-controlling [EAREZES e £ 4
interests = =
Net cash outflow from operating REFEB RS FRE
activities (2,297,861) (1,602,575)
Net cash outflow from investing REEB RS REFR
activities (2,720) (118)
Net cash inflow from financing BEXBZRSRNFE
activities 1,844,262 1,740,051
Net cash (outflow) inflow ReORH)MAFEHE (456,319) 137,358
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39. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED 39. BEEEAFEREZZAEEH

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP
THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-

k2EMBARFEB @

CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

Notes: (continued) Kt - (&)
2014 2013
—E-pmE =%
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARKETT
(3) Harpen 3) =B
Non-current assets B EE 1,696 1,041
Current assets WENEE 2,890,329 3,080,514
Current liabilities mEas 274,605 1,166,960
Non-current liabilities JEREEE 4,044 2,291l
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AQEHEE AFE(LHERS 1,306,688 955,802
Non-controlling interests SEIE AR I 1,306,688 955,802
Revenue Wz 1,267,772 928,961
Expenses Fx 1,159,089 869,240
Profit and total comprehensive income AEFBFREEKALLE
for the year 80,544 85,500
Profit and total comprehensive income ARRHE AEIERT R
attributable to owners of the Company 2 U A 4A%E 40,272 42,750
Profit and total comprehensive income JEJ2 AR AR 25 R S5 R
attributable to non-controlling interests NNt 40,272 42,750
Profit and total comprehensive income REESHF B2 ERALLEE
for the year 80,544 85,500
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B IEERE SRS = =
Net cash (outflow) inflow from LT AR e 38 S ()
operating activities TEASEEE (725,559) 365,146
Net cash outflow from investing BEER 2 RERHEE
activities (255,307) (507,918)
Net cash inflow from financing activities BEEB RS MAEEE 655,187 211,736
Net cash (outflow) inflow BEORE)RAERE (325,679) 68,964
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39. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED 39. BEEAFERESZZAEEH
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP 2 EMBRATFHEE@®
THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

Notes: (continued) Kt - (&)

(4) Merchants Guangzhou 4) BNEEEHE
During the year, Merchants Guangzhou became a wholly- FA - BNBEEHERREIRAZEZENMBA
owned subsidiary of the Company. The profit allocated Al o FA - DEETIFERBEHEAIRTRA
to the non-controlling equity holder during the year is R#109,973,0007T °

RMB109,973,000.

2013
—T=%
RMB’000
ARETT
(including
Foshan Xin
Cheng and
Foshan Yi Yun)
(RIERILBR R
BRILEKE)
Non-current assets EMENEE 2,932,355
Current assets MENEE 8,914,486
Current liabilities mENAE 7,188,028
Non-current liabilities EMENAE 1,439,358
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RARIHER AR 1,176,655
Non-controlling interests FEVERR M 2 2,042,800
Revenue Was 3,626,001
Expenses FX 1,544,989
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year AFEEHMNREEBALE 1,172,842
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to the A2 &) A A FE & | 2 2 EURA 4258
owners of the Company 426,388
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to non-  JEi% A% #E %5 FE Ak 5 Al & 2 T UM A 4858
controlling interests 746,454
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year REE G R 2 EBALE 1,172,842
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BT IR RS AR S 144,000
Net cash outflow from operating activities EEEE 2SR FE (1,646,329)
Net cash inflow from investing activities BREEBZRERANFE 598,819
Net cash inflow from financing activities BEEBEZESRNFE 860,544
Net cash outflow WEMLFE (186,966)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B 7 R R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

39. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED 39. BEEEAFEREZZAEEH
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP k2 ENBRATFEE @
THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

Notes: (continued) Hiiz - ()
(4) Merchants Guangzhou (continued) @) BENBEELEE)
The financial information of Foshan Xin Cheng, included in STARMNBEEE 2 fILSHPBEROT
Merchants Guangzhou, is as follows:
Foshan Xin Cheng EAINE - 214
2014
—E-mEF
RMB’000
AR¥T
Non-current assets ERBEE 44,069
Current assets RENVEE 2,345,560
Current liabilities wEam 1,178,961
Non-current liabilities ERBAR -
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ANTVES AFE(LEZR 605,334
Non-controlling interests EEedi g 2o 605,334
Revenue Wzs 476,690
Expenses 53 144,705
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year AEEEH R EERALEE 171,088
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to ANTIEA ARSI R 2 ER A L8
the owners of the Company 46,184
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to SRR RS PR R R R 2 IR A %8
non-controlling interests 124,904
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year NERE R B2 EKAa5E 171,088
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests Bt IEFE R MRS AR B 450,965
Net cash inflow from operating activities gk ey I8 S A\ SREE 29,084
Net cash outflow from investing activities IR B EE (8)
Net cash inflow from financing activities B ISR ARE -
Net cash inflow BHERAEEE 29,076
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B IS R R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—FT—MF+=A=1—HIFE

39. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP
THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

0. BEEEAFERERZAEH

2 EMBRATFHEE@®

Notes: (continued)

@)

Merchants Guangzhou (continued)

The financial information of Foshan Yi Yun, included in

Merchants Guangzhou, is as follows:

Bt - ()

@ BENEEEHEE)

SEABMNBREFEEZ FILEEMHEERT

Foshan Yi Yun HILERE
2014
—E—MF
RMB’000
ARMT T
Non-current assets EREBNEE 6,186
Current assets REVEE 2,155,606
Current liabilities EEAE 1,886,728
Non-current liabilities EREARE -
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ANTVEE AJE(LHERS 137,532
Non-controlling interests IR i 137,532
Revenue Wk 2,658,282
Expenses 53 2,183,036
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year REERFREERA LT 325,809
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to AATES AEERFI R 2R AL
the owners of the Company 135,307
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to e AR A RS PR I R 2 A B 5
non-controlling interests 190,502
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year REE G REEBALLEE 325,809
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests [ERE S Tty 27,788
Net cash inflow from operating activities R RS RAFE 794,025
Net cash inflow from investing activities BEEB RS RAEEE 101,259
Net cash outflow from financing activities BMEEKBERIRE (894,259)
Net cash inflow BEMAFE 1,025

—TEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B 7 R R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE=—F—MF+=F=1+—HIFE

40. INFORMATION ABOUT THE 40. EREARQARMBRRT 2ER

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

2014 2013
—E=—OF =%
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T AREFT
ASSETS BiE
Property, plant and equipment W% - R &E& 98 85
Investments in unlisted subsidiaries RIEETHBRARZERE 16 16
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU KT B A B3 IE 9,010,205 6,284,560
Prepayments, deposits and other TEfIFRIE ~ e REAM
receivables FE U sxI8 4,360 438
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 810,322 2,862,411
9,825,001 9,147,510
LIABILITIES =L
Other payables and accruals HibENRIaE N ETER 13,513 34,388
Amounts due to subsidiaries N NG B 43,842 36,601
Bank and other borrowings RITREADEE 856,660 -
Bonds payable B ES 3,018,077 3,003,383
3,932,092 3,074,372
5,892,909 6,073,138
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EAXE #E
Share capital P& 39,132 39,132
Share premium & 1D R (E 6,180,826 6,227,510
Contributed reserve B 46,004 46,004
Translation reserve M 8,076 8,076
Accumulated losses (Note) Z2tEE (M) (381,129) (247,584)
5,892,909 6,073,138

@ CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED Annual Report 2014



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IS R R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2014
BE—FT—MF+=A=1—HIFE

40. INFORMATION ABOUT THE 40. BB A R B M MR R R 2 E B
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (4&)
OF THE COMPANY (continued)
Note: The movement of accumulated losses is shown as follows: Hiat - RETEBIEZHEINWT -

Accumulated
losses

RETEsE

RMB’'000

AREFT

At 1 January 2013 R=—Z—=%—F—H (138,369)
Loss for the year EREE (109,215)
At 31 December 2013 W=ZT—=#+=A=+—8 (247,584)
Loss for the year EREE (133,545)
At 31 December 2014 R-ZE-—EF+-A=+—H (381,129)
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A FMBERBE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities LA T&E 7| AEBBER AT REE 2 ¥4 B&
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted REEHME  TXERHEEEE - ——F
from the published audited financial statements for the +—-—A=+—BUEAEAARBE_T—FKk_
nine months ended 31 December 2012 and for the year ZT——&=A=+—HIIFEUREE-_T—=
ended 31 March 2011 and 2012 and for the year ended HFR=-F—WF+-_A=+—HIEFEZET|Z
31 December 2013 and 2014, as below. For the year RKEBZYERE - BikA T =—FFRIHE
ended 31 December 2012 which extracted from the —ZE——F+-HA=+—RHIIFEEHZELE
annual report 2013 was restated as appropriate, is set out  EEHIIWEHFAT o

below.
RESULTS e Nine months
ended
31 December
HET-A
Year ended 31 December =t+-AH Year ended 31 March
BEZT-A=t-ALEE LLAEE  BEZA=t-HLEE
2014 2013 2012 2012 2012 2011
“E-m§ -T-f -F--f& -F--f —F-F —FT-—%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AR%Tr ARETR
(restated)
(&7
REVENUE WA 7,440,436 6,927,871 4,362,053 74,388 147,864 67,449
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX  BBiAI%F/(&5#E) 1,624,110 2,676,555 2,254,239 (9,595) (51,956) 338,529
Income tax FiEH (789,741)  (1,261,736) (1,214,434) - - -
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AEE#F/ (FE) 834,369 1,414,819 1,039,805 (9,595) (51,956) 338,529
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE As at 31 December As at 31 March
R+=B=1-H R=A=+-H
2014 2013 2012 2012 2012 2011
“§-mE -T-=f —F-f B T 3 -F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT ARETR ARBTR ARETT AREFR
(restated)
(251)
TOTAL ASSETS BEAE 33,599,922 28,160,951 23,297,738 42,588 206,437 321,147
TOTAL LIABILITIES aE4E (22,675,205) (16,704,640) (19,921,886) (42,391) (202,909) (271,356)
Net assets EEFE 10,924,717 11,456,311 3,375,852 197 3,528 49,791
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